THE NEXT 160 YEARS

LENDING WEALTH MANAGEMENT

Nasdag

BINKING



2024 ANNUAL HIGHLIGHTS REPORT





2024 ANNUAL HIG

 $\textbf{President} \& \textbf{CEO} \dots 4-7$

 $\textbf{Dollars} \& \textbf{Sense} \dots \dots 10\text{-}15$





HLIGHTS REPORT

Awards&Recognition16-17	New&Exciting
Community&Commitment18-19	Out About

THE NEXT 160 YEARS

A LEGACY OF SERVICE

In 2024, C&N celebrated a remarkable milestone: 160 years of unwavering commitment to our communities. What began as a small-town bank in 1864 has evolved into a thriving financial institution, serving countless individuals and businesses.

As we reflect on this rich history, we're filled with gratitude for the generations of customers, employees, and community members who have contributed to our success. We're also excited about the future, and the opportunities to continue our legacy of service.

To mark this special occasion, we hosted a variety of celebrations across our footprint. From office decorations and trivia contests to a live stream of our Nasdaq bell ringing ceremony, the enthusiasm was palpable.

The Nasdaq celebration was a highlight, with members of our board and executive leadership team representing C&N on the world stage. Brad Scovill's inspiring speech and the ringing of the Nasdaq bell symbolized our commitment to innovation, growth, and community impact.

As we look ahead, we remain steadfast in our mission to provide exceptional financial services. We are committed to leveraging technology to elevate the customer experience, while staying true to our core values of teamwork, respect, responsibility & accountability, excellence, integrity, client-focus and having fun.

We invite you to join us as we shape the future together, continuing to build on our legacy for the next 160 years and beyond.









BANKING LENDING WEALTH MANAGEM



Nasda

OPENING BELL SPEECH BY BRAD SCOVILL, PRESIDENT & CEO 3.22.2024

"As we prepared for today's celebration, I reflected on what 160 years of banking has meant to the customers and communities that C&N has served. The relationships we've built with generations of families; the businesses that were launched by founders who approached us with an idea and a dream; and the countless employees who kept C&N flourishing through good times and bad. I'm humbled by the depth of our history, and optimistic for the future the current team is working to create.

Standing on the shoulders of those who came before us while reaching for new heights is a delicate balance. But, with a talented team that is passionate about helping their neighbors succeed, innovation comes a bit easier. Our inherent enthusiasm to serve combined with the ability to adapt remain the constant ingredients of C&N's 160-year record of success.

Our "ampersand" branding represents the relationships we work tirelessly to build. Just as ampersands connect things and ideas, C&N connects people with their ambitions. The couple starting a shared life together with their new home; the entrepreneur with capital to open a shop or expand their business; the middle-aged worker with a comfortable retirement. Like an ampersand, our bankers are in the middle, making these connections possible. They go to work every day knowing that what they do makes a difference.

As we open the market, it occurs to me that this bell is a lot like C&N: it echoes a rich history, and rings constant through times of challenge and change. I am honored to stand with this group of leaders, representing our hundreds of teammates back home, along with the hundreds more who shaped C&N over the last century and a half. We look forward to extending our legacy and remain dedicated to creating value for our customers, communities, and shareholders."



Watch the full ceremony on C&N's YouTube Channel youtube.com/@CNBankPA

PRESIDENT&CEO

Celebrating our 160th birthday throughout 2024 allowed C&N to recognize the dedication of countless community-focused teammates who helped shape our legacy during times of prosperity and challenge. Our history as a community bank grounded in building relationships, cultivating financial strength, and fostering strategic risk management has made C&N resilient across many decades and has positioned us to create value for our customers, communities, teammates, and shareholders in 2025 and beyond.

Overall, the operating environment in 2024 was more stable than in the recent years that included the COVID-19 pandemic, rising interest rates, and bank failures. Fear of recession became more subdued as the year progressed and as economic growth remained solid. Meanwhile, unemployment levels saw only modest increases, while lingering inflation slowed and expectations for future inflation moderated. This prompted the Federal Reserve to change its policy stance and reduce the target federal funds rate by a total of 1.00% during the second half of the year. Concerns about the banking industry decreased as liquidity and capital positions strengthened. Credit quality also remained strong as uneasiness about commercial real estate and office lending were not substantiated by material losses.

The presidential election was also a major topic in 2024, the results of which brought about a change in administration and shifted control of the US Congress to the Republican party. While policy and approach will be much different under the current administration, we are hopeful that the impact will be positive on economic growth and remain especially interested in potential changes to banking policy and promises of deregulation. Easing the current regulatory burden will be welcome, although we expect it will take time to experience the benefits. At a minimum, there will be a more balanced discussion with federal policymakers and regulators that should prove beneficial.

> OUR HISTORY...HAS POSITIONED US TO CREATE VALUE FOR OUR CUSTOMERS, COMMUNITIES, TEAMMATES, AND SHAREHOLDERS IN 2025 AND BEYOND.

C&N delivered a solid year against this backdrop, with earnings of \$26.0 million or \$1.69 per share compared to \$24.1 million or \$1.57 per share in 2023. 2023 results include a net charge to earnings of \$.08 per share, a result of repositioning a portion of the securities portfolio and investments in bank-owned life insurance. Net income increased throughout the year, beginning at \$5.31 million or \$.35 per share in the first quarter and improving to \$8.17 million or \$.53 in the fourth quarter.

This trend reflects steady increases in net interest income driven by steady deposit and loan growth and a more cost-effective funding mix. Generating core deposits was a priority during 2024 and we successfully stabilized the cost of funds, while further strengthening our liquidity position. Increasing wealth management, mortgage banking and other non-interest income was another key as our teams focused on expanding relationships through these important business lines. Finally, overhead expenses remained unchanged in 2024 compared to 2023, resulting from disciplined expense management and investment in new systems. This restraint allowed us to slow the growth in overhead, improve productivity of recent technological investments and make accommodation for new digital processes with the rapid emergence of artificial intelligence (AI).

Total cash dividends paid to C&N shareholders during the year remained at \$1.12 per share. Based on the closing stock price of \$18.60 as of December 31, 2024, this represents an annualized yield of approximately 6.02%. This reflects our commitment to creating value for our shareholders and demonstrates our confidence in C&N's ability to pursue growth and expansion while maintaining a strong capital position and balanced risk profile.

BRANCHES&ROOTS

Our Branch Delivery teams are the connection point between our digital tools and the personalized service that distinguishes C&N. Developing our people is vital on an individual and corporate level and this year we concentrated teammate training on relevant topics including fraud awareness, our expanding digital banking services and programs that set C&N apart, like our Giving Back, Giving Together and Financial Wellness initiatives.

We're also integrating our newly refined Experience Promises into all that we do at C&N, coaching our teams on the value created by meeting these standards. What



does it mean to deliver an experience that's Easy, Welcoming, Trustworthy, Tailored and Responsive? We challenge our teams to consider these pillars of the C&N experience every day and will continue to incorporate these promises into daily work. Look for them the next time you get a customer survey from C&N!

Technology&Data

C&N eased its investments in technology during 2024, instead emphasizing opportunities to maximize the value of existing tools and platforms. We did, however, sustain our commitment to advancing important technologies, most notably with the launch of our new digital deposit account opening platform in the first quarter. This tool enhances C&N's digital capabilities by allowing business and consumer clients to easily open checking, savings and CD accounts online, complementing the services we offer inbranch. We will continue to expand offerings on this powerful platform in 2025, providing a more comprehensive business banking experience and utilizing it for product promotions.

In addition, C&N continued to enrich its Business Services offerings, focusing on digital solutions tailored specifically for our business clients. Products like Clover®, an all-in-one business platform, and ZEscrow, designed for escrow account management, are two new solutions introduced for our business customers. In 2025, we'll work with our Operations, Treasury Management and Small Business Teams to further refine the business onboarding experience, identifying opportunities to deliver a more cohesive and tailored process.

C&N...CONTINUES TO EXPLORE THE USE OF ARTIFICIAL INTELLIGENCE TO OPTIMIZE INTERNAL PROCESSES.

C&N also continues to explore the use of artificial intelligence to optimize internal processes, with a long-term objective of improving the customer experience. Over the past two years, AI applications were tested to improve efficiency, enable quick access to information, and simplify time-intensive and manual tasks. These tools were implemented thoughtfully to align with C&N's risk profile, commitment to personalized service, and strong security policies. These standards will continue to guide our efforts as we leverage AI to create value in the years ahead.

TEAMS&CULTURE

C&N bolstered its workforce in 2024, adding key talent to build out its Wealth Management and Commercial Banking teams. In April, C&N welcomed a new wealth advisor to its Bradford County team, part of a continued initiative to strengthen its Wealth Management offerings in the region. The regional team, comprised of a strong group of advisors, financial planners, and associates, is now complete under the leadership of Scott Clark who was pro-



moted to SVP / Regional Wealth Management Executive in July. In September, Brian Tevlin CFP® was promoted to Director of Investment Services, leading C&N's relationship with LPL Financial. This partnership is a key resource in the delivery of comprehensive wealth management and brokerage services for customers.

Our Lancaster and York markets also saw growth in 2024 with the addition of three new commercial lenders, strengthening C&N's existing business banking team and building upon its presence in the region. Strides were also made to build out the Customer Experience program, as our Customer Experience Coordinator earned the Certified Customer Experience Professional (CCXP) designation. This official certification confirms C&N's expertise and commitment to delivering on our Experience Promises and improving the C&N customer journey.

C&N's dedication to its communities remained unwavering through its Giving Back, Giving Together program. We started 2024 with our Supporting Seniors Cause, raising over \$98,000 for local seniors in our communities. In June, we transitioned to our current Standing Strong Against Cancer initiative, which has already raised over \$57,000 through events like trivia nights, the Charity Golf Classic, and a host of other community events.

We are pleased and proud to recognize the achievements of so many of our people through service awards, retirement celebrations and certifications. Please check the "Awards&Recognition" section for a full review of our team's many accomplishments over the past year.

While we anticipate that 2025 will be another unprecedented year for the banking industry and for C&N, we are well-positioned for continued growth and profitability. With our strong capital and liquidity positions, enhanced technology, and engaged professional team we remain committed to creating long-term value for our shareholders, customers, and communities as we build on our amazing 160-year legacy.

Thank you for your continued support!



Bullimel

J. BRADLEY SCOVILL President & CEO



LEAD&GUIDE

CORPORATE OFFICERS





Treasurer



Elizabeth Pivirotto

Executive Assistant to the CEO



J. BRADLEY SCOVILL

> President & CEO



Glenn James

EVP & General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

EXECUTIVE TEAM



Alex Balagour

EVP & Chief Information Officer



MATTHEW Bower

EVP & Chief Wealth Management Officer



Kelley Cwiklinski

EVP & Chief Commercial Lending Officer



Stan R. Dunsmore

EVP & Chief Credit Officer



HAL F. Hoose, III

EVP & Chief Revenue Officer



Mark A. Hughes

EVP & Chief Financial Officer



Glenn James

EVP & General Counsel & Corporate Secretary



John M. Reber

EVP & Chief Risk Management Officer



Thomas L. Rudy, Jr.

EVP & Chief Delivery Officer



Blair T. Rush

EVP & Regional President



J. BRADLEY Scovill

President & CEO



Tracy E. Watkins

EVP & Chief Human Resource Officer

BOARD OF DIRECTORS



Terry L. Lehman, cpa

Chairman, Retired Certified Public Accountant



Stephen M. Dorwart, CPA

Fischer Dorwart, P.C.



Susan E. Hartley

Attorney at Law



Bobbi J. Kilmer

Retired President & CEO, Claverack Rural Electric



Leo F. Lambert

Former President/ GM Fitzpatrick & Lambert, Inc.



Robert G. Loughery

President, Nehemiah Development Company



Frank G. Pellegrino

Owner & Developer, Carlton Associates, LLC



Helen S. Santiago, _{CPa}

LaBarr and LaBarr



J. BRADLEY SCOVILL

President & CEO, C&N



Katherine W. Shattuck

Consultant, Managing Partner, Korn Ferry



Aaron K. Singer

President & CEO, Metalkraft Industries, Inc.

ADVISORY BOARD

North Region

Andrea F. Streich Andrew R. Wilcox Brandon E. Hackett Brian A. Bicksler Byron Farnsworth Jr. Casandra K. Blaney Danielle M. Lee Derek Wheeland Dr. Stephen D. Laudermilch Eric Schoonover Evan R. Barnes J. Wesley Kocsis James Capriotti

Jeffrey B. Paul John A. Abplanalp John S. Johnston Joseph R. Kightlinger Kimberly J. Mastrantonio Laura C. Cimino Lindsay Harding Mark R. Howe Mary C. Owlett Matthew S. DeCamp Scott E. Lewis Taunya Knolles Rosenbloom William B. Saxe

Northcentral Region

Allison Savoy Staiman Andrew Joseph Girio Benjamin D. Meckbach David A. Schall Jeffrey M. Patterson Nichole Crawford Robert T. Beiter Stanley Cary Jr. Tyler L. Rhone

Southcentral Region

Alex E. Snyder Nicholas E. Hauck Ryan A. Myers Thomas K. Baughman Greg Saubel

Southeast Region

David E. Thompson Gary B. Rubin Irving N. Stein James L. Watts Louis Quattrocchi Michael J. Rush Tim Lowery Kylie Miller Christopher Sturges Joanne Tangney

DOLLARS&SENSE

2024 QUARTERLY Share price data



2024	HIGH	LOW	DIVIDEND Declared Per Quarter
First quarter	\$22.93	\$17.20	\$0.28
Second quarter	19.00	16.50	0.28
Third quarter	22.20	16.73	0.28
Fourth quarter	21.00	18.12	0.28

2023	HIGH	LOW	DIVIDEND Declared Per Quarter
First quarter	\$23.90	\$20.06	\$0.28
Second quarter	21.72	16.71	0.28
Third quarter	21.71	16.93	0.28
Fourth quarter	23.50	16.92	0.28

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY Operations Comparison





INCOME STATEMENT (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Interest and dividend income	\$128,078	\$113,504	\$92,647	\$84,501	\$77,160
Interest expense	48,963	33,104	9,519	6,562	9,595
Net interest income	79,115	80,400	83,128	77,939	67,565
Provision for credit losses	2,195	186	7,255	3,661	3,913
Net interest income after provision for credit losses	76,920	80,214	75,873	74,278	63,652
Noninterest income excluding securities (losses) gains	29,209	27,453	24,412	25,857	24,344
Net realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities	0	(3,036)	20	24	169
Loss on prepayment of borrowings	0	0	0	0	1,636
Merger-related expenses	0	0	0	0	7,708
Noninterest expense excluding loss on prepayment of borrowings and merger-related expenses	74,258	74,148	67,955	62,472	55,609
Income before income tax provision	31,871	30,483	32,350	37,687	23,212
Income tax provision	5,913	6,335	5,732	7,133	3,990
Net income	\$25,958	\$24,148	\$26,618	\$30,554	\$19,222
Net income attributable to common shares	\$25,747	\$23,962	\$26,381	\$30,313	\$19,106

PER COMMON SHARE DATA	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Basic earnings per share	\$1.69	\$1.57	\$1.71	\$1.92	\$1.30
Diluted earnings per share	\$1.69	\$1.57	\$1.71	\$1.92	\$1.30
Cash dividends declared per share	\$1.12	\$1.12	\$1.12	\$1.11	\$1.08
Book value per common share at period-end	\$17.84	\$17.15	\$16.07	\$19.13	\$18.84
Tangible book value per common share at period-end	\$14.30	\$13.56	\$12.50	\$15.58	\$15.30
Weighted average common shares outstanding - basic	15,262,504	15,241,859	15,455,432	15,765,639	14,743,386
Weighted average common shares outstanding - diluted	15,262,504	15,241,859	15,458,531	15,771,955	14,747,048

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY End of Period Balances





END OF PERIOD BALANCES (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Available-for-sale debt securities	\$402,380	\$415,755	\$498,033	\$517,679	\$349,332
Gross loans	1,895,848	1,848,139	1,740,040	1,564,849	1,644,209
Allowance for credit losses on loans	20,035	19,208	16,615	13,537	11,385
Total assets	2,610,653	2,515,584	2,454,307	2,327,648	2,239,100
Deposits	2,093,909	2,014,806	1,997,593	1,925,060	1,820,469
Borrowings, senior notes and subordinated debt	207,669	211,759	181,781	77,555	91,183
Stockholders' equity	275,284	262,381	249,325	301,405	299,756
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income	(36,761)	(38,437)	(49,878)	5,026	11,795
Common shares outstanding	15,433,494	15,295,135	15,518,819	15,759,090	15,911,984

AVERAGE BALANCES (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Total assets	2,583,106	2,462,856	2,372,788	2,319,234	2,009,825
Earning assets	2,423,483	2,341,617	2,240,199	2,145,475	1,856,487
Gross loans	1,881,122	1,792,149	1,628,094	1,596,756	1,445,098
Deposits	2,057,570	1,971,926	1,980,412	1,905,400	1,586,409
Stockholders' equity	265,884	248,494	265,093	301,226	273,351

FIVE-YEAR SUMMARY End of Period Balances





KEY RATIOS	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Return on average assets	1.00%	0.98%	1.12%	1.32%	0.96%
Return on average equity	9.76%	9.72%	10.04%	10.14%	7.03%
Average equity to average assets	10.29%	10.09%	11.17%	12.99%	13.60%
Net interest margin (1)	3.30%	3.47%	3.77%	3.69%	3.69%
Efficiency (2)	68.04%	69.51%	62.48%	59.54%	59.87%
Cash dividends as a % of diluted earnings per share	66.27%	71.34%	65.50%	57.81%	83.08%
Tier 1 leverage	9.80%	9.87%	10.11%	10.53%	10.34%
Tier 1 risk-based capital	13.56%	13.27%	13.43%	15.22%	15.58%
Total risk-based capital	15.95%	15.67%	15.72%	18.21%	17.49%
Tangible common equity/tangible assets	8.63%	8.43%	8.08%	10.81%	11.15%
Nonperforming assets/total assets	0.92%	0.75%	1.04%	0.94%	1.10%
Nonperforming loans/total loans	1.26%	0.99%	1.46%	1.36%	1.42%
Allowance for credit losses/total loans	1.06%	1.04%	0.95%	0.87%	0.69%
Net charge-offs/average loans	0.09%	0.01%	0.26%	0.09%	0.16%

(1) Rates of return on tax-exempt securities and loans are calculated on a fully taxable equivalent basis.

(2) The efficiency ratio is calculated by dividing: (a) total noninterest expense excluding merger-related expenses and losses from prepayment of debt, by (b) the sum of net interest income (including income from tax-exempt securities and loans on a fully-taxable equivalent basis) and noninterest income excluding securities gains or losses and enhancement fee of \$2.1 million included in noninterest income related to purchase of Bank-Owned Life Insurance in 2023.

QUARTERLY CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA The following table presents summarized financial

data for 2023 & 2024

2024 (In Thousands Except Per Share Data) (Unaudited)	1 st quarter March 31	2 nd quarter June 30	3 rd quarter Sept. 30	4 th quarter Dec. 31
Interest income	\$30,336	\$31,326	\$33,087	\$33,329
Interest expense	11,295	11,881	12,931	12,856
Net interest income	19,041	19,445	20,156	20,473
(Credit) provision for credit losses	954	565	1,207	(531)
Net interest income after (credit) provision for credit losses	18,087	18,880	18,949	21,004
Other income	6,675	7,854	7,133	7,547
Net realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities	0	0	0	0
Other expenses	18,304	19,255	18,269	18,430
Income before income tax provision	6,458	7,479	7,813	10,121
Income tax provision	1,152	1,366	1,448	1,947
Net income	\$5,306	\$6,113	\$6,365	\$8,174
Net income attributable to common shares	\$5,267	\$6,066	\$6,311	\$8,103
Net income per share – basic	\$0.35	\$0.40	\$0.41	\$0.53
Net income per share – diluted	\$0.35	\$0.40	\$0.41	\$0.53

2023 (In Thousands Except Per Share Data) (Unaudited)	1 st quarter March 31	2 nd quarter June 30	3 rd quarter Sept. 30	4 th quarter Dec. 31
Interest income	\$26,139	\$28,011	\$29,118	\$30,236
Interest expense	5,358	7,649	9,455	10,642
Net interest income	20,781	20,362	19,663	19,594
Provision for credit losses	(352)	812	(1,225)	951
Net interest income after provision for credit losses	21,133	19,550	20,888	18,643
Other income	5,609	6,635	6,489	8,720
Net realized gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities	7	(1)	0	(3,042)
Other expenses	19,087	18,722	17,940	18,399
Income before income tax provision	7,662	7,462	9,437	5,922
Income tax provision	1,409	1,419	1,846	1,661
Net income	\$6,253	\$6,043	\$7,591	\$4,261
Net income attributable to common shares	\$6,201	\$5,996	\$7,534	\$4,231
Net income per share – basic	\$0.40	\$0.39	\$0.50	\$0.28
Net income per share – diluted	\$0.40	\$0.39	\$0.50	\$0.28

WEALTH MANAGEMENT DATA The following table presents summarized financial







WEALTH MANAGEMENT (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Assets	\$1,347,853	\$1,188,082	\$1,063,615	\$1,232,919	\$1,103,228
Revenue	\$7,928	\$7,413	\$6,994	\$7,234	\$6,321
INVESTMENTS (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Mutual Funds	\$829,671	\$732,876	\$680,475	\$797,336	\$697,010
Stocks	273,376	230,120	207,227	250,765	223,543
Bonds	134,115	111,457	90,447	95,427	104,833
Savings and money market funds	100,674	98,919	69,352	75,140	63,069
Real Estate	4,705	8,796	9,294	6,012	6,797
Miscellaneous	5,297	5,899	6,736	8,145	7,873
Mortgages	15	15	84	94	103
Total	\$1,347,853	\$1,188,082	\$1,063,615	\$1,232,919	\$1,103,228

ACCOUNTS (In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020
Pension/profit sharing	\$548,066	\$452,395	\$424,157	\$498,714	\$439,739
Investment management	488,644	418,393	345,753	391,777	344,688
Trusts	193,275	201,450	192,426	227,821	209,273
Custody	111,229	103,906	94,769	104,562	99,273
Guardianships	4,502	4,028	3,421	3,852	3,328
Estates	2,137	7,910	3,089	6,193	6,927
Total	\$1,347,853	\$1,188,082	\$1,063,615	\$1,232,919	\$1,103,228

Some products are not FDIC insured or guaranteed, not a deposit or other obligation of the bank, not guaranteed by the bank and are subject to investment risk, including possible loss of the principal amount invested and are not insured by any other federal government agency.

AWARDS & Recognition

The Teri L. Mitchell Scholarship



The Teresa (Teri) L. Mitchell Scholarship honors Teri's 37 years of devoted service at C&N, encapsulating her commitment to professional growth. Established in her memory, the scholarship supports C&N teammates displaying dedication to ongoing professional development and a strong work ethic.

Congratulations to the 2024 Scholarship winners, embodying the values cherished by Teri. This legacy scholarship provides recipients with the opportunity to attend the PA Bankers Association's Women in Banking Conference, echoing Teri's appreciation for educational opportunities.

, Jessica Walton , Alyssa Morey , Tania Gardner , Shari Johnson

ACHIEVEMENTS

C&N proudly celebrates these individuals for reaching significant milestones in their banking careers. Their dedication strengthens our organization, and we are honored to support their pursuit of excellence and professional growth.



Mike Wetzel

Earned the ABA Wharton Executive Leadership Certificate.



MELISSA WILT Completed the PA Bankers Association Advanced School of Banking program.



RACHAEL CLARK

Graduated from the 2023-2024 PA Bankers Leadership Institute.





Travis Marzo Kori Casselberry

Completed the one-year PA Bankers Association School of Banking program.

RUSSELL DUNCHOCK JANETTE FREY SARA JENNINGS Earned their Trusted Advisor certifications from The Institute for Extraordinary Bankers.



KATIE ACKLEY Earned the Certified Customer Experience Professional (CCXP) certification.

YEARS OF SERVICE MILESTONES

45 C&N team members were recognized for their combined 490 years of service. C&N is appreciative of their dedication to the organization.

Joan L. Grenell45 James D.Butters25 Bruce A. Smithgall20 Brandy J. Allen.....20 Sara L. Heatley.....20 John M. Reber.....20 Marcy J. Hughes.....20 Patricia A. Groover15 Leasa L. Causer15 Janette M. Frey.....15 Joanne Weaver15 Philip C. Walker10 Ellen M. Conboy10 Joshua A. Sivers.....10 Kelly J. Latimer.....10 Teresa J. Benetz.....10 Thomas E. Maclin.....10 Justine T. Coll10 Charity L. Frantz10 Elizabeth Y. Loman10 Thomas M. Cooper.....10 Jeffrey A. Snyder5 Aaron S. Waldon5 Michael P. Kilgour5 Kayla M. Barzona5 Elizabeth A. Abrams5 Lindsey M. Pickering5 Amanda M. Seeley5 Cassandra L. Huck.....5 Renee K. Eberly5 Melissa S. Wilt.....5 Alyssa P. Higham.....5 Katrina I. Diasparra.....5 Stephanie G. Schonwalder......5 Kelsey L. House5 Joshua P. Stambaugh.....5 Christina L. Riccio.....5 Nicole H. Watkins5 Jensen M. Neilson......5 Quincy A. Fry.....5 Kristen L. Summerson.....5 Miranda Maynard.....5 Kaitlynn J. Meyers5









RETIREES IN 2024

JENELLE SELLECK Towanda 28 years of service

NANCY HARDES Port Allegany 25 years of service

BILLIE JO HAAS Williamsport 18 years of service

JOHN DOWNES Doylestown 9 years of service

COURTNEY COLE

Coudersport 9 years of service

Jennifer Simonds

Athens 6 years of service

17

COMMUNITY & COMMITMENT



C&N RAISES OVER \$98,000 FOR SENIORS IN 2023, Stands Strong Against Cancer in 2024

C&N's employee-driven fundraising program, Giving Back, Giving Together, continues to make a significant impact on our local communities.

From June 2023 to May 2024, we focused on supporting our valued senior citizens. Partnering with 22 local organizations dedicated to improving their lives, C&N teammates surpassed all goals through fundraising, donations, and volunteer work.

In June 2024, we launched our next initiative: Standing Strong Against Cancer. Our goal is to create a world where everyone affected by this disease feels supported, empowered, and hopeful.

Here's how you can help:

Donate: Visit our donation page at givebutter.com/Standing-Strong-Against-Cancer

Spread Awareness: Like, share, and comment on C&N's #GivingBackGivingTogether Facebook posts - for each interaction, we'll donate \$1! 2024 Partnering Organizations:

- Ann B. Barshinger Cancer Institute (Lancaster, PA)
- Cancer Services Program (Hornell, NY)
- Callie Cares (Williamsport, PA)
- Humble Bumble Project (Wellsboro, PA)
- Kids Can't Fight Cancer Alone (PA counties)
- Kin Wellness & Support Center (Furlong, PA)
- Main Street (Doylestown, PA)
- Pinktober & Christmas Benefit (Emporium, PA)
- Paternostro Cancer Foundation (Williamsport, PA)





GIVING BACK, GIVING TOGETHER by the numbers since 2015



Learn more at cnbankpa.com/GBGT



\$743,731.83 Monetary Donations



1,649 Volunteer Hours



42,209 Item Donations

SUPPORTING OUR NEIGHBORS Through Financial Wellness

Every year, C&N partners with local schools and organizations to provide financial education programs specifically designed for key age groups.



Teach Children to Save

Designed to teach sound financial habits to children in grades K-8, members of C&N visit schools or welcome students at branch locations and present tactics to establish good money habits.

Get Smart About Credit

Aimed at educating teens and young adults on personal finance and careers in banking, this program is observed every October and gives C&N experts another chance to help individuals build a positive financial future.

Safe Banking for Seniors

This program is designed to empower the aging community with information and resources that will help them protect their financial assets and combat fraud and scams. C&N members visit senior citizens organizations throughout our communities to provide these valuable presentations. Students Reached in 2024 782

Students Reached in 2024

90

Senior Citizens Reached in 2024

40



Remembering Dave Murdock

During the flooding that devastated the Northern Tier community in August, C&N lost a dear friend in Dave Murdock. Born on October 16, 1958, his partnership at Keystone Leather in Williamsport allowed many of us at C&N to connect with Dave as both a colleague and a friend. The relationships we formed lasted well beyond his retirement in 2018. In life and as a valued C&N Advisory Board member, Dave embodied everything that C&N values. He was kind. He was genuine. He loved his family dearly and generously gave his time serving his community. He had a zest for life, and we'll always remember the trick shots he performed as a regular attendee of our Charity Classic golf tournament.

As a tribute to Dave's enduring legacy of kindness and community service, C&N donated the \$3,285 raised through 50/50 tickets at the C&N Charity Classic to the Dave Murdock Cummunity Fund, supporting the emergency services organizations who worked tirelessly in the aftermath of the flood.

NEW&EXCITING

DIGITAL ACCOUNT OPENING

In March, C&N unveiled a significant upgrade to our digital account opening platform. This innovative solution reflects our commitment to growing deposit accounts while offering a convenient and efficient way for customers to open new accounts.

New Digital Account Opening Platform Features Include:

- A business-friendly digital experience, streamlining the account opening process for organizations.
- Expanded account options, including CDs and Super Money Funds.
- An updated interface that creates a seamless experience across our website.

If you're interested in trying it out, visit cnbankpa.com or follow the QR code to open your next account.





Open your next account at easyopen.cnbankpa.com

MONEYARMOR

In 2024, C&N introduced MoneyArmor, a complete defense system designed to keep customers safe in the digital age.

This comprehensive suite of resources is tailored for every lifestage and financial need, equipping customers with knowledge and tools to fight cybercrime and protect against fraud.

Protecting Your Financial Journey

- **Age-Specific Education:** Fun activities for children, financial literacy for teens, and practical tips for adults and seniors.
- **Dedicated Business Solutions:** Expert insights, advanced security tools, and personalized support to safeguard your company.

Visit our website or stop by your nearest C&N office to learn more about how MoneyArmor can help safeguard your financial future.





Learn more at cnbankpa.com/moneyarmor

DIGITAL BANKING ENHANCEMENTS

Card Controls

Manage your debit cards directly within C&N Digital Banking. With just a tap, you can restrict card usage, set up alerts, report lost or stolen cards and more—all at your fingertips.

Plaid Integration

Seamlessly transfer money between your C&N accounts and external financial institutions through C&N Digital Banking. Enjoy greater control and easier access to manage your finances.

Business User Control

Business supervisors can now streamline operations by adding users to their accounts, enhancing efficiency and simplifying digital banking administration for businesses.

Account & Routing Number Visibility

Quickly and securely access your account and routing numbers directly within C&N Digital Banking, whenever you need them.

Rent & Escrow Management from ZSuite

ZEscrow provides a modern escrow and subaccounting solution to support a range of industries through your C&N digital banking, while ZRent simplifies rent collection through an easy-to-use online portal.



WEALTH MANAGEMENT NEWS

C&N Vantage Point Podcast

C&N Vantage Point is a monthly podcast that provides an in-depth look at C&N's Wealth Management investment and financial planning strategies. Discussions include our current portfolio positioning, outlook for the month and thoughts on the markets. Visit our website or like and subscribe on Apple[™], Spotify[™] or wherever you get your podcasts.

C&N Retire: A New Mobile App for Participants

We released the C&N Retire app, available for iOS and Android. This app allows participants to enable push notifications for important updates, view balances and rate of return, update deferral rates, and more! And, with biometric authentication, your login is secure. If you'd like to download, search for "C&N Retire" in the App Store or Google Play store.





OUT&ABOUT

C&N CHARITY CLASSIC GOLF TOURNAMENT

The 9th annual C&N Charity Golf Classic at Tyoga was a tremendous success, raising over \$30,000 for our GBGT cause in support of Standing Strong Against Cancer. This memorable event brought our community together to make a meaningful impact, and we'd like to thank everyone who participated and contributed to its success.







HATS&HORSES KENTUCKY DERBY EVENT

In May, we held our 2nd annual Hats&Horses Kentucky Derby event at Bald Birds Brewing Co. in Jersey Shore, raising over \$21,000 for STEP, Inc. through our GBGT program. From stylish attire to the excitement of the main race, it was an unforgettable day. We're grateful to everyone who made it special and can't wait for future celebrations!







KNOEBELS EMPLOYEE APPRECIATION EVENT

With perfect weather, great food, and countless smiles, C&N Teammate Appreciation Day at Knoebels Amusement Resort was an unforgettable experience. This special event gave us the chance to celebrate our amazing teammates and enjoy a fun-filled day with their families. It was a wonderful reminder of the strong bonds that make the C&N team so special.





HEALTH&WELLNESS EVENTS

Walk the Canyon

In September, teammates from across the C&N footprint came together at the breathtaking PA Grand Canyon for a day of hiking and incredible views. Despite rainy conditions, everyone enjoyed raffle prizes, scavenger hunts, and plenty of camaraderie. Teams raised over \$1,500 for GBGT, making the event not only enjoyable but impactful.

Run, Walk, Roll for Brain Injury

On April 27th, our community came together at Tyler State Park in Newtown for the Brain Injury Association of Pennsylvania's annual "Run, Walk, Roll for Brain Injury" event. This organization is dedicated to preventing brain injuries and improving the lives of those affected and their families.

Len Simpson Memorial Run

In July, members of C&N's staff and board gathered for the annual Len Simpson Memorial Run, a 5K race honoring the late Leonard "Len" Simpson, a dedicated former C&N Board Member and passionate runner. The event brought the community together to celebrate his legacy, with proceeds supporting the Laporte Enhancement Committee and the Laporte Volunteer Fire Company. It was a meaningful tribute and a wonderful way to give back to the local community.









TO THE NEXT 160 YEARS!

ANNING DING FALTH MANAGEMENT







BANKING LENDING WEALTH MANAGEMENT



BANKING LENDING WEALTH MANAGEMENT

[]

N

cnbankpa.com | 877.838.2517



UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2024

OR

□ TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from ______ to ____

Commission file number: 0-16084

CITIZENS & NORTHERN CORPORATION

(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter)

<u>PENNSYLVANIA</u> (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation or organization) 23-2451943 (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.)

90-92 MAIN STREET, WELLSBORO, PA 16901 (Address of principal executive offices) (Zip code)

570-724-3411

(Registrant's telephone number including area code)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:

Title of Each Class	Trading Symbol	Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered
Common Stock Par Value \$1.00	CZNC	NASDAQ Capital Market

Securities registered pursuant to section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act. Yes 🗆 No 🗵

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \boxtimes No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Interactive Data File required to be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (Section 232.405 of this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes \boxtimes No \square

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, a smaller reporting company or an emerging growth company. See definitions of "large accelerated filer," "smaller reporting company" and "emerging growth company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. Large accelerated filer \square Accelerated filer \square Smaller reporting company \square Emerging growth company \square

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act.

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management's assessment of the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting under Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act (15 U.S.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report.

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the correction of an error to previously issued financial statements.

Indicate by check mark whether any of those error corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-based compensation received by any of the registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to § 240.10D-1(b).

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act). Yes 🗆 No 🗵

The aggregate market value of the registrant's common stock held by non-affiliates at June 30, 2024, the registrant's most recently completed second fiscal quarter, was \$263,572,799.

The number of shares of common stock outstanding at February 24, 2025 was 15,466,068.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the registrant's proxy statement for the annual meeting of its shareholders to be held April 24, 2025 are incorporated by reference into Parts III and IV of this report.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

<u>_</u>	Page(s)
Part I:	
Item 1. Business	
Item 1A. Risk Factors	5-9
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments	
Item 1C. Cybersecurity	10-11
Item 2. Properties	11
Item 3. Legal Proceedings	11
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure	11
Part II.	
$= 1 \dots 3 \dots$	12-14
Item 6. Reserved	14 14-37
Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations	
Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk	
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data	
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure	
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures	
Item 9B. Other Information	
Part III:	
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance	95
Item 11. Executive Compensation	
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters	
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence	95
Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services	95
Part IV:	
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules 9	96-100
Signatures	101

PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Citizens & Northern Corporation ("Corporation") is a holding company whose principal activity is community banking. The Corporation's principal office is located in Wellsboro, Pennsylvania. The largest subsidiary is Citizens & Northern Bank ("C&N Bank" or the "Bank"). The Corporation's other wholly-owned subsidiaries are Citizens & Northern Investment Corporation and Bucktail Life Insurance Company ("Bucktail"). Citizens & Northern Investment Corporation was formed in 1999 to engage in investment activities. Bucktail reinsures credit and mortgage life and accident and health insurance on behalf of C&N Bank.

Since 2019, the Corporation has expanded into Southeastern Pennsylvania by acquisitions and Southcentral Pennsylvania by opening new branches. The Corporation acquired Covenant Financial, Inc. ("Covenant"), effective July 1, 2020. Covenant was the parent company of Covenant Bank, a commercial bank which operated a community bank office in Bucks County, Pennsylvania and another in Chester County, Pennsylvania. The Covenant acquisition followed the 2019 acquisition of Monument Bancorp, Inc. ("Monument"), a commercial bank with offices in Bucks County. In Southcentral Pennsylvania, in 2021, the Corporation converted the lending office in York, Pennsylvania to a full-service branch and established a new branch in Lancaster, Pennsylvania. Mainly as a result of the acquisitions and subsequent growth in the newer markets, the Corporation's consolidated total assets at December 31, 2024 of \$2.6 billion were up 58% from the corresponding total at December 31, 2019. Similarly, gross loans of \$1.9 billion at December 31, 2024 were up 60% from December 31, 2019 and total deposits of \$2.1 billion were up 67% from December 31, 2019.

C&N Bank is a Pennsylvania banking institution that was formed by the consolidation of Northern National Bank of Wellsboro and Citizens National Bank of Towanda in 1971. C&N Bank has held its current name since May 6, 1975, at which time C&N Bank changed its charter from a national bank to a Pennsylvania bank. The Bank has expanded its presence over the past several decades through a series of mergers as well as by opening new branch and lending offices and providing access to banking services via the internet and through ATMs. At December 31, 2024, the Bank had 28 branch offices, including 21 in the Northern tier/Northcentral region of Pennsylvania, 1 in the Southern tier of New York State, 4 in Southeastern Pennsylvania (3 in Bucks County and 1 in Chester County) and 2 in Southcentral Pennsylvania (York and Lancaster). In addition to its branch locations, the Bank has a lending office in Elmira, New York.

C&N Bank provides an extensive range of banking services, including deposit and loan products for personal and commercial customers. The Bank also provides wealth management services through its trust department and C&N Financial Services, LLC ("CNFS"). The trust department offers a wide range of financial services, such as 401(k) plans, retirement planning, estate planning, estate settlements and asset management. CNFS, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank, is a licensed insurance agency that provides insurance products to individuals and businesses and through a broker-dealer arrangement, offers mutual funds, annuities, educational savings accounts and other investment products through registered agents. CNFS's operations are not significant in relation to the total operations of the Corporation.

Northern Tier Holding LLC, acquires, holds and disposes of real property acquired by the Bank through foreclosure procedures. C&N Bank is the sole member of Northern Tier Holding LLC.

All phases of the Bank's business are competitive. The Bank competes with fintech and other online financial institutions, local commercial banks headquartered in our market areas and other commercial banks with branches in our market area. Many of the online financial institutions and some of the banks that have branches in our market areas are larger in overall size. With respect to lending activities and attracting deposits, the Bank also competes with savings banks, savings and loan associations, insurance companies, regulated small loan companies and credit unions. Also, the Bank competes with mutual funds, exchange-traded funds and other investment vehicles for deposits. C&N Bank competes with insurance companies, investment counseling firms, mutual funds and other business firms and individuals for trust, investment management, brokerage and insurance services. The Bank is generally competitive with all financial institutions in our service areas with respect to interest rates paid on time and savings deposits, service charges on deposit accounts and interest rates charged on loans. The Bank serves a diverse customer base and is not economically dependent on any small group of customers or on any individual industry.

At December 31, 2024, C&N Bank had total assets of \$2,598,537,000, total deposits of \$2,111,547,000 and net loans outstanding of \$1,875,813,000.

Most activities of the Corporation and its subsidiaries are regulated by federal or state agencies. The primary regulatory relationships are described as follows:

- The Corporation is a bank holding company formed under the provisions of Section 3 of the Federal Reserve Act. The Corporation is under the direct supervision of the Federal Reserve and must comply with the reporting requirements of the Federal Bank Holding Company Act.
- C&N Bank is a state-chartered, Federal Reserve member bank, supervised by the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia and the Pennsylvania Department of Banking and Securities.
- The Pennsylvania Department of Insurance regulates CNFS's insurance activities. Brokerage products are offered through third party networking agreements.
- Bucktail is incorporated in the state of Arizona and supervised by the Arizona Department of Insurance.

A copy of the Corporation's annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current events reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to these reports, will be furnished without charge upon written request to the Corporation's Treasurer at P.O. Box 58, Wellsboro, PA 16901. Copies of these reports will be furnished as soon as reasonably possible after they are filed electronically with the Securities and Exchange Commission. The information is also available through the Corporation's web site at www.cnbankpa.com.

Human Capital

The Corporation's Board of Directors and executive leadership team have established the following mission, vision and values:

Mission: Creating value through lifelong relationships with our customers, teammates, shareholders and communities.

Vision: Every customer says "C&N is the ONLY bank I need."

Values: Teamwork, Respect, Responsibility and Accountability, Excellence, Integrity, Client Focus, Have Fun.

We recognize that our ability to create value on a consistent basis is highly dependent upon the effectiveness of our team.

The Corporation's key human capital management objectives are to attract and retain diverse raw and seasoned talent that fits our values and culture. Our talent strategy focuses on acquiring new employees through branding and outreach programs, developing employees though a robust onboarding program, ongoing training, and performance management, and retaining employees through recognition, engagement, and an attractive total rewards package. At December 31, 2024, the Corporation had 386 full-time equivalent employees.

Diversity and Inclusion

At C&N Bank, we are committed to creating value through relationships. At the heart of this mission is a promise of excellence in service to all people, as demonstrated by our commitment to equity of opportunity, inclusion and our fostering of a spirit of belonging. We live our values of respect, integrity and excellence by creating access and providing support to help our diverse constituents of customers, teammates, shareholders and communities in achieving their financial goals. We embrace inclusion of all of our stakeholders as an important component of our vision to be the ONLY bank our customers need.

Compensation and Benefits

The Corporation offers competitive compensation to attract and retain talent. Our generous total rewards package includes marketcompetitive salary, bonuses or sales commissions, short-term and long-term equity incentives, healthcare and retirement benefits, and paid time off. Employees have regular performance reviews and salary raises commensurate with performance. Employees have access to a holistic suite of items within our employee assistance program that caters to physical, emotional, and mental wellbeing for the employee and their family.

Training and Development

The Corporation provides a robust training and development program that supports our culture, prepares employees for their immediate role, develops them for long term success at the Bank and supports personal enrichment. We offer functional training, culture building exercises, personal development, C&N Bank history, C&N Bank integration and ongoing technical training throughout each year. Employees also have access to additional educational and development opportunities including tuition reimbursement and certification programs.

Communication and Engagement

At C&N, we believe in the importance of employee communication and engagement. We utilize several methods to foster engagement, including activities such as Employee Recognition programs, Service Anniversary Awards, Bank wide monthly calls, semi-annual Bank wide events, annual employee surveys, focus groups, daily huddles, and the Giving Back, Giving Together community service program. We believe keeping our team well informed, connected, and appreciated adds to the success of our organization.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Corporation is subject to the many risks and uncertainties applicable to all banking companies, as well as risks specific to the Corporation's geographic locations. Although the Corporation seeks to effectively manage risks, and maintains a level of equity that exceeds the banking regulatory agencies' thresholds for being considered "well capitalized" (see Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements), management cannot predict the future and cannot eliminate the possibility of credit, operational or other losses. Accordingly, actual results may differ materially from management's expectations. Some of the Corporation's significant risks and uncertainties are discussed below.

Risk Related to Acquisition Activity – As described in Item 1, the Corporation has completed acquisitions of banking companies in 2020 and 2019 (Covenant and Monument) and expanded its geographic footprint to Southeastern and Southcentral Pennsylvania. Further, management intends to continue to pursue additional acquisition opportunities. Potential acquisitions may disrupt the Corporation's business and dilute shareholder value. We regularly evaluate merger and acquisition opportunities and conduct due diligence activities related to possible transactions with other financial institutions and financial service companies. Acquiring other banks, businesses, or branches involves various risks commonly associated with acquisitions, including: potential exposure to unknown or contingent liabilities of the target company, exposure to potential asset quality issues of the target company, difficulty and expense of integrating the operations and personnel of the target company, potential disruption to the Corporation's business, potential diversion of management's time and attention, the possible loss of key employees and customers of the target company, difficulty in estimating the value of the target company and potential changes in banking or tax laws or regulations that may affect the target company. Acquisitions may involve the payment of a premium over book and market values, and, therefore, some dilution of the Corporation's tangible book value and earnings per common share may occur in connection with any future transaction. Furthermore, failure to realize the expected revenue projections, cost savings, increases in geographic or product presence, and/or other projected benefits from recent or future acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition or results of operations.

Credit Risk from Lending Activities - A significant source of risk is the possibility that losses will be sustained because borrowers, guarantors and related parties may fail to perform in accordance with the terms of their loan agreements. Most of the Corporation's loans are secured, but some loans are unsecured. With respect to secured loans, the collateral securing the repayment of these loans may be insufficient to cover the obligations owed under such loans. A significant portion of such collateral is real estate located in the Corporation's core banking markets. Collateral values may be adversely affected by changes in economic, environmental and other conditions, including declines in the value of real estate, changes in interest rates, changes in monetary and fiscal policies of the federal government, wide-spread disease, terrorist activity, environmental contamination and other external events. A decline in local

economic conditions may have a greater effect on the Corporation's earnings and capital than on the earnings and capital of other financial institutions whose real estate loan portfolios are more geographically diverse. In addition, collateral appraisals that are out of date or that do not meet industry recognized standards may create the impression that a loan is adequately collateralized when it is not. The Corporation has adopted underwriting and credit monitoring procedures and policies, including regular reviews of appraisals and borrower financial statements, that management believes are appropriate to mitigate the risk of loss. Also, as discussed further in the "Provision and Allowance for Credit Losses" section of Management's Discussion and Analysis, the Corporation uses an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss ("CECL") methodology. CECL requires an estimate of credit losses for the remaining estimated life of the financial asset using historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. Such risk management and accounting policies and procedures, however, may not prevent unexpected losses that could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

A significant portion of the Corporation's loan portfolio consists of commercial real estate loans, including owner occupied properties, non-owner-occupied properties, and other commercial properties. These types of loans are generally viewed as having more risk of default than residential real estate loans and depend on cash flows from the owner's business or the property's tenants to service the debt. The borrower's cash flows may be affected significantly by general economic conditions, a downturn in the local economy or in occupancy rates in the market where the property is located, or other external events, any of which could increase the likelihood of default. Commercial real estate loans also typically have larger loan balances, and, therefore, the deterioration of one or a few of these loans could cause a significant increase in the percentage of the Corporation's non-performing loans. An increase in non-performing loans could result in a loss of earnings from these loans, an increase in the provision for credit losses for loans, and an increase in charge-offs, all of which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Over the past few years, the banking regulatory agencies have expressed concerns about weaknesses in the current commercial real estate market. Banking regulators generally give commercial real estate lending greater scrutiny and may require banks with higher levels of commercial real estate loans to implement enhanced risk management practices, including stricter underwriting, internal controls, risk management policies, more granular reporting, and portfolio stress testing, as well as possibly higher levels of allowances for credit losses and capital levels as a result of commercial real estate lending growth and exposures. If the Corporation's banking regulators determine that our commercial real estate lending activities are particularly risky and are subject to such heightened scrutiny, the Corporation may incur significant additional costs or be required to restrict certain of our commercial real estate lending activities. Furthermore, failures in the Corporation's risk management policies, procedures and controls could adversely affect our ability to manage this portfolio going forward and could result in an increased rate of delinquencies in, and increased losses from, this portfolio, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's business, financial condition, and results of operations.

Interest Rate Risk - Business risk arising from changes in interest rates is an inherent factor in operating a banking organization. The Corporation's assets are predominantly long-term, fixed-rate loans and debt securities. Funding for these assets comes principally from deposits with no stated maturities, term deposits and borrowed funds. Accordingly, there is an inherent risk of lower future earnings or decline in fair value of the Corporation's financial instruments when interest rates change.

Moreover, the Federal Reserve lowered the Federal Funds rate in 2020 and maintained a rate of 0% to 0.25% throughout 2021 while injecting massive amounts of liquidity into the nation's monetary system. In 2022 and 2023, the Federal Reserve changed course and raised the rate several times to a range of 5.25% to 5.50% at December 31, 2023. The Federal Reserve's rate increases, along with an accompanying tightening of the money supply, were conducted in an effort to contain inflation. In the latter portion of 2024, the Federal Reserve lowered the Federal Funds rate twice to a range of 4.25% to 4.50% at December 31, 2024.

Significant fluctuations in interest rates, including fluctuations in interest rates triggered by the Federal Reserve's actions, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Limited Geographic Diversification - The Corporation grants commercial, residential and personal loans to customers primarily in the Corporation's markets of the Northern tier/Northcentral regions of Pennsylvania, Southern tier of New York and Southeastern and Southcentral Pennsylvania. Although the Corporation has a diversified loan portfolio, a significant portion of its debtors' ability to honor their contracts is dependent on the local economic conditions within these regions. Deterioration in economic conditions could adversely affect the quality of the Corporation's loan portfolio and the demand for its products and services, and accordingly, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Competition - All phases of the Corporation's business are competitive. Some competitors are much larger in total assets and capitalization than the Corporation, have greater access to capital markets and can offer a broader array of financial services. There can be no assurance that the Corporation will be able to compete effectively in its markets. Additionally, the financial services industry is undergoing rapid technological change with frequent introductions of new technology-driven products and services, including those related to artificial intelligence, to technologies that automate functions previously performed manually, facilitate the ability of customers to engage in financial transactions and otherwise enhance the customer experience. Many of these initiatives take a significant amount of time to develop and implement, are tied to critical systems, and require substantial financial, human, and other resources. The investments by larger competitors in these initiatives may be more substantial than those of the Corporation, which may cause the Corporation to lose market share. Although the Corporation, in making such investments, takes steps to mitigate the risks and uncertainties associated with these initiatives, they are not always implemented on time, within budget, or without negative financial, operational, or customer impact and do not always perform as the Corporation or its customers expect. Moreover, costs associated with implementing technology-driven products or other services, or technology-related or other developments increasing the nature or level of competition, could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Inability to Attract and Develop Qualified Personnel – The future success of the Corporation will depend in large part on our ability to attract, develop and retain highly qualified management, lending, financial, technological, marketing, sales, and support personnel. Competition for qualified personnel is intense and we cannot ensure success in attracting or retaining qualified personnel. There may be only a limited number of persons with the requisite skills to serve in these positions, and it may be increasingly difficult for us to hire personnel over time. Our ability to retain key officers and employees may be further impacted by legislation and regulation affecting the financial services industry. For example, legislation and bank regulatory action that places restrictions on executive compensation at, and the pay practices of, financial institutions may further impact our ability to compete for talent with other industries that are not subject to the same limitations as financial institutions. Any inability to attract, develop and retain significant numbers of qualified management and other personnel would have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

Cyber Security Risks and Technology Dependence – In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation collects and stores sensitive data, including proprietary business information and personally identifiable information of our customers and employees in systems and on networks. In some cases, this confidential or proprietary information is collected, compiled, processed, transmitted or stored by third parties on our behalf. The secure processing, maintenance and use of this information is critical to operations and our business strategy.

The Corporation has invested in accepted technologies, and continually reviews processes and practices that are designed to protect our networks, computers and data from damage or unauthorized access, and maintains an information security risk insurance policy. On an on-going basis the Corporation assesses its cyber security procedures and controls and performs network penetration tests on at least an annual basis. All employees receive monthly information security awareness training.

Despite these security measures, the Corporation's computer systems and infrastructure or those of third parties used by us to compile, process or store such information may be vulnerable to attacks by hackers or breached due to employee error, malfeasance, or other disruptions. Financial services institutions and companies engaged in data processing have reported breaches in the security of their websites or other systems, some of which have involved sophisticated and targeted attacks intended to obtain unauthorized access to sensitive information, destroy data, steal financial assets, disable or degrade service, or sabotage systems, often through the introduction of computer viruses or malware, cyber-attacks and other means. Denial of service attacks have been launched against a number of large financial services institutions. The Corporation may be subject to similar attacks in the future. Hacking and identity theft risks could cause serious reputational harm and financial loss to the Corporation. Cyber threats are rapidly evolving and the Corporation may not be able to anticipate or prevent all such attacks. Advancements in the use of artificial intelligence could lead to attacks by exploiting vulnerabilities to manipulate model outputs or bypass security controls. A breach of any kind could compromise systems and the information stored there could be accessed, damaged, locked up, or disclosed. A breach in security could result in legal claims, regulatory penalties, disruption in operations, and damage to the Corporation's reputation, which could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

Artificial Intelligence Risks and Challenges - The Corporation or its third-party vendors, clients or counterparties may develop or incorporate artificial intelligence ("AI") technology in certain business processes, services, or products. The development and use of AI presents a number of risks and challenges to the Corporation's business. The legal and regulatory environment relating to AI is uncertain and rapidly evolving, both in the U.S. and internationally, and includes regulatory schemes targeted specifically at AI as well as provisions in intellectual property, privacy, consumer protection, employment, and other laws applicable to the use of AI. These evolving laws and regulations could require changes in the Corporation's implementation of AI technology and increase its compliance costs and

the risk of non-compliance. AI models, particularly generative AI models, may produce output or take action that is incorrect, that reflects biases included in the data on which they are trained, that results in the release of private, confidential, or proprietary information, that infringes on the intellectual property rights of others, or that is otherwise harmful. In addition, the complexity of many AI models makes it difficult to understand why they are generating particular outputs. This limited transparency increases the challenges associated with assessing the proper operation of AI models, understanding and monitoring the capabilities of the AI models, reducing erroneous output, eliminating bias, and complying with regulations that require documentation or explanation of the basis on which decisions are made. Further, the Corporation may rely on AI models developed by third parties, and, to that extent, would be dependent in part on the manner in which those third parties develop and train their models, including risks arising from the inclusion of any unauthorized material in the training data for their models and the effectiveness of the steps these third parties have taken to limit the risks associated with the output of their models, matters over which the Corporation may have limited visibility. Any of these risks could expose us to liability or adverse legal or regulatory consequences and harm our reputation and the public perception of our business or the effectiveness of our security measures.

Government Regulation and Monetary Policy - The Corporation and the banking industry are subject to extensive regulation and supervision under federal and state laws and regulations. The requirements and limitations imposed by such laws and regulations limit the way the Corporation conducts its business, undertakes new investments and activities, and obtains financing. These regulations are designed primarily for the protection of the deposit insurance funds and consumers and not to benefit the Corporation's shareholders. Financial institution regulation has been the subject of significant legislation in recent years and may be the subject of further significant legislation in the future, none of which is in the control of the Corporation. Significant new laws or changes in, or repeals of, existing laws could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. For example, the regulatory authorities may take actions that could result in decreases in service charge revenue from deposit accounts, including overdraft privilege and other fees. Further, federal monetary policy, particularly as implemented through the Federal Reserve System, significantly affects short-term interest rates and credit conditions, and any unfavorable change in these conditions could have a material adverse effect on the Corporations or liquidity.

Bank Secrecy Act and Related Laws and Regulations - These laws and regulations have significant implications for all financial institutions. In recent years, they have increased due diligence requirements and reporting obligations for financial institutions, created new crimes and penalties, and required the federal banking agencies, in reviewing merger and other acquisition transactions, to consider the effectiveness of the parties to such transactions in combating money laundering activities. Even innocent noncompliance and inconsequential failure to follow the regulations could result in significant fines or other penalties, which could have a material adverse impact on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

The Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh - Through its subsidiary (C&N Bank), the Corporation is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh (FHLB-Pittsburgh), which is one of 11 regional Federal Home Loan Banks. The Corporation has a line of credit with the FHLB-Pittsburgh that is secured by a blanket lien on its loan portfolio. Access to this line of credit is critical if a funding need arises. However, there can be no assurance that the FHLB-Pittsburgh will be able to provide funding when needed, nor can there be assurance that the FHLB-Pittsburgh will provide funds specifically to the Corporation should its financial condition deteriorate and/or regulators prevent that access. The inability to access this source of funds could have a materially adverse effect on the Corporation's financial flexibility if alternate financing is not available at acceptable interest rates. The failure of the FHLB-Pittsburgh or the FHLB system in general, may materially impair the Corporation's ability to meet short- and long-term liquidity needs or to meet growth plans.

The Corporation owns common stock of the FHLB-Pittsburgh to qualify for membership in the FHLB system and access services from the FHLB-Pittsburgh. The FHLB-Pittsburgh faces a variety of risks in its operations including interest rate risk, counterparty credit risk, and adverse changes in its regulatory framework. In addition, the 11 Federal Home Loan Banks are jointly liable for the consolidated obligations of the FHLB system. To the extent that one FHLB cannot meet its obligations, other FHLBs can be called upon to make required payments. Such risks affecting the FHLB-Pittsburgh could adversely impact the value of the Corporation's investment in the common stock of the FHLB-Pittsburgh and/or affect its access to credit.

Soundness of Other Financial Institutions - In addition to the FHLB-Pittsburgh, the Corporation maintains other credit facilities that provide it with additional liquidity. These facilities include secured and unsecured borrowings from the Federal Reserve Bank and third-party commercial banks. The Corporation believes that it maintains a strong liquidity position and that it is well positioned to withstand foreseeable market conditions. However, legal agreements with counterparties typically include provisions allowing them to restrict or terminate the Corporation's access to these credit facilities with or without advance notice and at their sole discretion.
Financial institutions are interconnected because of trading, clearing, counterparty, and other relationships. Financial market conditions have been negatively impacted in the past and such disruptions or adverse changes in the Corporation's results of operations or financial condition could, in the future, have a negative impact on available sources of liquidity. Such a situation may arise due to circumstances that are outside the Corporation's control, such as general market disruptions or operational problems affecting the Corporation or third parties. The Corporation's efforts to monitor and manage liquidity risk may not be successful or sufficient to deal with dramatic or unanticipated reductions in available liquidity. In such events, the Corporation's cost of funds may increase, thereby reducing net interest income, or the Corporation may need to sell a portion of its securities and/or loan portfolio, which, depending upon market conditions, could necessitate realizing a loss.

Moreover, the Corporation is exposed to the risk that when a bank or other financial institution experiences financial difficulties, there could be an adverse "contagion" impact on other banking institutions. For example, the failures of Silicon Valley Bank in California, Signature Bank in New York and First Republic Bank in California in 2023 caused an element of panic and uncertainty in the investor community and among bank customers generally, including, specifically, deposit customers. These types of events may reduce customer confidence and may affect sources of funding and liquidity, increase regulatory requirements and costs, adversely affect financial markets and/or have negative reputational ramifications for institutions in the banking industry, including, possibly, the Corporation.

Securities Markets – The fair value of the Corporation's available-for-sale debt securities, as well as the revenues the Corporation earns from its wealth management services, are sensitive to price fluctuations and market events.

Declines in the values of the Corporation's securities holdings, combined with adverse changes in the expected cash flows from these investments, would negatively impact their value for liquidity management purposes and could result in the recording of an allowance for credit losses. At December 31, 2024, the fair value of the Corporation's available-for-sale debt securities portfolio was \$402.4 million, or 10.6% less than the amortized cost basis. The unrealized decrease in fair value was consistent with the increases in market interest rates that occurred subsequent to the purchases of the securities, and no allowance for credit losses was required on available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024. Further increases in interest rates would cause the fair value of the available-for-sale debt securities portfolio to decrease further. For additional information regarding debt securities, see the "Securities" section of Management's Discussion and Analysis and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Corporation's trust revenue is determined, in part, from the value of the underlying investment portfolios. Accordingly, if the values of those investment portfolios decrease, whether due to factors influencing U.S. or international securities markets, in general, or otherwise, the Corporation's revenue could be negatively impacted. In addition, the Corporation's ability to sell its brokerage services is dependent, in part, upon consumers' level of confidence in securities markets.

Mortgage Banking – Since 2009, the Corporation has originated and sold residential mortgage loans to the secondary market through the MPF Xtra program. Since 2014, the Corporation has also originated and sold residential mortgage loans to the secondary market through the MPF Original program. Both of these programs are administered by the Federal Home Loan Banks of Pittsburgh and Chicago. At December 31, 2024, the total outstanding balance of residential mortgages sold and serviced through the two programs amounted to \$329,766,000. The Corporation must strictly adhere to the MPF Xtra and MPF Original program guidelines for origination, underwriting and servicing loans, and failure to do so may result in the Corporation being forced to repurchase loans or being dropped from the program. As of December 31, 2024, the total outstanding balance of residential mortgage loans the Corporation has repurchased as a result of identified instances of noncompliance amounted to \$2,671,000. If the volume of such forced repurchases of loans were to increase significantly, or if the Corporation were to be dropped from the programs, it could have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition, results of operations or liquidity.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

Not applicable.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy- The Corporation's cybersecurity risk management program is designed to assess, identify, and manage material risks from cybersecurity threats and is an integral part of the overall risk management program. Cybersecurity risk includes exposure to failures or interruptions of service or security breaches resulting from malicious technological attacks that impact the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of our or third parties' operations, systems, or data. The Corporation assesses its cyber security procedures and controls on an on-going basis as safeguarding its systems and data is critical to its operations and business strategy.

The Corporation uses third-party vendors, including a managed security service provider, to assist in monitoring, detecting, and managing cyber threats. The Board of Directors has established risk management guidelines for third-party vendors. Further, the Corporation conducts due diligence reviews of third-party vendors before contracts or agreements for provision of services are signed and conducts ongoing due diligence and oversight procedures with the frequency of the procedures determined based on a risk assessment of the services provided. The Corporation generally has agreements in place with its service providers that include requirements related to cybersecurity and data privacy. Due diligence and oversight procedures may include, but are not limited to, reviews of financial information, internal control reports, business continuity and disaster recovery plans, and information security and cyber security policies and associated tests of effectiveness. The Corporation cannot guarantee, however, that such agreements, due diligence, and oversight procedures will prevent a cyber incident from impacting our systems or information. Additionally, the Corporation may not be able to obtain adequate or any reimbursement from its insurance coverage or from its service providers in the event it should suffer any such incidents. Due to applicable laws and regulations or contractual obligations, the Corporation may be held responsible for cyber incidents attributed to its service providers in relation to any data that the Corporation shares with them.

During 2024, the Corporation did not experience a cybersecurity threat or incident that has materially affected or is reasonably likely to materially affect the Corporation, including its business strategy, results of consolidated operations or financial condition. Refer to the risk factor captioned "Cyber Security Risks and Technology Dependence" in Part I, Item 1A. "Risk Factors" for additional information.

Governance- The Board of Directors provides oversight of the risk management program and setting the Corporation's cyber risk profile, which includes risks from cybersecurity threats, enterprise cyber strategy, and key cyber initiatives. The Board has appointed a Risk Management Committee currently made up of six members of the Board with governance and oversight of the Corporation's enterprise-wide risk management program. The members of the Risk Management Committee collectively have years of business management and professional experience in the banking industry and other industries including exposure to cyber risk management considerations. The Board also meets with our internal and external auditors, and federal and state regulators to review and discuss reports on risk, examination, and regulatory compliance matters. In fulfilling its role, the Risk Management Committee is actively engaged with management regarding cyber security procedures and controls to manage and mitigate cybersecurity-related risks. Management provides at least quarterly information security reports to the Risk Management Committee who provides a report to the Board of its discussions and decisions. These reports to the Risk Management Committee address management's efforts to monitor, detect and prevent cyber threats. In addition, the Board of Directors is engaged, as needed, in accordance with the Incident Response Plan.

The Corporation has an information security program that is primarily managed by the Information Security Department, which is led by the Chief Risk Management Officer and the Director of Information Security and supported by the Information Technology Operations Department, which is led by the Chief Information Officer. The Information Security Department is led by the Director of Information Security, and is responsible for day-to-day management of the information security program including system monitoring, vulnerability scans, employee security training including phishing exercises, security controls, and building strong relationships with security vendors. The Chief Risk Management Officer, the Chief Information Officer, the Director of Information Security and the other members of the Information Security Department are qualified by years of experience, post-secondary education, industry certifications and regular continuing education. A network penetration test and vulnerability assessment are performed at a minimum annually by a third-party vendor. The Information Security Committee is the management committee responsible for the oversight of the Information Security Program and is also responsible for policy development and information security risk assessment. This committee meets at least quarterly to discuss and review the information security program. The Information Security Program is updated at least annually and the Board of Directors, with input from the Risk Management Committee, approves all material changes. The Corporation has an Incident Response Plan that provides a documented guideline for handling potential threats and taking appropriate measures including timely notification and escalation to executive leadership and the Board of Directors. The Incident Response Plan is managed by the Incident Response Team which includes the Director of Information Security, Chief Risk Management Officer, Chief Information Officer, and other essential members of management. The Incident Response Plan is reviewed and tested at least annually.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

A summary of the Corporation's operating properties is as follows:

	Number of Locations	Number of Owned Properties	Number of Leased Properties
Branches	28	22	6
Limited Purpose Office-Lending	1	1	0
Administrative/Multi-purpose	4	2	2
Total	33	25	8

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

Class Action Litigation

On March 27, 2024, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the US District Court for the Western District of Texas by investors in a purported Ponzi scheme operated by two individuals, one of whom maintained accounts at C&N Bank. The plaintiffs have sued C&N Bank, along with another bank, and additional law firm and accounting firm defendants. The case is styled Goldovsky, et al. v. Rauld, et al. Plaintiffs have asserted claims against C&N Bank and the other bank for aiding and abetting alleged violations of the Texas Securities Act, and additional claims against the legal and accounting professionals for statutory fraud, common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and knowing participation in breach of fiduciary duty. C&N Bank has filed motions to dismiss the case for wont of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim. The Plaintiffs have responded to those motions. Plaintiffs have filed an application certification of the suit as a class action. The court has stayed the motions to dismiss pending consideration of the class action certification application. Following depositions of the four plaintiffs on issues germane to class action certification, C&N Bank and each of the other defendants have filed briefs in opposition to the plaintiff's class certification motion. A hearing on the motion for class certification took place on February 18, 2025. A ruling on class certification is pending. Based on the information available to the Corporation, the Corporation does not believe at this time that a loss is probable in this matter, nor can a range of possible losses be determined. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded for this litigation matter in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Corporation's estimate may change from time to time, and actual losses could vary.

The Corporation and the Bank are involved in various legal proceedings incidental to their business. Management believes the aggregate liability, if any, resulting from such pending and threatened legal proceedings will not have a material adverse effect on the Corporation's financial condition or results of operations.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE

Not applicable.

PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

QUARTERLY SHARE DATA

Trades of the Corporation's stock are executed through various brokers who maintain a market in the Corporation's stock. The Corporation's stock is listed on the NASDAQ Capital Market with the trading symbol CZNC. As of December 31, 2024, there were 2,036 shareholders of record of the Corporation's common stock.

While the Corporation has a history of paying cash dividends, future dividend payments will depend upon maintenance of a strong financial condition, future earnings and capital and regulatory requirements. Also, the Corporation and C&N Bank are subject to restrictions on the amount of dividends that may be paid without approval of banking regulatory authorities. These restrictions are described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

On September 25, 2023, the Corporation announced a new treasury stock repurchase program. Under the program, the Corporation is authorized to repurchase up to 750,000 shares of the Corporation's common stock, or slightly less than 5% of the Corporation's issued and outstanding shares at August 4, 2023. The program was effective when publicly announced and will continue thereafter until suspended or terminated by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion. All shares of common stock repurchased pursuant to the new program shall be held as treasury shares and be available for use and reissuance for purposes as and when determined by the Board of Directors including, without limitation, pursuant to the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plans and its equity compensation program. During the year ended December 31, 2024, 26,034 shares were repurchased for a total cost of \$443,000, at an average price of \$17.02 per share. At December 31, 2024, there were 723,966 shares available to be repurchased under the program. As permitted by securities laws and other legal requirements and subject to market conditions and other factors, purchases may be made from time to time in the open market at prevailing prices, or through privately negotiated transactions.

The following table sets forth a summary of purchases by the Corporation, in the open market, of its equity securities during the fourth quarter 2024:

	Total Number of Shares	Average Price Paid	Total Number of Shares Purchased as Part of Publicly Announced Plans	Maximum Number of Shares that May Yet be Purchased Under the Plans or
Period	Purchased	per Share	or Programs	Programs
October 1 - 31, 2024	0	\$ 0	0	723,966
November 1 - 30, 2024	0	\$ 0	0	723,966
December 1 - 31, 2024	0	<u>\$</u> 0	0	723,966
Total	0	\$ 0	0	

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Set forth below is a chart comparing the Corporation's cumulative return to stockholders against the cumulative return of the Russell 2000 Index and the Corporation's peer group index (the NASDAQ Bank Index) for the five-year period commencing December 31, 2019 and ended December 31, 2024.

The index values are market-weighted dividend-reinvestment numbers, which measure the total return for investing \$100.00 five years ago. This meets Securities & Exchange Commission requirements for showing dividend reinvestment share performance over a five-year period and measures the return to an investor for placing \$100.00 into a group of bank stocks and reinvesting any and all dividends into the purchase of more of the same stock for which dividends were paid.



	Period Ending										
Index	12/31/19	12/31/20	12/31/21	12/31/22	12/31/23	12/31/24					
Citizens & Northern Corporation	100.00	74.23	102.47	93.91	97.39	85.52					
Russell 2000 Index	100.00	119.93	137.67	109.50	127.98	142.73					
Peer Group (NASDAQ Bank Index)	100.00	92.50	132.19	110.67	106.87	128.85					

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table sets forth information concerning the Citizens & Northern 2023 Equity Stock Incentive Plan which was approved by the Corporation's shareholders in April 2023. The figures shown in the table below are as of December 31, 2024.

	Number of Securities to be Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options	Weighted- average Exercise Price of Outstanding Options	Number of Securities Remaining for Future Issuance Under Equity Compen- sation Plans
Equity compensation plans approved by shareholders	0	\$ N/A	407,659
Equity compensation plans not approved by shareholders	0	N/A	0

More details related to the Corporation's equity compensation plans are provided in Notes 1 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

ITEM 6. RESERVED

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Certain statements in this section and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are forward-looking statements. Citizens & Northern Corporation and its wholly-owned subsidiaries (collectively, the Corporation) intend such forward-looking statements to be covered by the safe harbor provisions for forward-looking statements contained in the Private Securities Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements, which are not historical facts, are based on certain assumptions and describe future plans, business objectives and expectations, and are generally identifiable by the use of words such as, "should", "likely", "expect", "plan", "anticipate", "target", "forecast", and "goal". These forward-looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that are difficult to predict, may be beyond management's control and could cause results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Factors which could have a material, adverse impact on the operations and future prospects of the Corporation include, but are not limited to, the following:

- changes in monetary and fiscal policies of the Federal Reserve Board and the U.S. Government, particularly related to changes in interest rates
- changes in general economic conditions
- the potential for adverse developments in the banking industry that could have a negative impact on customer confidence
- the Corporation's credit standards and its on-going credit assessment processes might not protect it from significant credit losses
 legislative or regulatory changes
- downturn in demand for loan, deposit and other financial services in the Corporation's market area
- increased competition from other banks and non-bank providers of financial services
- technological changes and increased technology-related costs
- information security breach or other technology difficulties or failures
- changes in accounting principles, or the application of generally accepted accounting principles
- fraud and cyber malfunction risks as usage of artificial intelligence continues to expand

These risks and uncertainties should be considered in evaluating forward-looking statements and undue reliance should not be placed on such statements.

EARNINGS OVERVIEW

2024 vs. 2023

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2024 was \$25,958,000, or \$1.69 per diluted share, as compared to \$24,148,000, or \$1.57 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2023. The results for 2023 included the impact of a \$1.3 million charge, or \$0.08 per diluted share, related to the repositioning of available-for-sale securities and bank-owned life insurance (BOLI).

Significant variances were as follows:

- Net interest income totaled \$79,115,000 for the year ended December 31, 2024, a decrease of \$1,285,000 from 2023. The net interest margin was 3.30% in 2024, down from 3.47% in 2023. The interest rate spread decreased 0.32%, as the average rate on interest-bearing liabilities was higher by 0.75% while the average yield on earning assets increased 0.43%. Average total earning assets increased \$81,866,000. Average total loans increased \$88,973,000 (5.0%) and average total deposits increased \$85,644,000 (4.3%).
- For the year ended December 31, 2024, the provision for credit losses was \$2,195,000, compared to \$186,000 in 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024, the provision related to loans receivable included the impact of a net increase in the allowance for credit losses (ACL) related to qualitative factors, partially offset by a decrease in total specific allowances on individual loans and decreases in other components of the ACL. The ACL increased \$827,000 to 1.06% of loans receivable at December 31, 2024 as compared to 1.04% at December 31, 2023. For the year ended December 31, 2024, net charge-offs totaled \$1,603,000, or 0.09% of average loans receivable as compared to \$264,000 or 0.01% of average loans receivable for 2023.
- Noninterest income totaled \$29,209,000 for the year ended December 31, 2024, up \$4,792,000 from the year ended December 31, 2023. Significant variances included the following:
 - There were no net gains or losses on available-for-sale debt securities for the year ended December 31, 2024 compared to net losses on available-for-sale debt securities of \$3,036,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. The net losses on available-for-sale debt securities of \$3,036,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 were primarily from sales in the fourth quarter 2023 related to the repositioning of the portfolio.
 - Earnings from the increase in cash surrender value of life insurance of \$1,830,000 decreased \$873,000 in 2024 from 2023. Included in 2023 was income from a one-time enhancement of \$2,100,000 on BOLI purchased in December 2023. Excluding the impact of the income from the enhancement in 2023, earnings from the increase in cash surrender value of life insurance increased \$1,227,000 reflecting the increase in the average balance of BOLI to \$51,465,000 in 2024 from \$31,808,000 in 2023.
 - Other noninterest income of \$5,230,000 increased \$620,000 as dividends on FHLB-Pittsburgh and Federal Reserve stock totaled \$1,743,000, an increase of \$451,000, and income from tax credits related to donations increased \$77,000.
 - Brokerage and insurance revenue of \$2,271,000 increased \$596,000 due to an increase in sales volume.
 - Trust revenue of \$7,928,000 increased \$515,000, consistent with appreciation in the trading prices of many U.S. equity securities and includes revenue from new business.
 - Net gains from sale of loans of \$1,158,000 increased \$435,000, reflecting an increase in volume of residential mortgage loans sold.
 - Service charges on deposit accounts of \$5,867,000 increased \$300,000 reflecting an increase in volume of fees.
- Noninterest expense totaled \$74,258,000 for the year ended December 31, 2024, an increase of \$110,000 from the total for the year ended December 31, 2023. Significant variances included the following:
 - Other noninterest expense of \$10,361,000 decreased \$872,000. Within this category, significant variances included the following:

- Other operational losses included a net decrease in expense of \$407,000 to \$98,000 in other losses in 2024 from expense of \$505,000 in 2023. Included in 2023 was \$427,000 related to a trust department tax compliance matter.
- In 2024, there was a reduction in expense of \$527,000 related to the defined benefit postretirement medical benefit plan, including a curtailment of \$469,000 related to plan adjustments in the first quarter 2024. In comparison, in 2023, there was a reduction in expense associated with the postretirement plan of \$19,000.
- Donations expense increased \$195,000 from 2023 including an increase of \$133,000 in PA Educational Improvement Tax Credit Program donations and \$50,000 in 2024 donations to benefit Northern Tier and Northcentral PA communities impacted by storm damage.
- Professional fees of \$2,175,000 decreased \$322,000 as 2023 included \$389,000 of conversion costs related to a change in Wealth Management platform for providing brokerage and investment advisory services.
- Salaries and employee benefits expense of \$44,930,000 increased \$735,000, including an increase of \$905,000 in cash and stock-based incentive compensation, an increase in base salaries expense of \$630,000, or 2.1%, and an increase of \$253,000 in wealth management-related commissions while there were decreases in expense related to the Employee Stock Ownership Plan of \$579,000, health insurance expense of \$361,000 and the Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan of \$267,000.
- The income tax provision of \$5,913,000, or 18.6% of pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2024 decreased \$422,000 from \$6,335,000, or 20.8% of pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2023. The higher effective tax rate in 2023 included the net impact of a tax charge of \$950,000 related to the initiated surrender of BOLI, partially offset by the non-taxable income of \$2,100,000 from the one-time enhancement on the purchase of BOLI.

2023 vs. 2022

Net income for the year ended December 31, 2023 was \$24,148,000, or \$1.57 per diluted share, as compared to \$26,618,000, or \$1.71 per diluted share, for the year ended December 31, 2022. As noted above, the results for 2023 included the impact of a \$1.3 million charge, or \$0.08 per diluted share, related to the repositioning of available-for-sale securities and BOLI. Significant variances were as follows:

- In December 2023, the Corporation repositioned its available-for-sale securities portfolio and its investments in BOLI. As a result of the repositioning, the Corporation recognized a net charge to earnings of approximately \$1.3 million, or \$0.08 per diluted share in the fourth quarter 2023 reflecting the net impact of: (1) a \$3.0 million pre-tax loss and after-tax loss of \$2.4 million from the sale of available-for-sale debt securities with an amortized cost basis of \$45.5 million, (2) a tax charge of \$950,000 from initiating the surrender of BOLI with a book value of \$14.3 million, and (3) noninterest income of \$2.1 million from a one-time enhancement on a \$30 million purchase of new BOLI.
- For the year ended December 31, 2023, net interest income totaled \$80,400,000, \$2,728,000 lower than in 2022. The interest rate spread decreased 0.66%, as the average rate on interest-bearing liabilities was higher by 1.36% while the average yield on earning assets increased 0.70%. The net interest margin was 3.47% in 2023, down from 3.77% in 2022. Average total earning assets increased \$101,418,000 in 2023 over 2022, including an increase in average loans receivable of \$164,055,000, or 10.1%. Average interest-bearing deposits increased \$27,528,000 while average total deposits decreased \$8,486,000, or 0.4%, in 2023 as compared to 2022.
- For the year ended December 31, 2023, there was a provision for credit losses of \$186,000, a decrease of \$7,069,000 in expense compared to \$7,255,000 in 2022. The expense related to loans receivable was mainly attributable to qualitative adjustments of the Corporation's historical loss experience in estimating the allowance for credit losses ("ACL") and the impact of an economic forecast, as well as a reduction in the Corporation's average net charge-off experience used in the calculation of the ACL. The ACL as a percentage of gross loans receivable was 1.04% at December 31, 2023 as compared to 1.08% at January 1, 2023 upon the initial adoption of CECL. For the year ended December 31, 2023, net charge-offs totaled \$264,000 or 0.01% of gross loans receivable as compared to \$4,177,000 or 0.26% of gross loans receivable in 2022.
- Noninterest income, excluding realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities, totaled \$27,453,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023, up \$3,041,000 from the comparable category for the year ended December 31, 2022. Significant variances included the following:

- Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance of \$2,703,000 increased \$2,158,000 in 2023 from 2022 including \$2,100,000 in increase from a one-time enhancement on a \$30 million purchase of new BOLI as previously discussed.
- Other noninterest income of \$4,610,000 increased \$912,000 as dividends on FHLB-Pittsburgh stock totaled \$1,138,000, an increase of \$541,000. Additionally, in 2023, the Corporation recognized income of \$156,000 from dividends on Federal Reserve Bank stock with no comparable amount in 2022 and income of \$234,000, with no comparable amount in 2022, from a conversion assistance payment received related to a change in wealth management platform for providing brokerage and investment advisory services.
- Service charges on deposit accounts of \$5,567,000 increased \$548,000 as the volume of consumer and business overdraft activity increased and included in 2022 was a reduction in income of \$290,000 related to refunds of consumer overdraft fees as the result of updated regulatory guidance on certain overdraft fees.
- ▶ Trust revenue of \$7,413,000 increased \$419,000 reflecting revenue from new business.
- Brokerage and insurance revenue of \$1,675,000 decreased \$616,000 due to a reduction in sales volume.
- Loan servicing fees, net, of \$602,000 decreased \$358,000, as the fair value of servicing rights decreased \$200,000 in 2023 as compared to an increase of \$126,000 in 2022.
- Net losses on available-for-sale debt securities were \$3,036,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023, compared to net gains on available-for-sale debt securities of \$20,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022. The net losses on available-for-sale debt securities of \$3,036,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023, were primarily from the previously described repositioning of the portfolio.
- Noninterest expense totaled \$74,148,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023, an increase of \$6,193,000 from the total for the year ended December 31, 2022. Significant variances included the following:
 - Other noninterest expense of \$11,233,000 increased \$3,012,000. Within this category, significant variances included the following:
 - Other operational losses included net increase in expense of \$854,000 to \$505,000 in other losses in 2023 from a net reduction in expense of \$349,000 in 2022. Included in 2023 is \$427,000 related to a trust department tax compliance matter while most of the reduction in other losses in 2022 was from recoveries or reversals of previously recorded charges related to trust department tax compliance matters. Also included in other operational losses was \$232,000 of expenses related to check fraud in 2023 with no comparable amount in 2022.
 - FDIC insurance expense increased \$481,000, reflecting the impact of an increase in base deposit insurance assessment rate applicable to all banks.
 - Legal fees totaled \$759,000 in 2023, an increase of \$261,000, mainly due to fees incurred related to non-litigation-related corporate matters.
 - In 2023, the allowance for disallowed SBA claims decreased \$90,000, resulting in a reduction in expense of the same amount, reflecting better than previously estimated claims experience. The comparable amount in 2022 was a reduction in expense of \$367,000. At December 31, 2023, there was no remaining allowance for disallowed SBA claims.
 - Included in 2022 was a reduction of \$172,000 in expense related to credit losses on off balance sheet exposures. In 2023, the net credit for credit losses related to off-balance sheet exposures of \$567,000 is included in the provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of income.
 - Salaries and employee benefits expense of \$44,195,000 increased \$2,362,000, including increases in base salaries expense of \$1,713,000, or 6.0% and in cash and stock-based incentive compensation expense of \$670,000 consistent with comparisons in both years of the Corporation's earnings performance to that of defined peer groups.
 - Data processing and telecommunications expense of \$7,582,000 increased \$776,000, including the impact of increases in software licensing and maintenance costs as well as costs related to enhancements of data management capabilities.

- Professional fees of \$2,497,000 increased \$492,000, including \$389,000 of conversion costs related to a change in wealth management platform for providing brokerage and investment advisory services.
- Pennsylvania shares tax expense of \$1,602,000 in 2023 was lower by \$354,000, consistent with a reduction in C&N Bank's equity that provided the base for determining the annual tax.
- The income tax provision of \$6,335,000, or 20.8% of pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2023 increased \$603,000 from \$5,732,000, or 17.7% of pre-tax income for the year ended December 31, 2022. The higher effective rate in 2023 includes: (1) the tax charge of \$950,000 for the initiated surrender of BOLI; (2) an increase in nondeductible interest expense; (3) the impact of the increase in trust department tax compliance-related penalties; and (4) the impact of the permanent difference related to stock-based compensation resulting in an increase in taxable income in 2023 as compared to a deduction in 2022 due to the reduction in CZNC stock price. Partially offsetting the higher effective rate in 2023 was the non-taxable income of \$2,100,000 from a one-time enhancement on \$30 million purchase of new BOLI.

More detailed information concerning the Corporation's earnings results are provided in other sections of Management's Discussion and Analysis.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The presentation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect many of the reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from these estimates.

Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans – A material estimate that is particularly susceptible to significant change is the determination of the allowance for credit losses (ACL) on loans. The Corporation maintains an ACL on loans which represents management's estimate of expected net charge-offs over the life of the loans. The ACL includes two primary components: (i) an allowance established on loans which share similar risk characteristics collectively evaluated for credit losses (collective basis), and (ii) an allowance established on loans which do not share similar risk characteristics with any loan segment and which are individually evaluated for credit losses (individual basis). Management considers the determination of the ACL on loans to be critical because it requires significant judgment regarding estimates of expected credit losses based on the Corporation's historical loss experience, current conditions and economic forecasts. Management's evaluation is based upon a continuous review of the Corporation's loans, with consideration given to evaluations resulting from examinations performed by regulatory authorities. Notes 1 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements provide an overview of the process management uses for determining the ACL, and additional discussion of the ACL is provided in a separate section of Management's Discussion and Analysis.

The ACL may increase or decrease due to changes in economic conditions affecting borrowers and macroeconomic variables, including new information regarding existing problem loans, identification of additional problem loans, changes in the fair value of underlying collateral, unforeseen events such as natural disasters and pandemics, and other factors. Because current economic conditions and forecasts can change and future events are inherently difficult to predict, the anticipated amount of estimated credit losses on loans, and therefore the appropriateness of the ACL, could change significantly.

NET INTEREST INCOME

The Corporation's primary source of operating income is net interest income, which is equal to the difference between the amounts of interest income and interest expense. Tables I, II and III include information regarding the Corporation's net interest income in 2024, 2023 and 2022. In each of these tables, the amounts of interest income earned on tax-exempt securities and loans have been adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis. The Corporation believes presentation of net interest income on a fully taxable-equivalent basis provides investors with meaningful information for purposes of comparing returns on tax-exempt securities and loans with returns on taxable securities and loans. Accordingly, the net interest income amounts reflected in these tables exceed the amounts presented in the consolidated financial statements. The discussion that follows is based on amounts in the tables.

2024 vs. 2023

Fully taxable equivalent net interest income was \$79,934,000 in 2024, \$1,385,000 (1.7%) lower than in 2023. The decrease in net interest income reflected an increase in interest expense of \$15,859,000 and an increase in interest income of \$14,474,000. As presented in Table II, the Net Interest Margin was 3.30% in 2024, as compared to 3.47% in 2023, and the "Interest Rate Spread" (excess of average rate of return on earning assets over average cost of funds on interest-bearing liabilities) decreased to 2.59% in 2024 from 2.91% in 2023. The average yield on earning assets of 5.32% was 0.43% higher in 2024 as compared to 2023, while the average rate on interest bearing liabilities of 2.73% was 0.75% higher in 2024 as compared to 2023. Additionally, average total earning assets increased \$81,866,000, average total loans increased \$88,973,000 (5.0%) and average total deposits increased \$85,644,000 (4.3%). Table III shows the net impact of changes in volume of earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities increased net interest income for 2024 over 2023 by \$2,539,000, while the net impact of changes in interest rates (primarily increases) decreased net interest income by \$3,924,000.

INTEREST INCOME AND EARNING ASSETS

Interest income totaled \$128,897,000 in 2024, an increase of \$14,474,000, or 12.6%, from 2023.

Interest and fees from loans receivable increased \$11,730,000 in 2024 as compared to 2023. In 2024, the fully taxable equivalent yield on loans was 6.03%, up from 5.67% in 2023, reflecting the effects of primarily rising interest rates on new loan originations and floating-rate loans. Average outstanding loans receivable increased \$88,973,000 (5.0%) to \$1,881,122,000 in 2024 from \$1,792,149,000 in 2023. The Corporation has experienced growth in commercial real estate and other commercial loans in 2023 and in 2024.

Income from interest-bearing due from banks totaled \$4,307,000 in 2024, an increase of \$2,928,000 from 2023. Within this category, the largest asset balance in 2024 and 2023 has been interest-bearing deposits held with the Federal Reserve. The average yield on interest-bearing due from banks was 4.97% in 2024, up from 4.22% in 2023. The average balance of interest-bearing due from banks was \$86,703,000 in 2024, up from \$32,709,000 in 2023. The net increase in average interest-bearing due from banks for 2024 as compared to 2023 reflected net sources of cash from deposit growth, a reduction in average available-for-sale debt securities and an increase in borrowed funds, partially offset by net uses of cash for loan growth and an increase in Bank-Owned Life Insurance.

Interest income from available-for-sale debt securities, on a fully taxable-equivalent basis, decreased \$246,000 in 2024 as compared to 2023, as the average balance (at amortized cost) of available-for-sale debt securities decreased \$61,916,000 as indicated in Table II. The average yield on available-for-sale debt securities was 2.45% for 2024, up from 2.21% in 2023.

INTEREST EXPENSE AND INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Interest expense increased \$15,859,000 to \$48,963,000 in 2024 from \$33,104,000 in 2023.

Interest expense on deposits increased \$14,967,000, as the average rate on interest-bearing deposits increased to 2.51% in 2024 from 1.66% in 2023. Average total deposits (interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing) increased \$85,644,000 (4.3%) in 2024 as compared to 2023. Within average deposits, average brokered deposits were \$61,537,000 at an average rate of 5.19% in 2024 as compared to \$47,424,000 at an average rate of 4.78% for 2023. Average time deposits increased \$84,394,000, average interest checking deposits increased \$48,472,000 and the average total balance of money market accounts increased \$11,144,000 while average savings deposits decreased \$35,631,000 and the average balance of noninterest bearing demand deposits decreased \$22,735,000.

Interest expense on borrowed funds increased \$892,000 in 2024 as compared to 2023. Interest expense on short-term borrowings in 2024 of \$1,168,000 was down from \$3,240,000 in 2023 as the average balance of short-term borrowings decreased to \$22,743,000 in 2024 from \$62,926,000 in 2023. The average rate on short-term borrowings was 5.14% in 2024 compared to 5.15% in 2023. Interest expense on long-term borrowings (FHLB advances) increased \$2,958,000 to \$7,188,000 in 2024 from \$4,230,000 in 2023. The average balance of long-term borrowings was \$167,181,000 in 2024, up from an average balance of \$110,943,000 in 2023. Borrowings are classified as long-term within the Tables based on their term at origination or assumption in business combinations. The average rate on long-term borrowings was 4.30% in 2024 compared to 3.81% in 2023.

2023 vs. 2022

Fully taxable equivalent net interest income was \$81,319,000 in 2023, \$3,035,000 (3.6%) lower than in 2022. The decrease in net interest income reflected an increase in interest expense of \$23,585,000 (includes \$17,595,000 interest on deposits and \$5,990,000 in interest on borrowings) and an increase of \$20,550,000 in total interest income as compared to 2022. As presented in Table II, the Net Interest Margin was 3.47% in 2023, as compared to 3.77% in 2022, and the "Interest Rate Spread" (excess of average rate of return on earning assets over average cost of funds on interest-bearing liabilities) decreased to 2.91% in 2023 from 3.57% in 2022. The average yield on earning assets of 4.89% was 0.70% higher in 2023 as compared to 2022, while the average rate on interest bearing liabilities of 1.98% was 1.36% higher in 2023 as compared to 2023 over 2022 by \$2,679,000, while the net impact of changes in interest rates (primarily increases) decreased net interest income by \$5,714,000.

INTEREST INCOME AND EARNING ASSETS

Interest income totaled \$114,423,000 in 2023, an increase of \$20,550,000, or 21.9%, from 2022.

Interest and fees from loans receivable increased \$20,540,000 in 2023 as compared to 2022. In 2023, the fully taxable equivalent yield on loans was 5.67%, up from 4.98% in 2022, reflecting the effects of rising interest rates on the loan portfolio. Average outstanding loans receivable increased \$164,055,000 (10.1%) to \$1,792,149,000 in 2023 from \$1,628,094,000 in 2022. The Corporation experienced growth in outstanding commercial real estate and residential mortgage loans over the last three quarters of 2022 and in 2023.

Income from interest-bearing due from banks totaled \$1,379,000 in 2023, an increase of \$734,000 from the total for 2022. The average yield on interest-bearing due from banks was 4.22% in 2023 and 1.25% in 2022. The average balance of interest-bearing due from banks was \$32,709,000 in 2023 as compared to \$51,407,000 in 2022. Within this category, the largest asset balance in 2023 and 2022 was interest-bearing deposits held with the Federal Reserve.

Interest income from available-for-sale debt securities, on a fully taxable-equivalent basis, decreased \$711,000 in 2023 as compared to 2022, as the average balance (at amortized cost) of available-for-sale debt securities decreased \$43.0 million as indicated in Table II. The average yield on available-for-sale debt securities was 2.21% for 2023, up from 2.16% in 2022.

INTEREST EXPENSE AND INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES

Interest expense increased \$23,585,000 to \$33,104,000 in 2023 from \$9,519,000 in 2022.

Interest expense on deposits increased \$17,595,000, as the average rate on interest-bearing deposits increased to 1.66% in 2023 from 0.46% in 2022 reflecting the impact of increases in market rates in 2023. Average total deposits (interest-bearing and noninterest-bearing) amounted to \$1,971,926,000 for 2023, down \$8,486,000 (0.4%) from \$1,980,412,000 in 2022. Within average deposits, average brokered deposits were \$47,424,000 at an average rate of 4.78% for 2023 as compared to \$33,458,000 at an average rate of 1.71% in 2022. The deposit mix changed significantly in 2023. Average time deposits increased \$96,224,000 and average interest checking deposits increased \$45,654,000, while the average total balance of money market accounts decreased \$95,954,000, the average balance of noninterest bearing demand deposits decreased \$36,014,000 and average savings deposits decreased \$18,396,000.

Interest expense on short-term borrowings in 2023 was \$3,240,000 as compared to \$429,000 in 2022 as the average balance of short-term borrowings increased to \$62,926,000 in 2023 from \$21,766,000 in 2022. The average rate on short-term borrowings was 5.15% in 2023 compared to 1.97% in 2022.

Interest expense on long-term borrowings (FHLB advances) increased \$3,334,000 to \$4,230,000 in 2023 from \$896,000 in 2022. The average balance of long-term borrowings was \$110,943,000 in 2023, up from an average balance of \$40,194,000 in 2022. Borrowings are classified as long-term within the Tables based on their term at origination or assumption in business combinations. The average rate on long-term borrowings was 3.81% in 2023 compared to 2.23% in 2022.

Interest expense on subordinated debt decreased \$157,000 to \$922,000 in 2023 from \$1,079,000 in 2022. The average balance of subordinated debt decreased to \$24,662,000 in 2023 from \$27,116,000 in 2022 and the average rate on subordinated debt decreased to 3.74% in 2023 from 3.98% in 2022 reflecting the repayment of subordinated debt assumed in an acquisition of \$8,500,000 in the second quarter 2022.

TABLE I - ANALYSIS OF INTEREST INCOME AND EXPENSE

	Year Ended December 31,							Increase/((Decrease)	
(In Thousands)	_	2024		2023		2022	2	024/2023	20	023/2022
INTEREST INCOME										
Interest-bearing due from banks	\$	4,307	\$	1,379	\$	645	\$	2,928	\$	734
Available-for-sale debt securities:										
Taxable		8,593		8,555		8,360		38		195
Tax-exempt		2,531		2,815		3,721		(284)		(906)
Total available-for-sale debt securities		11,124		11,370		12,081		(246)		(711)
Loans receivable:										
Taxable	1	10,396		98,854		78,599		11,542		20,255
Tax-exempt		2,944		2,756		2,471		188		285
Total loans receivable	1	13,340		101,610		81,070	-	11,730	-	20,540
Other earning assets		126		64		77		62		(13)
Total Interest Income	1	28,897		114,423		93,873		14,474		20,550
INTEREST EXPENSE										
Interest-bearing deposits:										
Interest checking		12,151		7,668		1,833		4,483		5,835
Money market		8,589		5,686		2,088		2,903		3,598
Savings		207		243		257		(36)		(14)
Time deposits		18,253		10,636		2,460		7,617		8,176
Total interest-bearing deposits		39,200		24,233		6,638		14,967		17,595
Borrowed funds:										
Short-term		1,168		3,240		429		(2,072)		2,811
Long-term - FHLB advances		7,188		4,230		896		2,958		3,334
Senior notes, net		481		479		477		2		2
Subordinated debt, net		926		922		1,079		4		(157)
Total borrowed funds		9,763		8,871		2,881	-	892	-	5,990
Total Interest Expense		48,963		33,104		9,519		15,859		23,585
-									_	
Net Interest Income	\$	79,934	\$	81,319	\$	84,354	\$	(1,385)	\$	(3,035)

(1) Interest income from tax-exempt securities and loans has been adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis (a non-GAAP measure), using the Corporation's marginal federal income tax rate of 21%.

(2) Fees on loans are included with interest on loans and amounted to \$1,927,000 in 2024, \$1,856,000 in 2023 and \$2,958,000 in 2022.

(3) The table that follows is a reconciliation of net interest income under U.S. GAAP as compared to net interest income as adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent basis.

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)			Y	ear Ended							
		December 31,						Increase/(Decrease)			
	2024 2023 2022		2022	2024/2023		2023/2022					
Net Interest Income Under U.S. GAAP	\$	79,115	\$	80,400	\$	83,128	\$	(1,285)	\$	(2,728)	
Add: fully taxable-equivalent interest income adjustment from											
tax-exempt securities		271		388		720		(117)		(332)	
Add: fully taxable-equivalent interest income adjustment from											
tax-exempt loans		548		531		506		17		25	
Net Interest Income as adjusted to a fully taxable-equivalent											
basis	\$	79,934	\$	81,319	\$	84,354	\$	(1,385)	\$	(3,035)	

TABLE II - ANALYSIS OF AVERAGE DAILY BALANCES AND RATES

(Dollars In Thousands)	Year Ended 12/31/2024 Average Balance	Rate of Return/ Cost of Funds%	Year Ended 12/31/2023 Average Balance	Rate of Return/ Cost of Funds%	Year Ended 12/31/2022 Average Balance	Rate of Return/ Cost of Funds%
EARNING ASSETS						
Interest-bearing due from banks	\$ 86,703	4.97 %	\$ 32,709	4.22 %	\$ 51,407	1.25 %
Available-for-sale debt securities, at amortized cost:						
Taxable	340,339	2.52 %	389,456	2.20 %	410,033	2.04 %
Tax-exempt	113,121	2.24 %	125,920	2.24 %	148,344	2.51 %
Total available-for-sale debt securities	453,460	2.45 %	515,376	2.21 %	558,377	2.16 %
Loans receivable:						
Taxable	1,791,187	6.16 %	1,703,839	5.80 %	1,541,823	5.04 %
Tax-exempt	89,935	3.27 %	88,310	3.12 %	86,271	2.86 %
Total loans receivable	1,881,122	6.03 %	1,792,149	5.67 %	1,628,094	4.98 %
Other earning assets	2,198	5.73 %	1,383	4.63 %	2,321	3.32 %
Total Earning Assets	2,423,483	5.32 %	2,341,617	4.89 %	2,240,199	4.19 %
Cash	22,209		22,108		22,685	
Unrealized loss on securities	(49,520)		(63,118)		(38,784)	
Allowance for credit losses	(20,294)		(18,498)		(14,962)	
Bank-owned life insurance	51,465		31,808		30,925	
Bank premises and equipment	21,765		21,330		21,559	
Intangible assets	54,778		55,176		55,599	
Other assets	79,220		72,433		55,567	
Total Assets	\$ 2,583,106		\$ 2,462,856		\$ 2,372,788	
INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES Interest-bearing deposits:						
Interest checking	\$ 537,233	2.26 %	\$ 488,761	1.57 %	\$ 443,107	0.41 %
Money market	358,274	2.40 %	347,130	1.64 %	443,084	0.41 %
Savings	203,129	0.10 %	238,760	0.10 %	257,156	0.10 %
Time deposits	465,882	3.92 %	381,488	2.79 %	285,264	0.10 %
Total interest-bearing deposits	1,564,518	2.51 %	1,456,139	1.66 %	1,428,611	0.46 %
Borrowed funds:	1,304,318	2.31 /0	1,450,159	1.00 /0	1,420,011	0.40 /0
Short-term	22,743	5.14 %	62,926	5.15 %	21.766	1.97 %
Long-term - FHLB advances	167,181	4.30 %	110,943	3.81 %	40,194	2.23 %
Senior notes, net	14,865	3.24 %	14,798	3.24 %	14,733	3.24 %
Subordinated debt. net	24,774	3.74 %	24,662	3.74 %	27,116	3.98 %
Total borrowed funds	229,563	4.25 %	213,329	4.16 %	103,809	2.78 %
Total Interest-bearing Liabilities.	1,794,081	2.73 %	1,669,468	1.98 %	1.532,420	0.62 %
Demand deposits	493,052	2.13 /0	515,787	1.90 /0	551,801	0.02 /0
Other liabilities	30,089		29,107		23,474	
Total Liabilities	2,317,222		2,214,362		2,107,695	
Stockholders' equity, excluding accumulated other comprehensive loss	304,532		297,894		295.447	
Accumulated other comprehensive loss	(38,648)		(49,400)		(30,354)	
					265,093	
Total Stockholders' Equity	265,884		248,494			
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity	\$ 2,583,106		\$ 2,462,856		\$ 2,372,788	
Interest Rate Spread		2.59 %		2.91 %		3.57 %
Net Interest Income/Earning Assets		3.30 %		3.47 %		3.77 %
Total Deposits (Interest-bearing and Demand)	\$ 2,057,570		\$ 1,971,926		\$ 1,980,412	

(1) Rates of return on tax-exempt securities and loans are presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis, using the Corporation's marginal federal income tax rate of 21%.

(2) Nonaccrual loans have been included with loans for the purpose of analyzing net interest earnings.

TABLE III - ANALYSIS OF VOLUME AND RATE CHANGES

(In Thousands)									
	Change in	Change in	Total	Change in	Change in	Total			
EARNING ASSETS	Volume	Rate	Change	Volume	Rate	Change			
Interest-bearing due from banks	\$ 2,642	\$ 286	\$ 2,928	\$ (309)	\$ 1,043	\$ 734			
Available-for-sale debt securities:	\$ 2,012	¢ 200	\$ 2,920	\$ (30))	φ 1,015	φ ,51			
Taxable	(1,153)	1,191	38	(433)	628	195			
Tax-exempt	(286)	2	(284)	(527)	(379)	(906)			
Total available-for-sale debt securities	(1,439)	1,193	(246)	(960)	249	(711)			
Loans receivable:	(1,12)								
Taxable	5,209	6,333	11,542	8,451	11,804	20,255			
Tax-exempt	52	136	188	59	226	285			
Total loans receivable	5,261	6,469	11,730	8,510	12,030	20,540			
Other earning assets	44	18	62	(37)	24	(13)			
Total Interest Income	6,508	7,966	14,474	7,204	13,346	20,550			
INTEREST-BEARING LIABILITIES									
Interest-bearing deposits:									
Interest checking	822	3,661	4,483	208	5,627	5,835			
Money market	188	2,715	2,903	(542)	4,140	3,598			
Savings	(36)	0	(36)	(14)	0	(14)			
Time deposits	2,690	4,927	7,617	1,073	7,103	8,176			
Total interest-bearing deposits	3,664	11,303	14,967	725	16,870	17,595			
Borrowed funds:									
Short-term	(2,064)	(8)	(2,072)	1,517	1,294	2,811			
Long-term - FHLB advances	2,363	595	2,958	2,375	959	3,334			
Senior notes, net	2	0	2	2	0	2			
Subordinated debt, net	4	0	4	(94)	(63)	(157)			
Total borrowed funds	305	587	892	3,800	2,190	5,990			
Total Interest Expense	3,969	11,890	15,859	4,525	19,060	23,585			
Net Interest Income	\$ 2,539	\$ (3,924)	\$ (1,385)	\$ 2,679	\$ (5,714)	\$ (3,035)			

(1) Changes in income on tax-exempt securities and loans are presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis, using the Corporation's marginal federal income tax rate of 21%.

(2) The change in interest due to both volume and rates has been allocated to volume and rate changes in proportion to the relationship of the absolute dollar amounts of the change in each.

NONINTEREST INCOME

TABLE IV - COMPARISON OF NONINTEREST INCOME

(Dollars in Thousands)		Year Decem	Ende		\$	%			
	2024			2023		2023		Change	Change
Trust revenue	\$	7,928	\$	7,413	\$	515	6.9 %		
Brokerage and insurance revenue		2,271		1,675		596	35.6 %		
Service charges on deposit accounts		5,867		5,567		300	5.4 %		
Interchange revenue from debit card transactions		4,276		4,160		116	2.8 %		
Net gains from sales of loans		1,158		723		435	60.2 %		
Loan servicing fees, net		649		602		47	7.8 %		
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance		1,830		2,703		(873)	(32.3)%		
Other noninterest income		5,230		4,610		620	13.4 %		
Realized (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities, net		0	_	(3,036)		3,036	<u>N/M</u> %		
Total noninterest income	\$	29,209	\$	24,417	\$	4,792	19.6 %		

(Dollars in Thousands)	Year Ended December 31,					\$	%
		2023		2022		Change	Change
Trust revenue	\$	7,413	\$	6,994	\$	419	6.0 %
Brokerage and insurance revenue		1,675		2,291		(616)	(26.9)%
Service charges on deposit accounts		5,567		5,019		548	10.9 %
Interchange revenue from debit card transactions		4,160		4,148		12	0.3 %
Net gains from sales of loans		723		757		(34)	(4.5)%
Loan servicing fees, net		602		960		(358)	(37.3)%
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance		2,703		545		2,158	396.0 %
Other noninterest income		4,610		3,698		912	24.7 %
Realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net		(3,036)		20		(3,056)	<u>N/M</u> %
Total noninterest income	\$	24,417	\$	24,432	\$	(15)	(0.1)%

(1) N/M Not Meaningful

NONINTEREST EXPENSE

TABLE V - COMPARISON OF NONINTEREST EXPENSE

(Dollars in Thousands)	Year Decem	Ende ber 3			\$	%
	 2024		2023	(Change	Change
Salaries and employee benefits	\$ 44,930	\$	44,195	\$	735	1.7 %
Net occupancy and equipment expense	5,473		5,357		116	2.2 %
Data processing and telecommunications expense	7,768		7,582		186	2.5 %
Automated teller machine and interchange expense	1,818		1,682		136	8.1 %
Pennsylvania shares tax	1,733		1,602		131	8.2 %
Professional fees	2,175		2,497		(322)	(12.9)%
Other noninterest expense	10,361		11,233		(872)	(7.8)%
Total noninterest expense	\$ 74,258	\$	74,148	\$	110	0.1 %

(Dollars in Thousands)	Year Ended December 31,					\$	%
	2023			2022	Change		Change
Salaries and employee benefits	\$	44,195	\$	41,833	\$	2,362	5.6 %
Net occupancy and equipment expense		5,357		5,533		(176)	(3.2)%
Data processing and telecommunications expense		7,582		6,806		776	11.4 %
Automated teller machine and interchange expense		1,682		1,601		81	5.1 %
Pennsylvania shares tax		1,602		1,956		(354)	(18.1)%
Professional fees		2,497		2,005		492	24.5 %
Other noninterest expense		11,233		8,221		3,012	36.6 %
Total noninterest expense	\$	74,148	\$	67,955	\$	6,193	9.1 %

Additional detailed information concerning fluctuations in the Corporation's earnings results and other financial information are provided in other sections of Management's Discussion and Analysis.

INCOME TAXES

The effective income tax rate was 18.6% of pre-tax income in 2024, down from 20.8% in 2023 and up from 17.7% in 2022. Tax-exempt interest income and income from BOLI contributed to the effective rate being lower than the federal statutory rate in 2022 through 2024. The higher effective income tax rate in 2023 included the net impact of a tax charge of \$950,000 for the initiated surrender of BOLI.

The Corporation recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities based on differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities. At December 31, 2024, the net deferred tax asset was \$19,098,000, up from the balance at December 31, 2023 of \$17,441,000. The most significant change in temporary difference components among those periods was a decrease in the net deferred tax liabilities of \$950,000 related to a tax charge for the surrender of BOLI in 2023.

The Corporation regularly reviews deferred tax assets for recoverability based on history of earnings, expectations for future earnings and expected timing of reversals of temporary differences. Realization of deferred tax assets ultimately depends on the existence of sufficient taxable income, including taxable income in prior carryback years, as well as future taxable income. Further, the value of the benefit from realization of deferred tax assets would be impacted if income tax rates were changed from currently enacted levels.

Management believes the recorded net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2024 is fully realizable; however, if management determines the Corporation will be unable to realize all or part of the net deferred tax asset, the Corporation would adjust the deferred tax asset, which would negatively impact earnings.

Additional information related to income taxes is presented in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

SECURITIES

Management continually evaluates several objectives in determining the size, securities mix and other characteristics of the availablefor-sale debt securities (investment) portfolio. Key objectives include supporting liquidity needs and maximizing return on earning assets within reasonable risk parameters.

Table VI shows the composition of the available-for-sale debt securities portfolio at December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022. The total amortized cost of available-for-sale debt securities at December 31, 2024 was lower by \$15,045,000 from December 31, 2023 and by \$111,871,000 from December 31, 2022. Proceeds from maturities and sales of securities over the past three years have been used to help fund loan growth and for other purposes.

At December 31, 2024, the largest categories of securities held as a percentage of total amortized cost, were as follows: (1) tax-exempt and taxable municipal bonds, 36.3%; (2) residential mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies or sponsored agencies, including pass-through securities and collateralized mortgage obligations, 35.1%; and (3) commercial mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government sponsored agencies, 16.3%.

The composition of the available-for-sale debt securities portfolio at December 31, 2024, December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 is as follows:

TABLE VI - INVESTMENT SECURITIES

	2024		20)23	20	022
	Amortized	Fair	Amortized	Fair	Amortized	Fair
(In Thousands)	Cost	Value	Cost	Value	Cost	Value
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT SECURITIES:						
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 8,067	\$ 7,118	\$ 12,325	\$ 11,290	\$ 35,166	\$ 31,836
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	10,154	9,025	11,119	9,946	25,938	23,430
Bank holding company debt securities	28,958	25,246	28,952	23,500	28,945	25,386
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:						
Tax-exempt	111,995	101,302	113,464	104,199	146,149	132,623
Taxable	51,147	42,506	58,720	50,111	68,488	56,812
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.						
Government agencies or sponsored agencies:						
Residential pass-through securities	104,378	94,414	105,549	95,405	112,782	99,941
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations	53,389	49,894	50,212	46,462	44,868	40,296
Commercial mortgage-backed securities	73,470	64,501	76,412	66,682	91,388	79,686
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities	8,365	8,374	8,215	8,160	8,070	8,023
Total Available-for-Sale Debt Securities	\$ 449,923	\$ 402,380	\$ 464,968	\$ 415,755	\$ 561,794	\$ 498,033
Aggregate Unrealized Loss		\$ (47,543)		\$ (49,213)		\$ (63,761)
Aggregate Unrealized Loss as a % of Amortized Cost		(10.6)%	1/0	(10.6)	%	(11.3)%
Market Yield on 5-Year U.S. Treasury Obligations (a)		4.38 %	/0	3.84 9	%	3.99 %

(a) Source: Treasury.gov (Daily Treasury Par Yield Curve Rates)

As reflected in the table above, the fair value of available-for-sale securities was lower than the amortized cost basis by \$47,543,000, or 10.6% at December 31, 2024, \$49,213,000 or 10.6% at December 31, 2023 and \$63,761,000 or 11.3% at December 31, 2022. The volatility in the fair value of the portfolio, including the significant reduction in fair value, resulted from changes in interest rates. As shown above, the market yield on the 5-year U.S. Treasury Note was 0.54% higher at December 31, 2024 in comparison to December 31, 2023, and 0.39% higher than at December 31, 2022.

Additional information regarding the potential impact of interest rate changes on all of the Corporation's financial instruments is provided in Item 7A, Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

As described in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements, management determined the Corporation does not have the intent to sell, nor is it more likely than not that it will be required to sell, available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024 before it is able to recover the amortized cost basis. Further, management reviewed the Corporation's holdings as of December 31, 2024 and concluded there were no credit-related declines in fair value. Additional information related to the types of securities held at December 31, 2024, other than securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government entities or agencies, is as follows:

- Bank holding company debt securities All of the Corporation's holdings of bank holding company debt securities were investment grade and there have been no payment defaults. There were seven securities with face amounts ranging from \$3 million to \$5 million, including one senior security and six subordinated securities. All of the issuers have publicly traded common stock. At December 31, 2024, the securities have external ratings ranging from BBB-/Baa3 to A-.
- Obligations of states and political subdivisions (municipal bonds) All of the Corporation's holdings of municipal bonds were investment grade and there have been no payment defaults. Summary ratings information at December 31, 2024, based on the amortized cost basis and reflecting the lowest enhanced or underlying rating by Moody's, Standard & Poors or Fitch, is as follows: AAA or pre-refunded 20% of the portfolio; AA 74%; A 6%.

• Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities (PLCMBS) – There were two PLCMBS securities, both of which were from the most senior payment (subordination) classes of their respective issuances. These securities were investment grade (rated Aaa), and there have been no payment defaults on these securities.

Based on the results of management's assessment, there was no ACL required on available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024.

The following table presents the contractual maturities and the weighted-average yields (calculated based on amortized cost) of investment securities as of December 31, 2024. Yields on tax-exempt securities are presented on a fully taxable-equivalent basis. For callable securities, yields on securities purchased at a discount are based on yield-to-maturity, while yields on securities purchased at a premium are based on yield to the first call date. Yields on mortgage-backed securities are estimated and include the effects of prepayment assumptions. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because counterparties may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

	Within One		One- Five		Five- Ten		After Ten			
(Dollars In Thousands)	Year	Yield	Years	Yield	Years	Yield	Years	Yield	Total	Yield
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT										
SECURITIES:										
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 0	0.00 %	\$ 5,115	1.29 %	\$ 2,952	1.57 %	\$ 0	0.00 % 5	\$ 8,067	1.39 %
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	6,875	2.24 %	3,279	3.44 %	10,154	2.63 %
Bank holding company debt securities	0	0.00 %	0	0.00 %	28,958	3.47 %	0	0.00 %	28,958	3.47 %
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:										
Tax-exempt	4,731	2.22 %	13,837	2.70 %	27,729	2.83 %	65,698	2.36 %	111,995	2.51 %
Taxable	565	3.59 %	14,488	1.87 %	12,152	2.66 %	23,942	2.41 %	51,147	2.33 %
Sub-total	\$ 5,296	2.37 %	\$ 33,440	2.13 %	\$ 78,666	2.94 %	\$ 92,919	2.41 % 5	\$ 210,321	2.56 %
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed										
by U.S. Government agencies or sponsored										
agencies:										
Residential pass-through securities									104,378	2.59 %
Residential collateralized mortgage										
obligations									53,389	3.38 %
Commercial mortgage-backed securities									73,470	2.01 %
Private label commercial mortgage-backed										
securities								_	8,365	5.44 %
Total								S	\$ 449,923	2.63 %

The Corporation's mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations have stated maturities that may differ from actual maturities due to borrowers' ability to prepay obligations. Cash flows from such investments are dependent upon the performance of the underlying mortgage loans and are generally influenced by the level of interest rates. As rates increase, cash flows generally decrease as prepayments on the underlying mortgage loans decrease. As rates decrease, cash flows generally increase as prepayments increase due to increased refinance activity and other factors. In the table above, the entire balances and weighted-average rates for mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations are shown in one period.

FINANCIAL CONDITION

This section includes information regarding the Corporation's lending activities or other significant changes or exposures that are not otherwise addressed in Management's Discussion and Analysis. Significant changes in the average balances of the Corporation's earning assets and interest-bearing liabilities are described in the Net Interest Income section of Management's Discussion and Analysis. Other significant balance sheet items, including securities, the allowance for credit losses for loans and stockholders' equity, are discussed in separate sections of Management's Discussion and Analysis. There are no significant concerns that have arisen related to the Corporation's off-balance sheet loan commitments or outstanding letters of credit at December 31, 2024.

Table VII shows the composition of the loan portfolio at year-end from 2020 through 2024. Throughout this time period, the portfolio was primarily commercial in nature. At December 31, 2024, commercial loans represented 75% of the portfolio while residential loans totaled 22% of the portfolio.

As presented in Table VII, total loans outstanding at December 31, 2024 were \$1,895,848,000 which is an increase of \$47,709,000 (2.6%) from total loans at December 31, 2023. In comparing outstanding balances at December 31, 2024 and 2023, total commercial

loans were up \$49,632,000 (3.6%), reflecting growth in owner occupied commercial real estate loans of \$23,825,000, other commercial loans of \$23,584,000 and non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans of \$2,223,000. Within non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans, multi-family residential loans increased \$41,098,000 reflecting the completion of several Corporation-financed construction projects in 2024. Total outstanding residential mortgage loans were down \$5,705,000 (1.4%), and total consumer loans increased \$3,782,000 (6.3%).

Also included in Table VII is additional detail regarding the composition of the non-owner occupied commercial real estate loan portfolio at December 31, 2024. The data in Table VII shows the amortized cost in non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans for which the primary purpose is utilization of office space by third parties was \$102,831,000, or 5.4% of gross loans receivable. At December 31, 2024, within this segment there were two loans with a total amortized cost of \$3,147,000 in nonaccrual status with no specific allowances. During the third quarter 2024, there was a partial charge-off of \$640,000 on one of the office loans in nonaccrual status. The charge-off resulted from a decrease in the appraised value of property which is the primary source of collateral. At December 31, 2024, the carrying value of this loan was \$1,814,000. The remainder of the non-owner occupied commercial real estate loans with a primary purpose of office space utilization were in accrual status with no specific allowance at December 31, 2024.

While the Corporation's lending activities are primarily concentrated in its market areas, a portion of the Corporation's commercial loan segment consists of participation loans. Participation loans represent portions of larger commercial transactions for which other institutions are the "lead banks". Although not the lead bank, the Corporation conducts detailed underwriting and monitoring of participation loan opportunities. Participation loans are included in the "Commercial and industrial", "Commercial loans secured by real estate", "Political subdivisions" and "Other commercial" classes in the loan tables presented in this Form 10-K. Total participation loans outstanding amounted to \$35,129,000 at December 31, 2024, down from \$38,652,000 at December 31, 2023.

The Corporation originates and sells residential mortgage loans to the secondary market through the MPF Xtra program administered by the Federal Home Loan Banks of Pittsburgh and Chicago. Residential mortgages originated and sold through the MPF Xtra program consist primarily of conforming, prime loans sold to the Federal National Mortgage Association (Fannie Mae), a quasi-government entity. The Corporation also originates and sells residential mortgage loans to the secondary market through the MPF Original program, administered by the Federal Home Loan Banks of Pittsburgh and Chicago. Residential mortgages originated and sold through the MPF Original program, administered by the Federal Home Loan Banks of Pittsburgh and Chicago. Residential mortgages originated and sold through the MPF Original program consist primarily of conforming, prime loans sold to the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh. The Corporation also may originate and sell larger-balance, nonconforming mortgages under the MPF Direct Program. The Corporation does not retain servicing rights for loans sold under the MPF Direct Program. Through December 31, 2024, the Corporation's activity under the MPF Direct Program has been minimal.

For loan sales originated under the MPF programs, the Corporation provides customary representations and warranties to investors that specify, among other things, that the loans have been underwritten to the standards established by the investor. The Corporation may be required to repurchase a loan and reimburse a portion of fees received or reimburse the investor for a credit loss incurred on a loan, if it is determined that the representations and warranties have not been met. Such repurchases or reimbursements generally result from an underwriting or documentation deficiency. At December 31, 2024, the total outstanding balance of loans the Corporation has repurchased as a result of identified instances of noncompliance amounted to \$2,671,000.

At December 31, 2024, outstanding balances of loans sold and serviced through the MPF Xtra and Original programs totaled \$329, 766,000, including loans sold through the MPF Xtra program of \$158,302,000 and loans sold through the Original program of \$171,464,000. Based on the fairly limited volume of required repurchases to date, no allowance has been established for representation and warranty exposures as of December 31, 2024.

TABLE VII – Five-Year Summary of Loans by Type

(Dollars In Thousands)	2024	%	2023	%	2022	%	2021	%	2020	%
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied:	2024		2025		2022		2021		2020	
Non-owner occupied	\$ 471,171	24.9 \$	499,104	27.0	\$ 454,386	26.1	\$ 358,352	22.9	\$ 328,662	20.0
Multi-family (5 or more) residential	105,174	5.5	64,076	3.5	55,406	3.2	49,054	3.1	54,893	3.3
1-4 Family - commercial purpose	163,220	8.6	174,162	9.4	165,805	9.5	175,027	11.2	198,918	12.1
Total commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	739,565	39.0	737,342	39.9	675,597	38.8	582,433	37.2	582,473	35.4
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	261,071	13.8	237,246	12.8	205,910	11.8	196,083	12.5	191,075	11.6
All other commercial loans:										
Commercial and industrial	96,665	5.1	78,832	4.3	95,368	5.5	118,488	7.6	222,923	13.6
Commercial lines of credit	120,078	6.3	117,236	6.3	141,444	8.1	106,338	6.8	105,802	6.4
Political subdivisions	94,009	5.0	79,031	4.3	86,663	5.0	75,401	4.8	46,295	2.8
Commercial construction and land	92,741	4.9	104,123	5.6	60,892	3.5	59,505	3.8	41,000	2.5
Other commercial loans	19,784	1.0	20,471	1.2	25,710	1.5	26,498	1.8	29,310	1.9
Total all other commercial loans	423,277	22.3	399,693	21.7	410,077	23.6	386,230	24.8	445,330	27.2
Residential mortgage loans:										
1-4 Family - residential	383,797	20.2	389,262	21.1	363,005	20.9	327,593	20.9	356,532	21.7
1-4 Family residential construction	24,212	1.3	24,452	1.3	30,577	1.8	23,151	1.5	18,736	1.1
Total residential mortgage	408,009	21.5	413,714	22.4	393,582	22.7	350,744	22.4	375,268	22.8
Consumer loans:										
Consumer lines of credit (including HELOCs)	47,196	2.5	41,503	2.2	36,650	2.1	33,522	2.1	34,566	2.1
All other consumer	16,730	0.9	18,641	1.0	18,224	1.0	15,837	1.0	15,497	0.9
Total consumer	63,926	3.4	60,144	3.2	54,874	3.1	49,359	3.1	50,063	3.0
Total	1,895,848	100.0	1,848,139	100.0	1,740,040	100.0	1,564,849	100.0	1,644,209	100.0
Less: allowance for credit losses on loans	(20,035)		(19,208)		(16,615)		(13,537)		(11,385)	
Loans, net	\$ 1,875,813	\$	1,828,931		\$ 1,723,425		\$ 1,551,312		\$ 1,632,824	

Additional details regarding the composition of the non-owner occupied commercial real estate loan portfolio at December 31, 2024 is as follows:

(In Thousands)	D	ecember 31,	% of Non-owner	% of
		2024	Occupied CRE	Total Loans
Office	\$	102,831	21.8 %	5.4 %
Retail		96,142	20.4 %	5.1 %
Industrial		79,839	16.9 %	4.2 %
Hotels		70,229	14.9 %	3.7 %
Mixed Use		60,837	12.9 %	3.2 %
Other		61,293	13.0 %	3.2 %
Total Non-owner Occupied CRE Loans	\$	471,171		
Total Gross Loans	\$	1,895,848		

TABLE VIII – LOAN MATURITY DISTRIBUTION

	As of December 31, 2024										
		Fixed	l-Rate Lo	ans		Vari	able- or A	djustable-	Rate Lo	oans	All Loans
	1 Year	1-5	>5-15	>15		1 Year	1-5	>5-15	>15		
(In Thousands)	or Less	Years	Years	Years	Total	or Less	Years	Years	Years	Total	Total
Commercial Real Estate- Nonowner Occupied:											
Non-owner occupied	\$ 19,319	\$202,763 \$	11,483	\$ 9	\$233,574	\$ 80,396 \$	\$ 154,149 \$	3,052 5	\$ 0\$	237,597	\$ 471,171
Multi-family (5 or more) residential	7,335	18,009	2,419	678	28,441	22,578	54,155	0	0	76,733	105,174
1-4 Family - commercial purpose	8,245	45,212	12,347	94	65,898	10,228	86,931	163	0	97,322	163,220
Total commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	34,899	265,984	26,249	781	327,913	113,202	295,235	3,215	0	411,652	739,565
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	10,073	81,204	24,696	410	116,382	28,786	115,903	0	0	144,689	261,071
All other commercial loans:											
Commercial and industrial	1,828	47,387	14,186	464	63,865	12,950	19,248	602	0	32,800	96,665
Commercial lines of credit	5,539	74	764	0	6,377	113,627	74	0	0	113,701	120,078
Political subdivisions	7,206	15,636	47,035	7,763	77,640	0	6,380	9,989	0	16,369	94,009
Commercial construction and land	6,712	24,838	658	0	32,208	56,420	4,113	0	0	60,533	92,741
Other commercial loans	277	5,283	1,918	87	7,565	4,283	7,936	0	0	12,219	19,784
Total all other commercial loans	21,562	93,218	64,561	8,314	187,655	187,280	37,751	10,591	0	235,622	423,277
Residential mortgage loans:											
1-4 Family - residential	1,232	5,807	88,293	52,103	147,435	18,796	66,055	151,511	0	236,362	383,797
1-4 Family residential construction	163	811	5,553	2,448	8,975	0	0	15,237	0	15,237	24,212
Total residential mortgage	1,395	6,618	93,846	54,551	156,410	18,796	66,055	166,748	0	251,599	408,009
Consumer loans:											
Consumer lines of credit (including HELOCs)	321	0	0	1	322	46,874	0	0	0	46,874	47,196
All other consumer	1,003	9,864	1,920	0	12,787	3,943	0	0	0	3,943	16,730
Total consumer	1,324	9,864	1,920	1	13,109	50,817	0	0	0	50,817	63,926
Total	\$ 69,253	\$456,888 \$	211,272	\$ 64,057	\$801,469	\$ 398,881 5	\$514,944 \$	5 180,554 5	\$ 0 \$	1,094,379	\$1,895,848

PROVISION AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

A summary of the provision for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, is as follows:

(In Thousands)	E Dece	Year Ended December 31, 2024		Year Ended ember 31, 2023
Provision for credit losses:				
Loans receivable	\$	2,430	\$	753
Off-balance sheet exposures		(235)		(567)
Total provision for credit losses	\$	2,195	\$	186

For the year ended December 31, 2024, there was a provision for credit losses of \$2,195,000, an increase of \$2,009,000 in expense compared to a provision for loan losses of \$186,000 in 2023. The provision for 2024 included expense related to loans receivable of \$2,430,000 and a credit related to off-balance sheet exposures of \$235,000. The expense related to loans receivable included a net increase in the ACL related to qualitative factors, partially offset by a decrease in total specific allowances on individual loans and decreases in other components of the ACL. The ACL increased \$827,000 to 1.06% as a percentage of gross loans receivable at December 31, 204 as compared to 1.04% at December 31, 2023.

As shown in Table X, the ACL on loans individually evaluated decreased to \$122,000 at December 31, 2024 from \$743,000 at December 31, 2023, primarily from partial charge-offs on two loans with individual ACLs at December 31, 2023. In the third quarter 2024, there was a partial charge-off of \$640,000 on a non-owner occupied commercial real estate office loan with a specific allowance of \$486,000 at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, the carrying value of this loan was \$1,814,000 with no specific allowance on the loan. In the second quarter 2024, there was a partial charge-off of \$124,000 at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, there was no a non-owner occupied commercial real estate loan for which there was an ACL of \$124,000 at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, there was no ACL on the loan and the carrying value of the loan was \$3,276,000. At December 31, 2024, there was one commercial relationship with loans receivable totaling \$258,000 for which an individual ACL was recorded.

Table X also shows that, at December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023, the ACL related to collectively evaluated commercial loans increased by a total of \$1,746,000 and the ACL on collectively evaluated consumer loans increased \$110,000, while the ACL on collectively evaluated residential mortgage loans decreased \$408,000. The increase for commercial loans includes the impact of an increase in qualitative adjustments resulting mainly from changes in external indexes and an increase in past due and nonaccrual loans.

In 2024, net charge-offs totaled \$1,603,000, or 0.09% of average outstanding loans. In addition to the two charge-offs described above, in the third quarter 2024 there was a partial charge-off of \$427,000 on two commercial construction and land loans to one borrower with no specific ACL at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, the carrying value of these loans totaled \$1,883,000 with no specific allowance on the loans. Table IX shows annual average net charge-off rates ranging from a high of 0.26% in 2022 to a low of 0.01% in 2023. Table XII shows that over the five-year period ended December 31, 2024, the average net-charge off rate was 0.12%.

Table XI shows that total nonperforming assets as a percentage of total assets was 0.92% at December 31, 2024, up from 0.75% at December 31, 2023 but lower than that at year-end 2020 through 2022. Total nonperforming assets were \$24.1 million at December 31, 2024, up from \$18.8 million at December 31, 2023. Similarly, total loans individually evaluated for credit loss increased to \$19.1 million at December 31, 2024 from \$11.3 million at December 31, 2023. The net increase in nonperforming assets at December 31, 2024 compared to December 31, 2023 included the impact of classifying commercial construction and land loans to two borrowers with carrying balances totaling \$6.7 million at December 31, 2024 as nonaccrual. Based on management's assessment, there was no specific ACL on these loans at December 31, 2024.

Over the period 2020-2024, each period includes a few large commercial relationships that have required significant monitoring and workout efforts. As a result, a limited number of relationships may significantly impact the total amount of allowance required on individual loans and may significantly impact the provision for credit losses and the amount of total charge-offs reported in any one period.

Management believes it has been prudent in its decisions concerning identification of loans requiring individual evaluation for credit loss, estimates of loss, and nonaccrual status; however, the actual losses realized from these relationships could vary materially from the ACL calculated as of December 31, 2024. Management continues to closely monitor its commercial loan relationships for credit losses and will adjust its estimates of loss and decisions concerning nonaccrual status, if appropriate.

Tables IX through XII present historical data related to loans and the allowance for credit losses.

TABLE IX - ANALYSIS OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES ON LOANS

(Dollars In Thousands)

	Years Ended December 31,						
	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020		
Balance, beginning of year	\$ 19,208	\$ 16,615	\$ 13,537	\$ 11,385	\$ 9,836		
Adoption of ASU 2016-13 (CECL)	0	2,104	0	0	0		
Charge-offs	(1,716)	(356)	(4,245)	(1,575)	(2,465)		
Recoveries	113	92	68	66	101		
Net charge-offs	(1,603)	(264)	(4,177)	(1,509)	(2,364)		
Provision for credit losses on loans	2,430	753	7,255	3,661	3,913		
Balance, end of year	\$ 20,035	\$ 19,208	\$ 16,615	\$ 13,537	\$ 11,385		
Net charge-offs as a % of average loans	0.09 %	0.01 %	0.26 %	0.09 %	0.16 %		

TABLE X - COMPONENTS OF THE ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

UPON ADOPTION OF CECL

(In Thousands)	Dec	December 31, 2024		December 31, 2023		anuary 1, 2023
Loans individually evaluated	\$	122	\$	743	\$	751
Loans collectively evaluated:						
Commercial real estate - nonowner occupied		11,964		10,379		9,641
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		2,722		2,111		1,765
All other commercial loans		3,361		3,811		3,914
Residential mortgage		1,356		1,764		2,407
Consumer		510		400		241
Total Allowance	\$	20,035	\$	19,208	\$	18,719

PRIOR TO CECL ADOPTION

(In Thousands)	As of December 31,					
	2022			2021		2020
ASC 310 - Impaired loans - individually evaluated	\$	453	\$	740	\$	925
ASC 450 - Collectively evaluated:						
Commercial		10,845		7,553		5,545
Residential mortgage		4,073		4,338		4,091
Consumer		244		235		239
Unallocated		1,000		671		585
Total Allowance	\$	16,615	\$	13,537	\$	11,385

TABLE XI - PAST DUE AND NONPERFORMING ASSETS

(Dollars In Thousands)	As of December 31,								
	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020				
Loans individually evaluated with a valuation allowance	\$ 258	\$ 7,786	\$ 3,460	\$ 6,540	\$ 8,082				
Loans individually evaluated without a valuation allowance	18,843	3,478	14,871	2,636	2,895				
Purchased credit impaired loans	0	0	1,027	6,558	6,841				
Total individually evaluated loans	\$ 19,101	\$ 11,264	\$ 19,358	\$ 15,734	\$ 17,818				
Total loans past due 30-89 days and still accruing	\$ 5,658	\$ 9,275	\$ 7,079	\$ 5,106	\$ 5,918				
Nonperforming assets:									
Purchased credit impaired loans	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 1,027	\$ 6,558	\$ 6,841				
Other nonaccrual loans	23,842	15,177	22,058	12,441	14,575				
Total nonaccrual loans	23,842	15,177	23,085	18,999	21,416				
Total loans past due 90 days or more and still accruing	119	3,190	2,237	2,219	1,975				
Total nonperforming loans	23,961	18,367	25,322	21,218	23,391				
Foreclosed assets held for sale (real estate)	181	478	275	684	1,338				
Total nonperforming assets	\$ 24,142	\$ 18,845	\$ 25,597	\$ 21,902	\$ 24,729				
Total nonperforming loans as a % of loans	1.26 %	0.99 %	1.46 %	6 1.36 %	1.42 %				
Total nonperforming assets as a % of assets	0.92 %	0.75 %	1.04 %	6 0.94 %	1.10 %				
Nonaccrual loans as a % of loans	1.26 %	0.82 %	1.33 %	6 1.21 %	1.30 %				
Allowance for credit losses as a % of nonaccrual loans	84.03 %	79.01 %	71.97 %	6 71.25 %	53.16 %				
Allowance for credit losses as a % of total loans	1.06 %	1.04 %	0.95 %	6 0.87 %	0.69 %				

TABLE XII – FIVE-YEAR HISTORY OF LOAN LOSSES

(Dollars In Thousands)	2024	2023	2022	2021	2020	Average
Average gross loans	\$ 1,881,122	\$ 1,792,149	\$ 1,628,094	\$ 1,596,756	\$ 1,445,098	\$ 1,668,644
Year-end gross loans	1,895,848	1,848,139	1,740,040	1,564,849	1,644,209	\$ 1,738,617
Year-end allowance for credit losses						
on loans	20,035	19,208	16,615	13,537	11,385	\$ 16,156
Year-end nonaccrual loans	23,842	15,177	23,085	18,999	21,416	\$ 20,504
Year-end loans 90 days or more past						
due and still accruing	119	3,190	2,237	2,219	1,975	1,948
Net charge-offs	1,603	264	4,177	1,509	2,364	1,983
Provision for credit losses on loans	2,430	753	7,255	3,661	3,913	3,602
Earnings coverage of charge-offs	20 x	119 x	8 x	26 x	10 x	16 x
Allowance coverage of charge-offs	12 x	73 x	4 x	9 x	5 x	8 x
Net charge-offs as a % of provision						
for credit losses on loans	65.97 %	35.06 %	57.57 %	41.22 %	60.41 %	55.06 %
Net charge-offs as a % of average						
gross loans	0.09 %	0.01 %	0.26 %	0.09 %	0.16 %	0.12 %
Income before income taxes on a						
fully taxable equivalent basis	32,690	31,402	33,576	38,822	24,192	32,136

CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS AND OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS

The Corporation's significant fixed and determinable contractual obligations as of December 31, 2024 include repayment obligations related to time deposits and borrowed funds. Information related to maturities of time deposits is provided in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements. Information related to maturities of borrowed funds is provided in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements. The Corporation's operating lease commitments with terms of one year or less and other commitments at December 31, 2024 are immaterial. Information concerning operating lease commitments with terms greater than one year is provided in Note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

The Corporation is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financial needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate or liquidity risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. Commitments to extend credit are legally binding agreements to lend to customers and generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of fees. The Corporation uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments. Commitments and standby letters of credit do not necessarily represent future liquidity requirements, as they may expire without being used.

The following table presents the Corporation's commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2024:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024
Commercial real estate loans	\$ 5,045
Commercial lines of credit	212,927
Commercial construction and land	23,197
Other commercial loan	12,902
1-4 family residential construction	11,650
Consumer lines of credit (including HELOCs)	69,070
All other consumer loans	45,212
Total commitments to extend credit	\$ 380,003
Financial letters of credit	\$ 7,197
Performance letters of credit	57,389
Total standby letters of credit	\$ 64,586

Off-balance sheet arrangements are further described in Note 15 and the allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet exposures is described in Note 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

As described in more detail in the Financial Condition section of Management's Discussion and Analysis, the Corporation sells residential mortgage loans for which the Corporation provides customary representations and warranties to investors that specify, among other things, that the loans have been underwritten to the standards established by the investor. The Corporation may be required to repurchase a loan and reimburse a portion of fees received or reimburse the investor for a credit loss incurred on a loan, if it is determined that the representations and warranties have not been met. At December 31, 2024, outstanding balances of such loans sold totaled \$329,766,000.

LIQUIDITY

Liquidity is the ability to quickly raise cash at a reasonable cost. An adequate liquidity position permits the Corporation to pay creditors, compensate for unforeseen deposit fluctuations and fund unexpected loan demand.

The Corporation maintains overnight borrowing facilities with several correspondent banks that provide a source of day-to-day liquidity. Also, the Corporation maintains borrowing facilities with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh, secured by various mortgage loans.

The Corporation has a line of credit with the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia's Discount Window. Management intends to use this line of credit as a contingency funding source. As collateral for the line, the Corporation has pledged available-for-sale securities with a carrying value of \$18,881,000 at December 31, 2024.

The Corporation's outstanding, available, and total credit facilities at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	anding	Ava	ilable	Total	Credit	
(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
	2024	2023	2024	2025	2024	2023
Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh	\$ 188,692	\$ 189,021	\$ 749,999	\$ 737,824	\$ 938,691	\$ 926,845
Federal Reserve Bank Discount Window	0	0	18,093	19,982	18,093	19,982
Other correspondent banks	0	0	75,000	75,000	75,000	75,000
Total credit facilities	\$ 188,692	\$ 189,021	\$ 843,092	\$ 832,806	\$ 1,031,784	\$ 1,021,827

At December 31, 2024, the Corporation's outstanding credit facilities with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh consisted of longterm borrowings with par values totaling \$165,451,000 and letters of credit totaling \$23,241,000. At December 31, 2023, the Corporation's outstanding credit facilities with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh consisted of overnight and short-term borrowings of \$31,500,000, long-term borrowings with par values totaling \$138,313,000 and letters of credit totaling \$19,208,000.

Additionally, the Corporation uses "RepoSweep" arrangements to borrow funds from commercial banking customers on an overnight basis. If required to raise cash in an emergency situation, the Corporation could utilize available-for-sale debt securities as collateral for borrowings or sell securities to meet its obligations. At December 31, 2024, the carrying value of available-for-sale debt securities in excess of amounts required to meet pledging or repurchase agreement obligations was \$236,945,000.

Deposits totaled \$2,093,909,000 at December 31, 2024, up \$79,103,000 (3.9%) from \$2,014,806,000 at December 31, 2023 despite a decrease in brokered deposits of \$40,348,000. Average total deposits of \$2,057,570,000 were 4.3% higher for the year ended December 31, 2024, as compared to \$1,971,926,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023. Brokered deposits, consisting mainly of short-term certificates of deposit, totaled \$24,021,000 at December 31, 2024, a decrease of \$40,348,000 from December 31, 2023.

As shown in the table below, at December 31, 2024, estimated uninsured deposits totaled \$632.8 million, or 30.0% of total deposits, up from \$592.2 million, or 29.2% of total deposits at December 31, 2023. Included in uninsured deposits are deposits collateralized by securities (almost exclusively municipal deposits) totaling \$162.0 million at December 31, 2024. As shown in the table below, total uninsured and uncollateralized deposits amounted to 22.3% of total deposits at December 31, 2024, up from 21.7% at December 31, 2023.

As summarized in the table that immediately follows, the Corporation's highly liquid sources of available funds described above, including unused borrowing capacity with the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh, unused availability on the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia's discount window, available federal funds lines with other banks and unencumbered available-for-sale debt securities totaled \$1.1 billion at December 31, 2024. Available funding from these sources totaled 170.7% of uninsured deposits and 229.4% of total uninsured and uncollateralized deposits at December 31, 2024.

Uninsured Deposits Information	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Total Deposits - C&N Bank	\$ 2,111,547	\$ 2,030,909
Estimated Total Uninsured Deposits	\$ 632,804	\$ 592,206
Portion of Uninsured Deposits that are Collateralized	 161,958	151,031
Uninsured and Uncollateralized Deposits	\$ 470,846	\$ 441,175
Uninsured and Uncollateralized Deposits as		
a % of Total Deposits	 <u>22.3</u> %	<u>21.7</u> %
Available Funding from Credit Facilities	\$ 843,092	\$ 832,806
Fair Value of Available-for-sale Debt Securities in Excess of Pledging Obligations	236,945	256,058
Highly Liquid Available Funding	\$ 1,080,037	\$ 1,088,864
Highly Liquid Available Funding as a % of		
Uninsured Deposits	 <u>170.7</u> %	<u>183.9</u> %
Highly Liquid Available Funding as a % of		
Uninsured and Uncollateralized Deposits	 <u>229.4</u> %	<u>246.8</u> %

Based on the ample sources of highly liquid funds as described above, management believes the Corporation is well-positioned to meet its short-term and long-term funding obligations.

STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY AND CAPITAL ADEQUACY

Details concerning capital ratios at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 are presented in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. Management believes, as of December 31, 2024, that C&N Bank meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject and maintains a capital conservation buffer (described in more detail below) that allows the Bank to avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain discretionary bonus payments to executive officers. Further, the Corporation's and C&N Bank's capital ratios at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023 exceed the Corporation's Board policy threshold levels. Management expects C&N Bank to maintain capital levels that exceed the regulatory standards for well-capitalized institutions for the next 12 months and for the foreseeable future.

Future dividend payments and repurchases of common stock will depend upon maintenance of a strong financial condition, future earnings and capital and regulatory requirements. In addition, the Corporation and C&N Bank are subject to restrictions on the amount of dividends that may be paid without approval of banking regulatory authorities. These restrictions are described in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements. Further, although the Corporation is no longer subject to the specific consolidated capital requirements described herein, the Corporation's ability to pay dividends, repurchase stock or engage in other activities may be limited by the Federal Reserve if the Corporation fails to hold sufficient capital commensurate with its overall risk profile.

To avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain discretionary bonus payments to executive officers, C&N Bank must hold a capital conservation buffer composed of common equity tier 1 capital above its minimum risk-based capital requirements. The buffer is measured relative to risk-weighted assets. At December 31, 2024, the minimum risk-based capital ratios, and the capital ratios including the capital conservation buffer, are as follows:

Minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio	4.5 %
Minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	7.0 %
Minimum tier 1 capital ratio	6.0 %
Minimum tier 1 capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	8.5 %
Minimum total capital ratio	8.0 %
Minimum total capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	10.5 %

A banking organization with a buffer greater than 2.5% over the minimum risk-based capital ratios would not be subject to additional limits on dividend payments or discretionary bonus payments; however, a banking organization with a buffer less than 2.5% would be subject to increasingly stringent limitations as the buffer approaches zero. Also, a banking organization is prohibited from making dividend payments or discretionary bonus payments if its eligible retained income is negative in that quarter and its capital conservation buffer ratio was less than 2.5% as of the beginning of that quarter. Eligible net income is defined as net income for the four calendar quarters preceding the current calendar quarter, net of any distributions and associated tax effects not already reflected in net income. A summary of payout restrictions based on the capital conservation buffer is as follows:

	Capital Conservation Buffer (as a % of risk-weighted assets)	Maximum Payout (as a % of eligible retained income)
Greater than 2.5%		No payout limitation applies
$\leq 2.5\%$ and $> 1.875\%$		60 %
$\leq 1.875\%$ and $> 1.25\%$		40 %
$\leq 1.25\%$ and $> 0.625\%$		20 %
≤0.625%		0 %

At December 31, 2024, C&N Bank's Capital Conservation Buffer (determined based on the minimum total capital ratio) was 7.19%.

On September 25, 2023, the Corporation announced a new treasury stock repurchase program. Under the program, the Corporation is authorized to repurchase up to 750,000 shares of the Corporation's common stock, or slightly less than 5% of the Corporation's issued and outstanding shares at August 4, 2023. The program was effective when publicly announced and will continue thereafter until suspended or terminated by the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion. All shares of common stock repurchased pursuant to the program shall be held as treasury shares and be available for use and reissuance for purposes as and when determined by the Board of

Directors including, without limitation, pursuant to the Corporation's Dividend Reinvestment and Stock Purchase Plans and its equity compensation program. During the year ended December 31, 2024, 26,034 shares were repurchased for a total cost of \$443,000, at an average price of \$17.02 per share. At December 31, 2024, there were 723,966 shares available to be repurchased under the program.

The Corporation's total stockholders' equity is affected by fluctuations in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities. The difference between amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities, net of deferred income tax, is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss within stockholders' equity. Accumulated other comprehensive loss is excluded from the Bank's and Corporation's regulatory capital ratios. The balance in accumulated other comprehensive loss related to unrealized losses on available-for-sale debt securities, net of deferred income tax, amounted to \$37,084,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$38,878,000 at December 31, 2023. The volatility in stockholders' equity related to accumulated other comprehensive loss from available-for-sale debt securities has been caused by fluctuations in interest rates including overall increases in rates as compared to market rates when most of the Corporation's securities were purchased. The securities section of Management's Discussion and Analysis and Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements provide additional information concerning information management considered in evaluating debt and equity securities for credit losses at December 31, 2024.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk of loss arising from adverse changes in market rates and prices of the Corporation's financial instruments. In addition to the effects of interest rates, the market prices of the Corporation's available-for-sale debt securities are affected by fluctuations in the risk premiums (amounts of spread over risk-free rates) demanded by investors. Management attempts to limit the risk that economic conditions would force the Corporation to sell securities for realized losses by maintaining a strong capital position (discussed in the "Stockholders' Equity and Capital Adequacy" section of Management's Discussion and Analysis) and ample sources of liquidity (discussed in the "Liquidity" section of Management's Discussion and Analysis).

The Corporation's major category of market risk, interest rate risk, is discussed in the following section.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Corporation uses a simulation model to calculate the potential effects of interest rate fluctuations on net interest income and the economic value of equity ("EVE"). For purposes of these calculations, EVE includes the discounted present values of financial instruments, such as securities, loans, deposits and borrowed funds, and the book values of nonfinancial assets and liabilities, such as premises and equipment and accrued expenses. The model measures and projects the amount of potential changes in net interest income, and calculates the discounted present value of anticipated cash flows of financial instruments, assuming an immediate increase or decrease in interest rates. Management ordinarily runs a variety of scenarios within a range of plus or minus 100-400 basis points of current rates.

The projected results based on the model includes the impact of estimates, at each level of interest rate change, regarding cash flows from principal repayments on loans and mortgage-backed securities and call activity on other investment securities. Further, the projected results are impacted by assumptions regarding the run-off and the extent of sensitivity to interest rate changes of deposits with no stated maturity (checking, savings and money market accounts). Actual results could vary significantly from these estimates, which could result in significant differences in the calculations of projected changes in net interest income and EVE. Also, the model does not make estimates related to changes in the composition of the deposit portfolio that could occur due to rate competition, and the table does not necessarily reflect changes that management would make to realign the portfolio as a result of changes in interest rates.

The Corporation's Board of Directors has established policy guidelines for acceptable levels of interest rate risk, based on an immediate increase or decrease in interest rates. The policy limits acceptable fluctuations in net interest income from the baseline (flat rates) one-year scenario and variances in EVE from the baseline values based on current rates.

Table XIII, which follows this discussion, is based on the results of calculations performed using the simulation model as of December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Table shows that as of the respective dates, the changes in net interest income and changes in EVE were within the policy limits in all scenarios.

Based on December 31, 2024 and 2023 data, the amounts of net interest income decrease, as compared to the amounts based on current interest rates, in both the upward and downward rate scenarios. The modeling results reflect the impact of management's assumptions that the Corporation's deposit rates would rise in the increasing rate scenarios to a greater extent than they would fall in the decreasing rate scenarios. Further, results in the downward rate scenarios reflect limitations on the benefit of falling rates on some deposit types due to a 0% assumed floor.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, EVE is modeled to decrease compared to the 0 basis point scenario in all of the rising and falling rate scenarios. In Table XIII, EVE is higher at December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023 all of the rate scenarios. The increases in comparative amounts of EVE reflects the impact of an overall increase in the assumed lives of nonmaturity deposits used in the December 31, 2024 analysis based on an updated study completed in the second quarter 2024. The increases in EVE also reflect generally higher long-term interest rates used in calculating the present values of nonmaturity deposits at December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023.

Under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, available-for-sale debt securities are carried at fair value as of each balance sheet date. The difference between amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities, net of deferred income tax, is included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) within stockholders' equity. Increases in interest rates have caused the fair value of the Corporation's available-for-sale debt securities to decrease, resulting in an accumulated other comprehensive loss of \$37.1 million at December 31, 2024. In contrast, most of the Corporation's other financial instruments, including loans receivable (held for investment), deposits and borrowed funds are carried on the balance sheet at historical cost without adjustment for the impact of changes in interest rates.

TABLE XIII – THE EFFECT OF HYPOTHETICAL CHANGES IN INTEREST RATES

December 31, 2024 Data (In Thousands)

(In Thousands)	Period Ending December 31, 2025									
Basis Point Change in Rates	Interest Income					Interest Expense		Net Interest Income (NII)	NII % Change	NII Risk Limit
+400	\$	157,710	\$	87,489	\$	70,221	(17.4)%	25.0 %		
+300		151,610		75,796		75,814	(10.8)%	20.0 %		
+200		145,458		65,308		80,150	(5.7)%	15.0 %		
+100		139,233		56,023		83,210	(2.1)%	10.0 %		
0		132,939		47,942		84,997	0.0 %	0.0 %		
-100		126,757		42,671		84,086	(1.1)%	10.0 %		
-200		119,814		37,450		82,364	(3.1)%	15.0 %		
-300		111,964		32,229		79,735	(6.2)%	20.0 %		
-400		103,390		27,650		75,740	(10.9)%	25.0 %		

Economic Value of Equity at December 31, 2024

	Present	Present	Present
Basis Point	Value	Value	Value
Change in Rates	 Equity	% Change	Risk Limit
+400	\$ 475,112	(16.1)%	50.0 %
+300	507,221	(10.4)%	45.0 %
+200	534,636	(5.6)%	35.0 %
+100	555,058	(2.0)%	25.0 %
0	566,339	0.0 %	0.0 %
-100	552,813	(2.4)%	25.0 %
-200	520,196	(8.1)%	35.0 %
-300	470,155	(17.0)%	45.0 %
-400	403,255	(28.8)%	50.0 %

December 31, 2023 Data (In Thousands)

(In Thousands)	Period Ending December 31, 2024							
Basis Point Change in Rates		Interest Income		Interest Expense		Net Interest Income (NII)	NII % Change	NII Risk Limit
+400	\$	148,407	\$	81,707	\$	66,700	(21.5)%	25.0 %
+300		143,333		70,165		73,168	(13.9)%	20.0 %
+200		138,291		59,859		78,432	(7.7)%	15.0 %
+100		133,224		50,797		82,427	(3.0)%	10.0 %
0		127,920		42,979		84,941	0.0 %	0.0 %
-100		122,446		37,701		84,745	(0.2)%	10.0 %
-200		116,922		32,462		84,460	(0.6)%	15.0 %
-300		110,919		27,710		83,209	(2.0)%	20.0 %
-400		104,495		23,067		81,428	(4.1)%	25.0 %

Economic Value of Equity at December 31, 2023

Basis Point	Present Value	Present Value	Present Value
Change in Rates	Equity	% Change	Risk Limit
+400	\$ 330,130	(21.2)%	50.0 %
+300	359,302	(14.3)%	45.0 %
+200	385,045	(8.1)%	35.0 %
+100	405,178	(3.3)%	25.0 %
0	419,199	0.0 %	0.0 %
-100	406,957	(2.9)%	25.0 %
-200	406,145	(3.1)%	35.0 %
-300	385,859	(8.0)%	45.0 %
-400	363,763	(13.2)%	50.0 %

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

ASSETS	(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)	De	December 31, 2024			
Noninterset-bearing \$ 21,10 \$ 24,80 Interset-bearing 126,174 5630 Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value 402,380 415,75 Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value 126,174 5630 Loans: receivable 1.895,848 1.848,13 Allowmee for credit losses (20,035) (19,20) Loans, net 1.875,813 1.828,93 Bank-owned life insurance \$12,124 63,67 Accredit interset receivable \$1,238 21,63 Bank premises and equipment, net \$21,33 21,63 Defored masset, net \$2,000 2,44 Defored masset, net \$2,000 2,400 Other asset \$1,135 4668 TOTAL ASSETS \$2,610,653 \$2,21,55 Noninterse-bearing 1,607,443 1,524,23 Total deposits \$2,640,653 \$48,566 \$490,55 Noninterse-bearing 1,607,443 1,524,25 \$2,515,58 Interse-bearing 1,607,441 1,524,25 \$2,610,653 \$2				-	2023	
Interst-baring 105,064 32,02 Total cash and due from banks 402,380 415,75 Available-for-sale debt securities, at fhir value 402,380 415,75 Loans, net 1,895,848 1,843,13 1,282,833 Bank-owned life insurance 51,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable 8,735 9,14 Bank-owned life insurance 51,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable 8,735 9,14 Bank remises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 47 Ocre deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,464 Other assets 51,213 466 Other assets 51,213 466 Solution 2,080 2,44 Other assets 51,235 466 Solutions 2,093,099 2,014,50 Interset-bearing 5 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interset-bearing 5 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interese-bearing 165,651 <td< td=""><td>Cash and due from banks:</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></td<>	Cash and due from banks:					
Total cash and due from banks 126,174 56,87 Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value 402,380 415,75 Loans receivable 1,895,848 1,848,13 (20,035) (19,20) Loans, net 1,875,843 1,828,943 (20,035) (19,20) Bank-owned life insurance 51,214 63,67 (36,75) (37,35) 9,14 Bank permises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 (20,035) (18,75,81) (20,035) (18,75,81) (20,035) (18,75,81) (20,035) (20,035) (21,21) (36,76) (37,75) <t< td=""><td>Noninterest-bearing</td><td>\$</td><td>21,110</td><td>\$</td><td>24,855</td></t<>	Noninterest-bearing	\$	21,110	\$	24,855	
Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value 402,380 415,75 Loans receivable 1,875,813 1,848,13 Allowance for credit losses (2005) (1920) Loans, net 1,875,813 1,828,93 Bank-owned life insurance \$1,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable \$1,214 63,67 Bank-owned life insurance \$1,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable \$1,214 63,67 Bank premises and equipment, net \$21,338 \$21,63 Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 44 Goodwill \$2,505 \$2,500 Core deposit intangibles, net \$2,080 \$2,46 Ort AL ASSETS \$2,2,610,653 \$2,2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$2,001,633 \$2,2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$2,093,909 \$2,014,80 Deposits \$2,093,909 \$2,014,80 Stohrt-erm borrowings \$2,488 \$33,371 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances \$165,451 183,33 Stohrt-erm borrowings - FHLB advances \$2,335,369 \$2,332,30 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT	Interest-bearing		105,064		32,023	
Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value 402,380 415,75 Loans receivable 1,875,813 1,848,13 Allowance for credit losses (2005) (1920) Loans, net 1,875,813 1,828,93 Bank-owned life insurance \$1,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable \$1,214 63,67 Bank-owned life insurance \$1,214 63,67 Accrued interest receivable \$1,214 63,67 Bank premises and equipment, net \$21,338 \$21,63 Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 44 Goodwill \$2,505 \$2,500 Core deposit intangibles, net \$2,080 \$2,46 Ort AL ASSETS \$2,2,610,653 \$2,2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$2,001,633 \$2,2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$2,093,909 \$2,014,80 Deposits \$2,093,909 \$2,014,80 Stohrt-erm borrowings \$2,488 \$33,371 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances \$165,451 183,33 Stohrt-erm borrowings - FHLB advances \$2,335,369 \$2,332,30 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT	Total cash and due from banks		126,174		56,878	
Allowance for credit losses (20.035) (19.20) Loans, net 1.875,813 1.828,93 Bank-owned life insurance 51,214 63,67 Accruid interst receivable 8,735 9,14 Bank premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 47 Deferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,205 52,205 Cord deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other assets 51,135 46,686 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,655 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITIES 5 2,610,655 \$ 2,093,009 2,014,80 Noninterest-bearing 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.607,343 1.524,22 1.607,343	Available-for-sale debt securities, at fair value		402,380		415,755	
Loans, net 1.875,813 1.828,93 Bank-owned life insurance 51,214 63,67 Accrued interst receivable 8,735 9,14 Bank premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Poerferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,505 52,505 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,460 Other assets 51,135 46,685 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing 1.607,343 1.524,250 Total deposits 2,033,099 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,879 Subordinated debt, net 2,4381 24,471 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 2,663 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,235,209 Stort deposits 33,791 2,663 Conget emborowings - FHL advances 0 2,335,369 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,235,209 <td></td> <td></td> <td>1,895,848</td> <td></td> <td>1,848,139</td>			1,895,848		1,848,139	
Bank-owned life insurance 51/214 63,67 Bank premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Bank premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Bord premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Deferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,505 52,505 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other assets 51,135 46,668 TOTAL ASSETS \$2,2610,653 \$2,215,58 LIABILITIES 51,135 466,566 \$490,55 Noninterest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,099,090 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 38,33 Subortinated debt, net 2,483 138,33 Subortinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 23,35,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 23,35,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 5 16,030 16,030 STOC	Allowance for credit losses				(19,208)	
Accrued interest receivable 8,735 9,14 Bank premises and equipment, net 21,333 21,63 Borcelosed assets held for sale 181 47 Deferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,505 52,505 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other assets 51,135 46,66 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,010,653 \$ 2,515,58 LABIL/TIES 2,080 2,44 Deposits: 1,607,343 1,524,25 Noniterest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Stort-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Stort-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Subort-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Stort-term borrowings - FHLB advances 2,248 33,87 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 22,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 2,335,369 2,253,20	Loans, net		1,875,813		1,828,931	
Bank premises and equipment, net 21,338 21,63 Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 47 Foreclosed assets, net 19,098 17,44 Godwill 52,505 52,505 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other assets 51,135 46,668 TOTAL ASSETS \$2,610,653 \$2,515,58 LIABILITIES Deposits: Noninterest-bearing \$1,607,343 1.524,252 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,803 3,87 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,803 3,87 Long-term borrowings 165,451 18,33,87 Subordinated debt, net 24,481 24,31 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 26,663 2,253,200 2,253,200 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33,791 26,663 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 2,253,200 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>63,674</td></t<>					63,674	
Foreclosed assets held for sale 181 47 Deferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,505 52,50 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other asset 51,135 46,686 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 Deposits: \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,009 2,014,80 Stort-term borrowings 2,488 333,71 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 233,791 26,66 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 0 0			,		9,140	
Deferred tax asset, net 19,098 17,44 Goodwill 52,505 52,500 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,46 Other assets \$1,135 46,68 TOTAL ASSETS \$2,610,653 \$2,515,58 LIABILITIES Deposits: \$2,610,633 \$2,515,58 Noninterest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Subordinated debt, net 2,4381 24,431 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 2,663 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,200 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33,791 2,663 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 7 2 2 Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000,000 shares; 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,20,515 at December 31, 2024 165,778 165,778 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 3hares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 3hares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037	Bank premises and equipment, net		21,338		21,632	
Goodwill 52,505 52,505 52,505 Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,460 2,468 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITIES \$ 2,600,653 \$ 2,515,58 Noninterest-bearing \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing \$ 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,090 2,014,80 Short-tern borrowings 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,483 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 2,663 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 0 Common stock, sin outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024 163,778 163,778 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,2025,135 at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 163,778 16					478	
Core deposit intangibles, net 2,080 2,44 Other assets \$1,135 46,68 TOTAL ASSETS \$2,515,58 \$2,515,58 LIABILITIES Deposits: Noninterest-bearing \$486,566 \$490,55 Interest-bearing \$2,039,099 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Cond deposits \$2,039,099 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 23,35,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation 0 Common stock, par value \$1,00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; 163,051 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; 163,055 144,38 resary stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at Decemb			. ,		17,441	
Other assets 51,135 46,68 TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITTES Deposits: \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,833 24,81 24,81 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 26,63 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 33,791 26,63 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 5 5 143,565 144,38 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preference per share; no shares issued 0 0 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000 obsares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 16,030 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02			/		52,505	
TOTAL ASSETS \$ 2,610,653 \$ 2,515,58 LIABILITIES Deposits:					2,469	
LIABILITIES Deposits: Noninterest-bearing \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing \$ 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings - FHLB advances 2,093,909 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings - FHLB advances 1,5451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 2,4831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 2,37,91 2,663 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,233,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (13,275,284) 262,38			,		46,681	
Deposits: S 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,009 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,233,369 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation 0 preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 oblares; 16,030 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; 16,030 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; 16,030 16,030 16,030 Pati-in capital 143,565 144,356 144,356 144,356 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 16,030 1	TOTAL ASSETS	<u>\$</u>	2,610,653	\$	2,515,584	
Noninterest-bearing \$ 486,566 \$ 490,55 Interest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,309 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,881 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 26,63 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation 0 Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation 0 0 preference per share; no share i sisued 0 0 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; 16,030 16,030 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; 143,565 144,38 reasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 165,778 157,02 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,0	LIABILITIES					
Interest-bearing 1,607,343 1,524,25 Total deposits 2,093,090 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,83 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 26,63 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 Common stock, par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preference stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 obsares; 0 0 common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; 0 0 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; 16,030 16,030 16,030 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 165,778 143,365 144,38 Retained earnings (13,328) (16,62 143,28) 166,761 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 13,328	1					
Total deposits 2,093,909 2,014,80 Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 144,899 14,839 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 26,63 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 0 Common stock, s1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 16,030 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 144,3565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 157,78 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 16,328 (16,62 <t< td=""><td></td><td>\$</td><td></td><td>\$</td><td>490,554</td></t<>		\$		\$	490,554	
Short-term borrowings 2,488 33,87 Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances 165,451 138,33 Senior notes, net 14,899 14,839 Subordinated debt, net 24,831 24,71 Accrued interest and other liabilities 33,791 26,63 TOTAL LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 2,335,369 2,253,20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 0 0 STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation 0 preference per share; no shares issued 0 0 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; 16,030 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; 16,030 16,030 issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2024; 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 165,778 157,02 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 16,328) (16,62 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (36,761)					1,524,252	
Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances165,451138,33Senior notes, net14,89914,83Subordinated debt, net24,83124,71Accrued interest and other liabilities33,79126,63TOTAL LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES22STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation0preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,030Retained earnings Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023(13,328) (13,328)(16,620,761) (13,328)Accumulated other comprehensive loss TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284 262,388262,388	1				2,014,806	
Senior notes, net14,89914,83Subordinated debt, net24,83124,71Accrued interest and other liabilities33,79126,63TOTAL LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation0preference per share; no shares issued00Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,03016,030Paid-in capital143,565144,38Retained earnings165,778157,02Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)(16,62Shares at December 31, 2024(13,328)(16,62)TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38			/		33,874	
Subordinated debt, net24,83124,71Accrued interest and other liabilities33,79126,63TOTAL LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preference per share; no shares issued0Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,030Paid-in capital143,565144,38Retained earnings165,778157,02Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)(16,62Accumulated other comprehensive loss(36,761)(38,43TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38			/		138,337	
Accrued interest and other liabilities33,79126,63TOTAL LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES22,335,3692,253,20STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preferrence per share; no shares issued00Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,03016,030Paid-in capital shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023165,778157,02Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)(16,62Accumulated other comprehensive loss(36,761)(38,43TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38			,		14,831	
TOTAL LIABILITIES2,335,3692,253,20COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIESSTOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preference per share; no shares issued0Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,030Paid-in capital143,565144,38Retained earnings165,778157,02Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037(13,328)(16,62shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)(16,62Accumulated other comprehensive loss(36,761)(38,43TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38					24,717	
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIESSTOCKHOLDERS' EQUITYPreferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidationpreference per share; no shares issued0Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares;issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024;issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,030Paid-in capitalRetained earningsTreasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)(16,622)Accumulated other comprehensive lossTOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38					26,638	
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preference per share; no shares issued 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 16,03 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 15,295,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38	TOTAL LIABILITIES		2,335,369		2,253,203	
Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation preference per share; no shares issued0Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 202316,030Paid-in capital Retained earnings Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)Shares at December 31, 2023(13,328)Accumulated other comprehensive loss TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY(275,284)	COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES					
preference per share; no shares issued 0 Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38	STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY					
Common stock, par value \$1.00 per share; authorized 30,000,000 shares; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 Paid-in capital Retained earnings Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 shares at December 31, 2023 Accumulated other comprehensive loss TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	Preferred stock, \$1,000 par value; authorized 30,000 shares; \$1,000 liquidation					
issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,433,494 at December 31, 2024; issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38			0		0	
issued 16,030,172 and outstanding 15,295,135 at December 31, 2023 16,030 16,03 Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38						
Paid-in capital 143,565 144,38 Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38			16,030		16.030	
Retained earnings 165,778 157,02 Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43) TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38			- ,		144,388	
Treasury stock, at cost; 596,678 shares at December 31, 2024 and 735,037 (13,328) (16,62 shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43 TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38			/		157,028	
shares at December 31, 2023 (13,328) (16,62 Accumulated other comprehensive loss (36,761) (38,43) TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38			,		- ,	
Accumulated other comprehensive loss(36,761)(38,43)TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY275,284262,38			(13.328)		(16,628)	
TOTAL STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY 275,284 262,38					(38,437)	
	*				262,381	
101AL LIADILITIES & STUCKTULDERS EQUIT 1 $g = 2.010.0.03$ $g = 2.010.0.03$	TOTAL LIABILITIES & STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$	2,610,653	\$	2,515,584	

Consolidated Statements of Income

	Years Ended December 31,								
(In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)	2024			2023		2022			
INTEREST INCOME					-				
Interest and fees on loans:									
Taxable	\$	110,396	\$	98,854	\$	78,599			
Tax-exempt	Ŧ	2,396	+	2,225	+	1,965			
Income from available-for-sale debt securities:		_,_ ,		_,		-,,			
Taxable		8,593		8,555		8,360			
Tax-exempt		2,260		2,427		3.001			
Other interest and dividend income		4,433		1,443		722			
Total interest and dividend income		128,078		113,504		92,647			
INTEREST EXPENSE		120,070		115,504		72,047			
Interest on deposits		39.200		24.233		6.638			
Interest on deposits Interest on short-term borrowings		1,168		3,240		429			
Interest on short-term borrowings - FHLB advances		7,188		4,230		896			
Interest on iong-term borrowings - FILB advances		481		4,230		477			
,		926		922					
Interest on subordinated debt, net						1,079			
Total interest expense		48,963		33,104		9,519			
Net interest income		79,115		80,400		83,128			
Provision for credit losses		2,195		186		7,255			
Net interest income after provision for credit losses		76,920		80,214		75,873			
NONINTEREST INCOME									
Trust revenue		7,928		7,413		6,994			
Brokerage and insurance revenue		2,271		1,675		2,291			
Service charges on deposit accounts		5,867		5,567		5,019			
Interchange revenue from debit card transactions		4,276		4,160		4,148			
Net gains from sale of loans		1,158		723		757			
Loan servicing fees, net		649		602		960			
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance		1,830		2,703		545			
Other noninterest income		5,230		4.610		3,698			
Realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net		0		(3,036)		20			
Total noninterest income		29,209		24,417		24,432			
NONINTEREST EXPENSE						,			
Salaries and employee benefits		44.930		44,195		41.833			
Net occupancy and equipment expense		5,473		5,357		5.533			
Data processing and telecommunications expense		7,768		7,582		6.806			
Automated teller machine and interchange expense		1,818		1.682		1,601			
Pennsylvania shares tax		1,733		1,602		1,956			
Professional fees		2,175		2,497		2,005			
Other noninterest expense		10,361		11,233		8,221			
Total noninterest expense		74,258		74,148		67,955			
1		,		. , .					
Income before income tax provision		31,871		30,483		32,350			
Income tax provision	<u></u>	5,913	<u>_</u>	6,335	<i>ф</i>	5,732			
NET INCOME	<u>\$</u>	25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618			
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE - BASIC	\$	1.69	\$	1.57	\$	1.71			
EARNINGS PER COMMON SHARE - DILUTED	\$	1.69	\$	1.57	\$	1.71			

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)

	Years Ended December 31,							
(In Thousands)		2024		2023		2022		
Net income	\$	25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618		
Available-for-sale debt securities:								
Unrealized holding gains (losses) on available-for-sale debt securities		1,670		11,512		(69,828)		
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) realized in income		0		3,036		(20)		
Other comprehensive income (loss) on available-for-sale debt securities		1,670		14,548		(69,848)		
Unfunded pension and postretirement obligations:								
Changes from plan amendments and actuarial gains and losses		405		(9)		389		
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss and curtailment gain								
included in net periodic benefit cost		(552)		(56)		(42)		
Other comprehensive (loss) income on pension and postretirement obligations		(147)		(65)		347		
Other comprehensive income (loss) before income tax		1,523		14,483		(69,501)		
Income tax related to other comprehensive (income) loss		153		(3,042)		14,597		
Net other comprehensive income (loss)		1,676		11,441		(54,904)		
Comprehensive income (loss)	\$	27,634	\$	35,589	\$	(28,286)		

Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity (In Thousands Except Share and Per Share Data)

	Common	Treasury	Common	Paid-in	Retained	Accumulated Other Comprehensive	Treasury	
	Shares	Shares	Stock	Capital	Earnings	Income (Loss)	Stock	Total
Balance, January 1, 2022	16,030,172	271,082	\$ 16,030	\$ 144,453	\$ 142,612	\$ 5,026	\$ (6,716)	\$ 301,405
Net income					26,618			26,618
Other comprehensive loss, net						(54,904)		(54,904)
Cash dividends declared on common stock, \$1.12 per								
share					(17,487)			(17,487)
Shares issued for dividend reinvestment plan		(65,470)		8			1,614	1,622
Shares issued from treasury and redeemed related to		(a. 1 = a)						
exercise of stock options		(9,178)		(67)			227	160
Restricted stock granted		(78,243)		(1,932)			1,932	0
Forfeiture of restricted stock		10,782		228			(228)	0
Stock-based compensation expense				1,260			(1,260
Purchase of restricted stock for tax withholding		6,964					(175)	(175)
Treasury stock purchases		375,416					(9,174)	(9,174)
Balance, December 31, 2022	16,030,172	511,353	16,030	143,950	151,743	(49,878)	(12,520)	249,325
Adoption of ASU 2016-13 (CECL)					(1,652)			(1,652)
Net income					24,148			24,148
Other comprehensive income, net						11,441		11,441
Cash dividends declared on common stock, \$1.12 per					(15 01 1)			(1= 011)
share		(01.020)		(240)	(17,211)		1 000	(17,211)
Shares issued for dividend reinvestment plan		(81,930)		(246)			1,888	1,642
Shares issued from treasury and redeemed related to		((10)					20	0
exercise of stock options		(612)		(30)			30	0
Restricted stock granted		(53,788)		(1,314)			1,314	0
Forfeiture of restricted stock		25,261		556			(556)	0
Stock-based compensation expense		0.452		1,472			(210)	1,472
Purchase of restricted stock for tax withholding		9,453					(219)	(219)
Treasury stock purchases		325,300					(6,565)	(6,565)
Balance, December 31, 2023	16,030,172	735,037	16,030	144,388	157,028	(38,437)	(16,628)	262,381
Net income					25,958	1 (8)		25,958
Other comprehensive income, net						1,676		1,676
Cash dividends declared on common stock, \$1.12 per					(1= 000)			(1 = 2 0 0)
share		(02.020)		(252)	(17,208)		1.005	(17,208)
Shares issued for dividend reinvestment plan		(83,838)		(273)			1,885	1,612
Restricted stock granted		(92,860)		(2,094)			2,094	0
Forfeiture of restricted stock		2,076		50			(50)	0
Stock-based compensation expense		10.000		1,494			(0.1.5)	1,494
Purchase of restricted stock for tax withholding		10,229					(212)	(212)
Treasury stock purchases		26,034				-	(417)	(417)
Balance, December 31, 2024	16,030,172	596,678	\$ 16,030	\$ 143,565	\$ 165,778	\$ (36,761)	\$ (13,328)	\$ 275,284

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In Thousands) CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:	Years Ended December 31,					
	2024		2023		2022	
		2024	-	2025	-	2022
Net income	\$	25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:	-	,,	*	,	*	,
Provision for credit losses		2,195		186		7,255
Realized losses (gains) on available-for-sale debt securities, net		0		3,036		(20)
Net amortization of securities		1,645		2,062		2,760
Increase in cash surrender value of life insurance		(1,830)		(2,703)		(545)
Depreciation and amortization of bank premises and equipment		2,183		2,151		2,389
Net accretion of purchase accounting adjustments		(253)		(288)		(1,181
Stock-based compensation		1,494		1,472		1,260
Deferred income taxes		(1,504)		836		(400)
Decrease (increase) in fair value of servicing rights		164		200		(126
Net gains from sale of loans		(1,158)		(723)		(757
Origination of loans held for sale		(37,841)		(24,630)		(26,231
Proceeds from sales of loans held for sale		36,810		25,106		27,636
Increase in accrued interest receivable and other assets		(3,014)		(1,400)		(3,532)
Increase (decrease) in accrued interest payable and other liabilities		7,992		4,161		(589
Other		194		(66)		62
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities		33,035		33,548		34,599
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:		33,033		55,510		51,555
Purchase of certificates of deposit		0		0		(250)
Proceeds from maturities of certificates of deposit		1,500		3,250		2,000
Proceeds from sales of available-for-sale debt securities		0		60,819		4,100
Proceeds from calls and maturities of available-for-sale debt securities		39,188		52,323		58,673
Purchase of available-for-sale debt securities		(25,788)		(23,414)		(113,715)
Redemption of Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh stock		7,006		22,634		11,604
Purchase of Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh stock		(6,810)		(23,680)		(16,459)
Purchase of Federal Reserve Bank stock		(47)		(6,252)		0
Net increase in loans		(48,697)		(107,356)		(178,203)
Purchase of bank-owned life insurance		0		(30,000)		0
Proceeds from bank-owned life insurance		14,290		363		0
Purchase of premises and equipment		(1,906)		(2,265)		(3,288)
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed assets		293		267		647
Other		33		109		203
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities		(20,938)		(53,202)		(234,688)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:		(20,938)		(33,202)		(234,088)
		79,107		17,234		72 680
Net increase in deposits		(31,386)		(46,188)		72,689 78,259
Net (decrease) increase in short-term borrowings		59,386		85,436		50,000
Proceeds from long-term borrowings - FHLB advances		,				
Repayments of long-term borrowings - FHLB advances		(32,249)		(9,395)		(15,455)
Redemption of subordinated debt						(8,500)
Sale of treasury stock		0		0		160
Purchases of treasury stock		(629)		(6,784)		(9,349)
Common dividends paid		(15,530)		(15,569)		(15,865)
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities		58,699		24,734		151,939
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS		70,796		5,080		(48,150)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF PERIOD		52,778		47,698		95,848
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF PERIOD	\$	123,574	\$	52,778	\$	47,698
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION:						
(Decrease) increase in accrued purchase of available-for-sale debt securities	\$	0	\$	(2,000)	\$	2,000
Assets acquired through foreclosure of real estate loans	\$	0	\$	423	\$	51
Leased assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities	\$	187	\$	0	\$	904
Interest paid	\$	48,563	\$	31,936	\$	9,497
Income taxes paid	\$	4,839	\$	6,383	\$	5,561
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION – The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Citizens & Northern Corporation and its subsidiaries, Citizens & Northern Bank ("C&N Bank"), Bucktail Life Insurance Company and Citizens & Northern Investment Corporation (collectively, "Corporation"), as well as C&N Bank's wholly-owned subsidiaries, C&N Financial Services, LLC and Northern Tier Holding LLC. C&N Bank is the sole member of C&N Financial Services, LLC and Northern Tier Holding LLC. All material intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

NATURE OF OPERATIONS – The Corporation's principal office is located in Wellsboro, Pennsylvania. The Corporation's operations are conducted in the Northern tier/Northcentral region of Pennsylvania and Southern tier of New York, Southeastern Pennsylvania (offices in Bucks and Chester Counties) and Southcentral Pennsylvania (offices in York and Lancaster counties).

The Corporation provides banking and related services to individual and corporate customers. Lending products include commercial, mortgage and consumer loans, as well as specialized instruments such as commercial letters-of-credit. Deposit products include various types of checking accounts, passbook and statement savings, money market accounts, interest checking accounts, Individual Retirement Accounts and certificates of deposit.

The Corporation provides wealth management services through its trust department, including administration of trusts and estates, retirement plans, and other employee benefit plans, and investment management services. The Corporation offers a variety of personal and commercial insurance products through C&N Financial Services, LLC. C&N Financial Services, LLC also offers mutual funds, annuities, educational savings accounts and other investment products through registered agents.

The Corporation conducts its operations through one reportable segment. All of the Corporation's activities are interrelated, and each activity is dependent and assessed based on how each of the activities of the Corporation supports the others. See Note 21 Segment Reporting for additional information.

The Corporation is subject to competition from other financial institutions. It is also subject to regulation by certain federal and state agencies and undergoes periodic examination by those regulatory authorities.

USE OF ESTIMATES – The financial information is presented in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP"). In preparing consolidated financial statements, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent liabilities as of the date of the consolidated financial statements. In addition, these estimates and assumptions affect revenues and expenses in the consolidated financial statements and as such, actual results could differ from those estimates.

Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to change include the allowance for credit losses.

INVESTMENT SECURITIES – Investment securities are accounted for as follows:

Available-for-sale debt securities – Available-for-sale debt securities include debt securities not classified as held-to-maturity or trading. Such securities are reported at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported separately through accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax. Premiums on non-amortizing available-for-sale debt securities are amortized using the level yield method to the earliest call date, while discounts on non-amortizing securities are amortized to the maturity date. Premiums and discounts on amortizing securities (mortgage-backed securities) are amortized using the level yield method over the remaining contractual life of the securities, adjusted for actual prepayments. Realized gains and losses on sales of available-for-sale securities are computed on the basis of specific identification of the adjusted cost of each security. Securities within the available-for-sale portfolio may be used as part of the Corporation's asset and liability management strategy and may be sold in response to changes in interest rate risk, prepayment risk or other factors.

A debt security is placed on nonaccrual status at the time any principal or interest payments become over 90 days delinquent. Interest accrued but not received for a security placed on nonaccrual is reversed against interest income.

Allowance for Credit Losses- Available-for-Sale Debt Securities – For available-for-sale debt securities, management evaluates all investments in an unrealized loss position on a quarterly basis, and more frequently when economic or market conditions warrant such evaluation. If the Corporation has the intent to sell the security or it is more likely than not that the Corporation will be required to sell the security, the security is written down to fair value and the entire loss is recorded in earnings. If either of the above criteria is not met, the Corporation evaluates whether the decline in fair value is the result of credit losses or other factors. The Corporation has elected the practical expedient of zero credit loss estimates for securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government entities or agencies. In making the credit loss assessment of security by a rating agency, the failure of the issuer to make scheduled interest or principal payments and adverse conditions specifically related to the security. If the assessment indicates that a credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected are compared to the amortized cost basis of the security and any excess is recorded as an allowance for credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value is less than the amortized cost basis. Any amount of unrealized loss that has not been recorded through an allowance for credit loss is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).

Changes in the allowance for credit losses are recorded as provision for (or reversal of) credit loss expense. Losses are charged against the allowance for credit losses when management believes an available-for-sale debt security is confirmed to be uncollectible or when either of the criteria regarding intent or requirement to sell is met. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, there was no allowance for credit losses related to the available-for-sale portfolio.

Accrued interest receivable on available-for-sale debt securities totaled \$1,964,000 and \$2,018,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and was excluded from the estimate of credit losses.

Marketable equity security – The marketable equity security is carried at fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in other noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income.

Restricted equity securities – Restricted equity securities consist primarily of Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh and Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia stock, and are carried at cost and evaluated for impairment. Holdings of restricted equity securities are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, and dividends received on restricted securities are included in other income in the consolidated statements of income.

DERIVATIVES – The Corporation is a party to derivative financial instruments. These financial instruments consist of interest rate swap agreements and risk participation agreements (RPAs) which contain master netting and collateral provisions designed to protect the party at risk.

Interest rate swaps with commercial banking customers were executed to enable the commercial banking customers to effectively exchange their floating interest rate exposures on loans into fixed interest rate exposures. Those interest rate swaps have been simultaneously economically hedged by offsetting interest rate swaps with a third party such that the Corporation has effectively exchanged its fixed interest rate exposures for floating rate exposures. These derivatives are not designated as hedges and are not speculative. Changes in the fair value of both the customer swaps and the offsetting swaps are recognized directly in earnings. Interest differentials paid or received under the swap agreements are reflected as adjustments to interest and fees on loans in the consolidated statements of income. The fair value of interest rate derivatives is included in the balance of other assets and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Corporation has entered into an RPA with another institution as a means to assume a portion of the credit risk associated with a loan structure which includes a derivative instrument, in exchange for fee income commensurate with the risk assumed. This type of derivative is referred to as an "RPA In." The fair value of the RPA In is included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

In an effort to reduce the credit risk associated with an interest rate swap agreement with a borrower for whom the Corporation has provided a loan structured with a derivative, the Corporation purchased an RPA from an institution participating in the facility in exchange for a fee commensurate with the risk shared. This type of derivative is referred to as an "RPA Out." The fair value of the RPA Out is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Fees paid and received associated with RPAs, as well as changes in fair value of the related derivatives, are included in other noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income.

LOANS HELD FOR SALE – Mortgage loans held for sale which are included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, are reported at the lower of cost or fair value, determined in the aggregate.

LOANS RECEIVABLE – Loans originated by the Corporation which management has the intent and ability to hold for the foreseeable future or until maturity or payoff are stated at unpaid principal balances, less the allowance for credit losses and net deferred loan fees. Interest income is accrued on the unpaid principal balance. Loan origination and commitment fees, as well as certain direct origination costs, are deferred and amortized as a yield adjustment over the lives of the related loans using the interest method.

Loans are placed on nonaccrual status for all classes of loans when, in the opinion of management, collection of interest is doubtful. Any unpaid interest previously accrued on those loans is reversed from income. Interest payments received on loans for which the risk of loss is greater than remote are applied as a reduction of the loan principal balance. Interest income on other nonaccrual loans is recognized only to the extent of interest payments received. Generally, loans are restored to accrual status when the obligation is brought current, has performed in accordance with the contractual terms for a reasonable period of time (generally six months) and the ultimate collectability of the total contractual principal and interest is no longer in doubt. The past due status of loans receivable is determined based on contractual due dates for loan payments. Also, the amortization of deferred loan fees is discontinued when a loan is placed on nonaccrual status. Loans are placed on nonaccrual or charged off at an earlier date if collection of principal or interest is considered doubtful.

PURCHASED LOANS – The Corporation purchased loans in business combinations, some of which had, at the acquisition dates, shown evidence of credit deterioration since origination. The purchased loans that showed evidence of credit impairment were designated as the purchased credit impaired ("PCI") loans and were recorded at fair value, with no carryover of the allowance for loan losses. On January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2016-13 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASC 326) which replaced the prior accounting for PCI loans and required purchase credit deteriorated ("PCD") loans receive an initial allowance at the acquisition date that represents an adjustment to the amortized cost basis of the loan, with no impact to earnings. In accordance with ASC 326, management did not reassess whether PCI assets met the criteria of PCD assets as of the date of adoption. On January 1, 2023, the amortized cost basis of PCD assets was adjusted to establish the allowance for credit losses. Essentially all of the PCD loans were reported as nonaccrual loans at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES ON LOANS –As mentioned above, on January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted ASC 326. This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss ("CECL") methodology. Effective January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted ASC 326 using the modified retrospective approach for all financial assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures.

The allowance for credit losses is a valuation account that is deducted from the loans' amortized cost basis to present the net amount expected to be collected on the loans. Loans are charged off against the allowance when management believes the uncollectibility of a loan balance is confirmed. Expected recoveries do not exceed the aggregate of amounts previously charged-off and expected to be charged-off.

The allowance for credit losses represents management's estimate of lifetime credit losses inherent in loans as of the consolidated balance sheet date. The allowance for credit losses is estimated by management using relevant available information, from both internal and external sources, relating to past events, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts.

Accrued interest receivable on loans totaled \$6,680,000 and \$7,099,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and was excluded from the estimate of credit losses.

The allowance for credit losses ("ACL") includes two primary components: (i) an allowance established on loans which share similar risk characteristics collectively evaluated for credit losses (collective basis), and (ii) an allowance established on loans which do not share similar risk characteristics with any loan segment and which are individually evaluated for credit losses (individual basis).

Evaluation of Expected Losses on Individual Loans

Loans evaluated on an individual basis are identified based on a detailed assessment of certain larger loan relationships, and their related credit risk ratings, by a management committee referred to as the Watch List Committee. The scope of loans discussed by the Watch List Committee each quarter includes all commercial loan relationships greater than \$200,000 and any residential mortgage or consumer loans of \$400,000 or more for which there is at least one extension of credit graded Special Mention, Substandard or Doubtful.

Based on the results of the Watch List analysis, certain loans are evaluated individually for credit loss. The allowance is determined on an individual basis using the present value of expected cash flows or, for collateral-dependent loans, the fair value of the collateral as of the reporting date, less estimated selling costs, as applicable. If the fair value of the collateral is less than the amortized cost basis of the loan, the Corporation will create a specific allocation in the allowance for credit losses for the difference between the fair value of the collateral, less costs to sell at the reporting date and the amortized cost basis of the loan. Additionally, all PCD loans are evaluated individually for credit loss.

Collective Evaluation of Expected Losses – Pool Basis

The Corporation measures expected credit losses for loans on a pooled basis when similar risk characteristics exist. The Corporation has identified the following portfolio segments and calculates the allowance for credit losses for each using the weighted-average remaining maturity ("WARM") method:

Commercial real estate - nonowner occupied, further broken down into the following classes:
Non-owner occupied
Multi-family (5 or more) residential
1-4 Family - commercial purpose
Commercial real estate - owner occupied
All other commercial loans, further broken down into the following classes:
Commercial and industrial
Commercial lines of credit
Political subdivisions
Commercial construction and land
Other commercial loans
Residential mortgage loans, further broken down into the following classes:
1-4 Family – residential
1-4 Family residential construction
Consumer loans, further broken down into the following classes:
Consumer lines of credit (including HELOCs)
All other consumer

In determining the pools for collective evaluation, management uses a combination of loan purpose, collateral and payment type (for example, lines of credit vs. amortizing). The pools identified are similar to the loan classes that were used in the Corporation's financial reporting for several years prior to CECL adoption, with several exceptions including the following which are of the most significant:

- Commercial real estate secured loans are broken out between non-owner occupied and owner-occupied
- Loans secured by 1-4 family residential mortgages are broken out between consumer-purpose and commercial-purpose
- Commercial lines of credit are broken out as an individual category

Each of these changes was made to better sort loans into pools with similar risk and cash flow characteristics.

A summary of risk characteristics by portfolio segment is as follows:

Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied- Commercial real estate properties primarily include retail buildings/shopping centers, hotels, office buildings and mixed use properties. Increases in vacancy rates, interest rates or other changes in general economic conditions can have an impact on the borrower's ability to repay the loan. Commercial real estate loans are generally considered to have a higher degree of credit risk as they may be dependent on the ongoing success and operating viability of a fewer number of tenants who are occupying the property and who may have a greater degree of exposure to economic conditions. This segment also includes commercial purpose loans collateralized by multi-family (5 or more) and 1-4 Family residential properties. Multi-family loans and commercial loans collateralized by 1-4 Family residences are expected to be repaid from the cash flows of the underlying properties so the collective amount of rents must be sufficient to cover all operating expenses, property management and maintenance, taxes and debt service. Increases in vacancy rates, interest rates or other changes in general economic conditions can have an impact on the borrower's ability to repay the loan.

Commercial real estate - owner-occupied - Owner-occupied loans are typically repaid first by the cash flows generated by the borrower's business operations. The primary risk characteristics are specific to the underlying business and its ability to generate sustainable profitability and positive cash flow. Factors that may influence a borrower's ability to repay the loan include demand for the business' products or services, the quality and depth of management, the degree of competition, regulatory changes, and general economic conditions.

All other commercial loans- All other commercial loans include commercial and industrial loans, commercial lines of credit, loans to political subdivisions, commercial construction and land loans and other commercial loans. The primary risk characteristics for commercial and industrial loans are specific to the underlying business and its ability to generate sustainable profitability and positive cash flow. Factors that may influence a borrower's ability to repay the loan include demand for the business' products or services, the quality and depth of management, the degree of competition, regulatory changes, and general economic conditions. The Corporation's ability to foreclose and realize sufficient value from business assets securing these loans is often uncertain. To mitigate the risk characteristics of commercial and industrial loans, commercial real estate may be included as a secondary source of collateral. The Corporation will often require more frequent reporting requirements from the borrower in order to better monitor its business performance. The Corporation also originates various types of loans made directly to political subdivisions. These loans are repaid through general cash flows or through specific revenue streams. The primary risk characteristics associated with political subdivisions are the municipalities' ability to manage cash flow and balance the fiscal budget, fixed asset and infrastructure requirements. Additional risks include changes in demographics, as well as social and political conditions. The primary risk characteristics for commercial construction and land loans are specific to the uncertainty on whether the construction will be completed according to the specifications and schedules. Factors that may influence the completion of construction may be customer specific, such as the quality and depth of property management, or related to changes in general economic conditions.

Residential mortgage loans - Residential mortgage loans include 1-4 Family residential mortgage loans and 1-4 Family construction mortgage loans. These loans are secured by first or second liens on a primary residence or investment property. The primary risk characteristics associated with residential mortgage loans typically involve major changes to the borrower, including unemployment or other loss of income; unexpected significant expenses, such as medical expenses, catastrophic events, divorce or death. Residential mortgage loans that have adjustable rates could expose the borrower to higher payments in a rising rate environment. Real estate values could decrease and cause the value of the underlying property to fall below the loan amount, creating additional potential loss exposure for the Corporation. Residential construction loans are exposed to uncertainty on whether the construction will be completed according to the specifications and schedules. Factors that may influence the completion of construction may be customer specific or related to changes in general economic conditions.

Consumer loans - Consumer loans include consumer lines of credit (including HELOCs) and all other consumer loans. Risks associated with HELOCs are similar to those of other residential mortgage loans. Other consumer loans generally have higher interest rates and shorter terms than residential loans but tend to have higher credit risk due to the type of collateral securing the loan or in some cases the absence of collateral. The primary risk characteristics associated with HELOCs and other consumer loans typically involve major changes to the borrower, including unemployment or other loss of income, unexpected significant expenses, such as for major medical expenses, catastrophic events, divorce or death.

Estimation Method - WARM (Weighted-Average Remaining Maturity Method)

In applying the WARM method, for each pool identified above, the Corporation determines the annual net charge-offs as a percentage of average total loan balances (net charge-off percentage). For each loan pool, the average annualized net charge-off percentage is multiplied by the estimated weighted-average remaining average life of the loans to calculate the loss rate.

The calculation of the estimated weighted-average remaining life of each loan pool is based on instrument-level data, with contractual principal payments adjusted for the estimated impact of prepayments. Commercial lines of credit and other revolving credit facilities are generally assumed to be repaid after 1 year. The estimated weighted-average remaining life of the entire portfolio was calculated to be 4.04 years at December 31, 2024, 4.48 years at December 31, 2023 and 4.36 years at January 1, 2023.

Qualitative Factors

The allowance for credit losses calculation includes subjective adjustments for qualitative risk factors that are deemed likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from historical experience. These qualitative adjustments generally increase allowance levels and include adjustments for factors deemed relevant, including: the nature and volume of portfolio changes, including loan portfolio growth; concentrations of credit based on loan type (such as non-owner occupied commercial real estate) or industry; the volume and severity of past due, nonaccrual or adversely classified loans; trends in real estate or other collateral values; lending policies and procedures, including changes in underwriting and collections practices; credit review function; lending, credit and other relevant management experience and risk tolerance; external factors and economic conditions not already captured.

Economic Forecast

ASC 326 requires management to consider forward-looking information that is both reasonable and supportable and relevant to the collectability of cash flows. Reasonable and supportable forecasts may extend over the entire contractual term of a financial asset or a period shorter than the contractual term. In that regard, management has selected a forecast period of 2 years, which is shorter than the estimated weighted-average remaining life of the loan portfolio.

The Corporation calculates an additional expected credit loss based the high correlation between past loss experience and the U.S national unemployment rate. This additional credit loss is added to the allowance calculation, conceptually for the first 2 years of the weighted-average remaining life of the portfolio after which time the credit loss for each pool is determined based on the WARM historical loss rate as adjusted for qualitative factors.

ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES ON OFF-BALANCE SHEET EXPOSURES

Financial instruments include off-balance sheet credit instruments, such as commitments to make loans, commercial letters of credit and credit enhancement obligations related to residential mortgage loans sold with recourse. The Corporation's exposure to credit loss in the event of nonperformance by the other party to the financial instrument for off-balance sheet loan commitments is represented by the contractual amount of those instruments. Such financial instruments are recorded when they are funded.

The Corporation records an allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures, unless the commitments to extend credit are unconditionally cancelable, through a charge to provision for unfunded commitments in the Corporation's consolidated statements of income. The allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet credit exposures is estimated by loan segment at each consolidated balance sheet date under the current expected credit loss model using the same methodologies as portfolio loans, taking into consideration the likelihood that funding will occur as well as any third-party guarantees. The allowance for off-balance sheet exposures is included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the Corporation's consolidated balance sheets and the related credit expense is recorded in the provision for credit losses in the consolidated statements of income.

BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT – Bank premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Repair and maintenance expenditures which extend the useful lives of assets are capitalized, and other repair and maintenance expenditures are expensed as incurred. Depreciation and amortization expense is computed using the straight-line method with useful lives ranging from 3 to 40 years for building and improvements and 3 to 7 years for furniture and equipment.

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS – The Corporation reviews long-lived assets, such as premises and equipment and intangibles, for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable. These changes in circumstances may include a significant decrease in the market value of an asset or the manner in which an asset is used. If there is an indication the carrying value of an asset may not be recoverable, future undiscounted cash flows expected to result from use of the asset are estimated. If the sum of the expected cash flows is less than the carrying value of the asset, a loss is recognized for the difference between the carrying value and fair market value of the asset.

FORECLOSED ASSETS HELD FOR SALE – Foreclosed assets held for sale consist of real estate acquired by foreclosure and are initially recorded at fair value, less estimated selling costs, establishing a new cost basis. If fair value declines subsequent to foreclosure, a valuation allowance is recorded through expense. Operating costs after acquisition are expensed.

GOODWILL – Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisitions over the fair value of the net assets acquired. Goodwill is tested at least annually at December 31 for impairment, or more often if events or circumstances indicate there may be impairment. The Corporation has performed a qualitative assessment for impairment at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

CORE DEPOSIT INTANGIBLES – Amortization of core deposit intangibles is calculated using an accelerated method. In determining amortization using the accelerated method for any given period, the amount of expected cash flows for that period that were used in determining the acquisition-date fair value is divided by the total amount of expected cash flows over the life of the asset. That percentage is multiplied by the initial carrying amount of the asset to arrive at amortization expense for that period. If the Corporation's cash flow patterns differ significantly from the initial estimates, the amortization schedule would be adjusted prospectively.

SERVICING RIGHTS – When mortgage loans are sold with servicing retained by the Corporation, the servicing rights are initially recorded at fair value as an asset with the consolidated statement of income effect recorded in net gains on sales of loans. Under the fair value method, the valuation of servicing rights is adjusted quarterly, with changes in fair value included in loan servicing fees, net, in the consolidated statements of income. Significant inputs to the valuation include expected net servicing income to be received, the expected life of the underlying loans and the discount rate. The servicing rights asset is included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

INCOME TAXES – Income tax provision is the total of the current year income tax due or refundable and the change in deferred tax assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amount of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases given the provisions of the enacted tax laws. Deferred tax assets are reduced, if necessary, by the amount of such benefits that are not expected to be realized based upon available evidence. Tax benefits from investments in limited partnerships that have qualified for federal low-income tax credits are recognized as a reduction in the provision for income tax over the term of the investment using the effective yield method. The Corporation includes income tax penalties in the provision for income tax. The Corporation has no accrued interest related to unrecognized tax benefits.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION –Stock-based compensation is accounted for under the fair value method as required by U.S. GAAP. The fair value of restricted stock is based on the current market price on the date of grant. The expense associated with stock-based compensation is recognized over the vesting period of each individual arrangement.

TREASURY STOCK – Common stock held in treasury is accounted for using the cost method, which treats stock held in treasury as a reduction to total stockholders' equity. The shares may be purchased in the open market or in privately negotiated transactions from time to time depending upon market conditions and other factors.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS – In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation has entered into offbalance sheet financial instruments consisting of commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. Such financial instruments are recorded in the consolidated financial statements when they are funded.

CASH FLOWS – The Corporation utilizes the net reporting of cash receipts and cash payments for certain deposit and lending activities. Cash equivalents include federal funds sold and all cash and amounts due from depository institutions and interest-bearing deposits in other banks with original maturities of three months or less.

REVENUE RECOGNITION – The Corporation generally fully satisfies its performance obligations on its contracts with customers as services are rendered and the transaction prices are typically fixed; charged either on a periodic basis or based on activity. Because performance obligations are satisfied as services are rendered and the transaction prices are fixed, there is little judgment involved in the determination of the amount and timing of revenue from contracts with customers.

Additional disclosures related to the Corporation's largest sources of noninterest income within the consolidated statements of income from contracts with customers that are subject to ASC Topic 606 are as follows:

Trust revenue – C&N Bank's trust department provides a wide range of financial services, including wealth management services for individuals, businesses and retirement funds, administration of 401(k) and other retirement plans, retirement planning, estate planning and estate settlement services. Trust clients are located primarily within the Corporation's geographic markets. Assets held in a fiduciary capacity by C&N Bank are not the Corporation's assets and are therefore not included in the consolidated balance sheets. The fair value of trust assets under administration was approximately \$1,347,853,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$1,188,082,000 at December 31, 2023. Trust revenue is included within noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income.

The majority (approximately 81%, based on annual 2024 results) of trust revenue is earned and collected monthly, with the amount determined based on a percentage of the fair value of the trust assets under administration. Wealth management fees are contractually agreed with each customer, and fee levels vary based mainly on the size of assets under administration. The services provided under such a contract represent a single performance obligation under ASC 606 because it embodies a series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same pattern of transfer to the customer. None of the contracts with trust customers provide for incentive-based fees. In addition to wealth management fees, trust revenue includes fees for provision of services, including employee benefit plan administration, tax return preparation and estate planning and settlement. Fees for such services are billed based on contractual arrangements or established fee schedules and are typically billed upon completion of providing such services. The costs of acquiring trust customers are incremental and recognized within noninterest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Brokerage and insurance revenue- Investment commissions are earned through the sales of non-deposit investment products to customers of the Corporation. The sales are conducted through a third-party broker-dealer. When the commissions are received and recorded into income on the Corporation's consolidated income statement, there is no contingent portion that may need to be refunded back to the broker-dealer.

Service charges on deposit accounts – Deposits are included as liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. Service charges on deposit accounts include: overdraft fees, which are charged when customers overdraw their accounts beyond available funds; automated teller machine (ATM) fees charged for withdrawals by deposit customers from other financial institutions' ATMs; and a variety of other monthly or transactional fees for services provided to retail and business customers, mainly associated with checking accounts. All deposit liabilities are considered to have one-day terms and therefore related fees are recognized in income at the time when the services are provided to the customers. Incremental costs of obtaining deposit contracts are not significant and are recognized as expense when incurred within noninterest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Interchange revenue from debit card transactions – The Corporation issues debit cards to consumer and business customers with checking, savings or money market deposit accounts. Debit card and ATM transactions are processed via electronic systems that involve several parties. The Corporation's debit card and ATM transaction processing is executed via contractual arrangements with payment processing networks, a processor and a settlement bank. As described above, all deposit liabilities are considered to have one-day terms and therefore interchange revenue from customers' use of their debit cards to initiate transactions are recognized in income at the time when the services are provided and related fees received in the Corporation's deposit account with the settlement bank. Incremental costs associated with ATM and interchange processing are recognized as expense when incurred within noninterest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

Bank-Owned Life Insurance- The Corporation has purchased bank-owned life insurance policies ("BOLI") and is the beneficiary of these policies that insure the lives of certain of its current and former officers. The Corporation recognizes the cash surrender value under the insurance policies as an asset in the consolidated balance sheet. Changes in the cash surrender value are recorded in non-interest income in the consolidated statements of income.

Transfer of Financial Assets- Transfers of financials assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets has been relinquished. Control over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (1) the assets have been legally isolated from the Corporation, (2) the transferree obtains the right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets, and (3) the Corporation does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets.

2. RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issues Accounting Standard Updates (ASUs) to communicate changes to the FASB Accounting Standard Codification (ASC). This section provides a summary description of recent ASUs that have significant implications (elected or required) within the consolidated financial statements, or that management expects may have a significant impact on financial statements issued in the foreseeable future.

On January 1, 2023, the Corporation adopted ASU 2016-13 Financial Instruments – Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments (ASC 326). This standard replaced the incurred loss methodology with an expected loss methodology that is referred to as the current expected credit loss ("CECL") methodology. The Corporation adopted ASC 326 using the modified retrospective approach for all financial assets measured at amortized cost and off-balance sheet credit exposures. The following table illustrates the impact on the allowance for credit losses from the adoption of ASC 326:

(In Thousands)	As Reported Under ASC 326 January 1, 2023	Pre-ASC 326 Adoption December 31, 2022	Impact of ASC 326 Adoption
Loans receivable	\$ 1,740,846	\$ 1,740,040	\$ 806
Allowance for credit losses on loans	18,719	16,615	2,104
Allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet exposures (included in accrued interest and other liabilities)	1,218	425	793
Deferred tax asset, net	21,323	20,884	439
Retained earnings	150,091	151,743	(1,652)

In November of 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, *Segment Reporting (Topic 280): Improvements to Reportable Segment Disclosures*, which requires annual and interim disclosure of significant segment expenses and other segment items. The amendments in this ASU became effective for the Corporation beginning with this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2024, and we have adopted using the retrospective transition method. See Note 21 for additional information on the adoption of ASU 2023-07.

Recently Issued but Not Yet Effective Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-09, Income Taxes (Topic 740): Improvements to Income Tax Disclosures which improves the transparency of income tax disclosures by requiring (1) consistent categories and greater disaggregation of information in the rate reconciliation and (2) income taxes paid disaggregated by jurisdiction. ASU No. 2023-09 is effective for public business entities for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024. The ASU may be adopted on a prospective or retrospective basis and early adoption is permitted. The Corporation is currently evaluating the impact the new guidance will have on disclosures related to income taxes.

In December of 2024, the FASB issued ASU 2024-03, *Income Statement—Reporting Comprehensive Income—Expense Disaggregation Disclosures (Subtopic 220-40)*, which requires disclosure of certain costs and expenses in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The amendments in this ASU will become effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2026, and will be effective for interim periods with fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2027, with early adoption permitted. The amendments will be applied prospectively with the option for retrospective application. We are currently evaluating the impact of the standard to our consolidated financial statement disclosures.

3. PER SHARE DATA

Basic earnings per common share are calculated using the two-class method to determine income attributable to common shareholders. Unvested restricted stock awards that contain nonforfeitable rights to dividends are considered participating securities under the twoclass method. Distributed dividends and an allocation of undistributed net income to participating securities reduce the amount of income attributable to common shareholders. Income attributable to common shareholders is then divided by weighted-average common shares outstanding for the period to determine basic earnings per common share.

Diluted earnings per common share are calculated under the more dilutive of either the treasury method or the two-class method. Diluted earnings per common share is computed using weighted-average common shares outstanding, plus weighted-average common shares available from the exercise of all dilutive stock options, less the number of shares that could be repurchased with the proceeds of stock option exercises based on the average share price of the Corporation's common stock during the period.

(In Thousands, Except Share and Per Share Data)	Years Ended					
	December 31, 2024			December 31, December 31, 2024 2023		
Basic						
Net income	\$	25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618
Less: Dividends and undistributed earnings allocated to participating						
securities		(211)		(186)		(237)
Net income attributable to common shares	\$	25,747	\$	23,962	\$	26,381
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding	1	15,262,504		15,241,859		15,455,432
Basic earnings per common share (a)	\$	1.69	\$	1.57	\$	1.71
Diluted						
Net income attributable to common shares	\$	25,747	\$	23,962	\$	26,381
Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding	1	15,262,504		15,241,859	_	15,455,432
Dilutive effect of potential common stock arising from stock options		0		0		3,099
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding	1	15,262,504		15,241,859	_	15,458,531
Diluted earnings per common share (a)	\$	1.69	\$	1.57	\$	1.71
Weighted-average nonvested restricted shares outstanding		125,254		118,122		138,617

(a) Basic and diluted earnings per share under the two-class method are determined on net income reported on the consolidated income statement less earnings allocated to nonvested restricted shares with nonforfeitable dividends (participating securities).

Anti-dilutive stock options are excluded from net income per share calculations. There were no anti-dilutive instruments in 2024 or 2022. Weighted-average common shares available from anti-dilutive instruments totaled 8,963 shares in 2023.

4. COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Comprehensive income (loss) is the total of (1) net income, and (2) all other changes in equity from non-stockholder sources, which are referred to as other comprehensive income (loss). The components of other comprehensive income (loss), and the related tax effects, are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Before-Tax Amount		In	come Tax Effect	N	let-of-Tax Amount
2024						
Available-for-sale debt securities:						
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale debt securities	\$	1,670	\$	124	\$	1,794
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in income		0		0		0
Other comprehensive income from available-for-sale debt securities		1,670		124		1,794
Unfunded pension and postretirement obligations:						
Changes from plan amendments and actuarial gains and losses		405		(87)		318
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss and curtailment gain included						
in net periodic benefit cost		(552)		116		(436)
Other comprehensive loss on unfunded retirement obligations		(147)		29		(118)
Total other comprehensive income	\$	1,523	\$	153	\$	1,676
2023						
Available-for-sale debt securities:						
Unrealized holding gains on available-for-sale debt securities	\$	11,512	\$	(2,418)	\$	9,094
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in income		3,036		(638)		2,398
Other comprehensive income from available-for-sale debt securities		14,548		(3,056)		11,492
Unfunded pension and postretirement obligations:	_					,
Changes from plan amendments and actuarial gains and losses		(9)		2		(7)
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss included in net periodic		~ /				
benefit cost		(56)		12		(44)
Other comprehensive loss on unfunded retirement obligations		(65)		14	_	(51)
Total other comprehensive income	\$	14,483	\$	(3,042)	\$	11,441
2022					_	
Available-for-sale debt securities:						
Unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale debt securities	\$	(69, 828)	\$	14,665	\$	(55,163)
Reclassification adjustment for (gains) realized in income		(20)		4		(16)
Other comprehensive loss from available-for-sale debt securities		(69,848)		14,669		(55,179)
Unfunded pension and postretirement obligations:				,		() /
Changes from plan amendments and actuarial gains and losses		389		(81)		308
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss included in net periodic						
benefit cost		(42)		9		(33)
Other comprehensive income on unfunded retirement obligations		347		(72)		275
Total other comprehensive loss	\$	(69,501)	\$	14,597	\$	(54,904)
	Ψ	(0),001)	÷	1.,077	¥	(3.,201)

Items reclassified out of each component of accumulated other comprehensive loss are as follows:

Description	Affected Line Item in the Consolidated Statements of Income
Reclassification adjustment for losses (gains) realized in income	
(before-tax)	Realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net
Amortization of prior service cost and net actuarial loss included in	
net periodic benefit cost (before-tax)	Other noninterest expense
Income tax effect	Income tax provision

Changes in the components of accumulated other comprehensive loss, included in stockholders' equity, are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Unrealized (Losses) Gains on Securities		(Losses) Gains Retirement		(Losses) Gains		tirement	 ccumulated Other mprehensive Loss
2024								
Balance, beginning of period	\$	(38,878)	\$	441	\$ (38,437)			
Other comprehensive income (loss) during year ended December 31, 2024		1,794		(118)	 1,676			
Balance, end of period	\$	(37,084)	\$	323	\$ (36,761)			
2023								
Balance, beginning of period	\$	(50,370)	\$	492	\$ (49,878)			
Other comprehensive income (loss) during year ended December 31, 2023		11,492		(51)	11,441			
Balance, end of period	\$	(38,878)	\$	441	\$ (38,437)			
2022								
Balance, beginning of period	\$	4,809	\$	217	\$ 5,026			
Other comprehensive (loss) income during year ended December 31, 2022		(55,179)		275	(54,904)			
Balance, end of period	\$	(50,370)	\$	492	\$ (49,878)			

5. CASH AND DUE FROM BANKS

Cash and due from banks at December 31, 2024 and 2023 include the following:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024]	December 31, 2023
Cash and cash equivalents	\$ 123,574	\$	52,778
Certificates of deposit	2,600		4,100
Total cash and due from banks	\$ 126,174	\$	56,878

Certificates of deposit are issues by U.S. banks with original maturities greater than three months. Each certificate of deposit is fully FDIC-insured. The Corporation maintains cash and cash equivalents with certain financial institutions in excess of the FDIC insurance limit.

6. SECURITIES

Amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows. No allowance for credit losses was recorded at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

(In Thousands)

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024						
	Amortized Cost	Gross Unrealized Holding Gains	Gross Unrealized Holding Losses	Fair Value			
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 8,067	\$ 0	\$ (949)	\$ 7,118			
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	10,154	0	(1,129)	9,025			
Bank holding company debt securities	28,958	0	(3,712)	25,246			
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:							
Tax-exempt	111,995	238	(10,931)	101,302			
Taxable	51,147	0	(8,641)	42,506			
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.							
Government agencies or sponsored agencies:							
Residential pass-through securities	104,378	6	(9,970)	94,414			
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations	53,389	10	(3,505)	49,894			
Commercial mortgage-backed securities	73,470	0	(8,969)	64,501			
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities	8,365	9	0	8,374			
Total available-for-sale debt securities	\$ 449,923	\$ 263	\$ (47,806)	\$ 402,380			

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2023						
	Amortized Cost	GrossGrossUnrealizedUnrealizedHoldingHoldingGainsLosses		Fair Value			
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 12,325	\$ 0	\$ (1,035)	\$ 11,290			
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	11,119	0	(1,173)	9,946			
Bank holding company debt securities	28,952	0	(5,452)	23,500			
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:							
Tax-exempt	113,464	311	(9,576)	104,199			
Taxable	58,720	0	(8,609)	50,111			
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.							
Government agencies or sponsored agencies:							
Residential pass-through securities	105,549	40	(10,184)	95,405			
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations	50,212	0	(3,750)	46,462			
Commercial mortgage-backed securities	76,412	0	(9,730)	66,682			
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities	8,215	0	(55)	8,160			
Total available-for-sale debt securities	\$ 464,968	\$ 351	\$ (49,564)	\$ 415,755			

The following table presents gross unrealized losses and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities aggregated by length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024 and 2023 for which an allowance for credit losses has not been recorded.

December 31, 2024	Less Than	12 Months	12 Month	12 Months or More		nths or More Total		tal
(In Thousands)	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses		
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 7,118	(949)	\$ 7,118	\$ (949)		
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	φ 0 0	0	9,025	(1,129)	9,025	(1,129)		
Bank holding company debt securities	0	0	25,246	(3,712)	25,246	(3,712)		
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:			-) -		- 7 -	(-)-)		
Tax-exempt	6,581	(58)	91,316	(10,873)	97,897	(10,931)		
Taxable	0	0	42,506	(8,641)	42,506	(8,641)		
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.								
Government agencies or sponsored agencies:								
Residential pass-through securities	22,777	(375)	69,282	(9,595)	92,059	(9,970)		
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations	19,586	(156)	27,157	(3,349)	46,743	(3,505)		
Commercial mortgage-backed securities	2,314	(38)	62,187	(8,931)	64,501	(8,969)		
Total	\$ 51,258	\$ (627)	\$ 333,837	\$ (47,179)	\$ 385,095	\$ (47,806)		
December 31, 2023			Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More				otal	
(In Thousands)	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses	Fair Value	Unrealized Losses		
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$ 0	\$ 0	\$ 11,290	\$ (1,035)	\$ 11,290	\$ (1,035)		
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	1,595	(9)	8,351	(1,164)	9,946	(1,173)		
Bank holding company debt securities	0	0	23,500	(5,452)	23,500	(5,452)		
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:								
Tax-exempt	3,257	(24)	96,758	(9,552)	100,015	(9,576)		
Taxable	0	0	49,961	(8,609)	49,961	(8,609)		
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S.								
Government agencies or sponsored agencies:								
Residential pass-through securities	3,334	(27)		(10,157)	87,631	(10,184)		
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations	3,588	(2)		(3,748)	36,396	(3,750)		
Commercial mortgage-backed securities	2,327	(16)		(9,714)	66,682	(9,730)		
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities	8,160	(55)		0	8,160	(55)		
Total	\$ 22,261	\$ (133)	\$ 371,320	\$ (49,431)	\$ 393,581	\$ (49,564)		

As reflected in the table above, gross unrealized holding losses on available-for-sale debt securities totaled \$47,806,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$49,564,000 at December 31, 2023. At December 31, 2024, the Corporation does not have the intent to sell, nor is it more likely than not it will be required to sell, these securities before it is able to recover the amortized cost basis. The unrealized holding losses were consistent with significant increases in market interest rates that occurred subsequent to the purchase of most of the securities.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, management performed an assessment for credit losses of the Corporation's debt securities on an issue-by-issue basis, relying on information obtained from various sources, including publicly available financial data, ratings by external agencies, brokers and other sources. At December 31, 2024 and 2023, all of the Corporation's holdings of bank holding company debt securities, obligations of states and political subdivisions and private label commercial mortgage-backed securities were investment grade and there have been no payment defaults.

Based on the results of the assessment, there was no ACL required on available-for-sale debt securities in an unrealized loss position at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Gross realized gains and losses from available-for-sale securities and the related income tax provision were as follows:

(In Thousands)	20	2024		2024		2024		2024 2023		2023		2022
Gross realized gains from sales	\$	0	\$	89	\$	48						
Gross realized losses from sales		0		(3,125)		(28)						
Net realized (losses) gains	\$	0	\$	(3,036)	\$	20						
Income tax provision related to net realized (losses) gains	\$	0	\$	(638)	\$	4						

The amortized cost and fair value of available-for-sale debt securities by contractual maturity are shown in the following table as of December 31, 2024. Actual maturities may differ from contractual maturities because counterparties may have the right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.

(In Thousands)	December 31, 202			024
	Amortized Cost			Fair Value
Due in one year or less	\$	5,296	\$	5,252
Due from one year through five years		33,440		31,113
Due from five years through ten years		78,665		70,174
Due after ten years		92,920		78,658
Sub-total		210,321		185,197
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies or sponsored agencies:				
Residential pass-through securities		104,378		94,414
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations		53,389		49,894
Commercial mortgage-backed securities		73,470		64,501
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities		8,365		8,374
Total	\$	449,923	\$	402,380

The Corporation's mortgage-backed securities have stated maturities that may differ from actual maturities due to borrowers' ability to prepay obligations. Cash flows from such investments are dependent upon the performance of the underlying mortgage loans and are generally influenced by the level of interest rates. In the table above, mortgage-backed securities and collateralized mortgage obligations are shown in one period.

Investment securities carried at \$190,949,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$232,437,000 at December 31, 2023 were pledged as collateral for public deposits, trusts and certain other deposits, as provided by law, to secure uninsured deposits totaling \$144,066,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$136,494,000 at December 31, 2023. See Note 11 for information concerning securities pledged to secure borrowing arrangements.

Equity Securities

C&N Bank is a member of the Federal Home Loan Bank of Pittsburgh (FHLB-Pittsburgh), which is one of 11 regional Federal Home Loan Banks. As a member, C&N Bank is required to purchase and maintain stock in FHLB-Pittsburgh. There is no active market for FHLB-Pittsburgh stock, and it must ordinarily be redeemed by FHLB-Pittsburgh in order to be liquidated. C&N Bank's investment in FHLB-Pittsburgh stock, included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, was \$15,018,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$15,214,000 at December 31, 2023. The Corporation evaluated its holding of FHLB-Pittsburgh stock for impairment and deemed the stock to not be impaired at December 31, 2024 and 2023. In making this determination, management concluded that recovery of total outstanding par value, which equals the carrying value, is expected. The decision was based on review of financial information that FHLB-Pittsburgh has made publicly available.

In July 2023, C&N Bank became a member of the Federal Reserve System. As a member, C&N Bank is required to purchase and maintain stock in the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia. There is no active market for Federal Reserve Bank stock, and it must ordinarily be redeemed by the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia in order to be liquidated. C&N Bank's investment in Federal Reserve Bank stock, included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets, was \$6,299,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$6,252,000 at December 31, 2023.

The Corporation's marketable equity security, with a carrying value of \$863,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$871,000 at December 31, 2023 consisted exclusively of one mutual fund. There was an unrealized loss of \$137,000 on the mutual fund at December 31, 2024 and \$129,000 at December 31, 2023. Changes in the unrealized gains or losses on this security, which are included in other noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income, were a loss of \$8,000 in 2024, a gain of \$12,000 in 2023 and a loss of \$112,000 in 2022. There were no sales of equity securities in 2024, 2023 and 2022.

7. LOANS AND ALLOWANCE FOR CREDIT LOSSES

Loans receivable at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are summarized as follows:

Summary of Loans by Type (In Thousands)

	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$ 739,565	\$ 737,342
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	261,071	237,246
All other commercial loans	423,277	399,693
Residential mortgage loans	408,009	413,714
Consumer loans	63,926	60,144
Total	1,895,848	1,848,139
Less: allowance for credit losses on loans	(20,035) (19,208)
Loans, net	\$ 1,875,813	\$ 1,828,931

In the table above, outstanding loan balances are presented net of deferred loan origination fees of \$4,136,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$4,459,000 at December 31, 2023.

The Corporation grants loans to individuals as well as commercial and tax-exempt entities. Commercial, residential and personal loans are made to customers geographically concentrated in Northcentral Pennsylvania, the Southern tier of New York State, Southeastern Pennsylvania and Southcentral Pennsylvania. Although the Corporation has a diversified loan portfolio, a significant portion of its debtors' ability to honor their contracts is dependent on the local economic conditions within the region.

The following table presents an analysis of past due loans as of December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In Thousands)	As of December 31, 2024												
		Past Due 30-89 Days	90+	st Due ⊦ Days Accruing	Nonaccrual ng Loans			Current Loans		Total Loans			
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	266	\$	0	\$	7,370	\$	731,929	\$	739,565			
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		0		62		1,725		259,284		261,071			
All other commercial loans		296		0		10,006		412,975		423,277			
Residential mortgage loans		4,934		0		4,310		398,765		408,009			
Consumer loans		162		57	_	431	_	63,276		63,926			
Total	\$	5,658	\$	119	\$	23,842	\$	1,866,229	\$	1,895,848			

(In Thousands)	As of December 31, 2023												
		Past Due 30-89 Days	9	Past Due 0+ Days I Accruing	N	onaccrual Loans				Total Loans			
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	2,215	\$	126	\$	8,412	\$	726,589	\$	737,342			
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		849		0		1,575		234,822		237,246			
All other commercial loans		229		2,593		1,323		395,548		399,693			
Residential mortgage loans		5,365		326		3,627		404,396		413,714			
Consumer loans		617		145		240		59,142		60,144			
Total	\$	9,275	\$	3,190	\$	15,177	\$	1,820,497	\$	1,848,139			

The Corporation uses an internal risk rating system. Under the risk rating system, the Corporation classifies problem or potential problem loans as "Special Mention," "Substandard," or "Doubtful" on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values. Loans that do not currently expose the Corporation to sufficient risk to warrant classification as Substandard or Doubtful, but possess weaknesses that deserve management's close attention, are deemed to be Special Mention. Substandard loans include those characterized by the distinct possibility that the Corporation will sustain some loss if the deficiencies are not corrected. Loans classified as Doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in those classified as Substandard with the added characteristic that the weaknesses present make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions and values, highly questionable and improbable. Risk ratings are updated any time that conditions or the situation warrants. Loans not classified are included in the "Pass" rows in the table that follows.

Residential mortgage and consumer loans are classified as Pass unless they become 90 days delinquent at which time their classification is changed to Substandard. Such loans are classified as Substandard until six consecutive on-time payments are made at which time their classification is changes back to Pass.

The following table presents the amortized cost in loans by credit quality indicators by year of origination as of December 31, 2024:

(In Thousands)			Те	m I	Loans by Ye	ear	of Origina	tic	on						
		2024	2023		2022		2021		2020		Prior	F	Revolving		Total
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied															
Pass	\$	59,708	\$ 99,900	\$	161,497	\$	78,884	\$	51,851	\$ 2	243,578	\$	0	\$	695,418
Special Mention		0	0		16,233		1,371		0		8,188		0		25,792
Substandard		116	0		9,928		0		0		8,311		0		18,355
Doubtful		0	0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total commercial real estate - non-owner	_														
occupied	\$	59,824	\$ 99,900	\$	187,658	\$	80,255	\$	51,851	\$ 2	260,077	\$	0	\$	739,565
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$ 0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	757	\$	0	\$	757
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	_									_					
Pass	\$	25,552	\$ 33,533	\$	52,207	\$	49,410 \$	\$	11,444	\$	76,558	\$	0	\$	248,704
Special Mention	•	0	0		0	•	0		0		961	•	0	•	961
Substandard		0	5,125		729		2,367		0		3,185		0		11,406
Doubtful		0	0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total commercial real estate - owner									-		-				
occupied	\$	25,552	\$ 38,658	\$	52,936	\$	51,777 \$	\$	11,444	\$	80,704	\$	0	\$	261,071
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	,	\$			0		0	_	0		0	_	0
All other commercial loans	<u> </u>			-		-		- -				-		<u> </u>	
Pass	\$	73.812	\$ 74.301	\$	44,245	\$	44.367	\$	23.084	\$	30.656	\$	109.121	\$	399,586
Special Mention	Ψ	533	0		2,306	Ψ	2	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	2,147	Ψ	4,988
Substandard		44	0		3,478		5,229		109		1,078		8,765		18,703
Doubtful		0	0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total all other commercial loans	\$	74,389	\$ 74,301	\$	50,029	\$	49,598	\$	23,193	\$	31,734	\$	120,033	\$	423,277
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	-	\$			60 5		21	-	122		0		630
Residential mortgage loans	-			_ <u> </u>		•		•		-		÷		-	
Pass	\$	41,450	\$ 48,937	S	80,789	\$	50.108	\$	35.601	\$	146.231	\$	0	\$	403,116
Special Mention	Ψ	0	0		0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ.	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0
Substandard		0	380		0		85		82		4,346		0		4,893
Doubtful		0	0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total residential mortgage loans	\$	41,450	\$ 49,317	\$	80,789	\$	50.193	\$	35.683	\$	150.577	\$	0	\$	408,009
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	,	\$	0		0		0		0	_	0	_	0
Consumer loans	Ψ					Ψ		Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ		Ψ	0
Pass	\$	3,859	\$ 3,441	\$	2,848	\$	1,013	2	599	\$	679	\$	50,860	\$	63,299
Special Mention	Ψ	0	0		2,040 0	φ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	ψ	0	Ψ	05,277
Substandard		0	8		4		0		0		71		544		627
Doubtful		0	0		0		0		0		0		0		027
Total consumer loans	\$	3,859		_		\$	1,013	2	599	8		\$	51,404	\$	63,926
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	-	\$			7	-	8			\$	114		329
	ψ	0	¢ 07		150	Ψ	/ \	Ψ	0	φ	1	Ψ	117	Ψ	527
Total Loans	¢	20/ 201	260 112	¢	341,586	¢ ^	12 702	¢.	122 570	¢	107 702	¢	150 001	¢ 1	810.122
Pass Special Montion	Э.	,	,		,	φ 2	,	φ.	,	φ2	,	Φ	,	φI	, ,
Special Mention		533	5 5 1 3		18,539		1,373		0 191		9,149		2,147		31,741
Substandard Doubtful		160 0	5,513		14,139		7,681 0		191		16,991		9,309 0		53,984
Total	¢		0		0	¢ ^		¢.		¢ 4	523.842	¢		¢ 1	0
					374,264							φ		_	
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	▶ 69	\$	557	\$	67	\$	29	\$	880		114	\$	1,716

The following table presents the amortized cost in loans by credit quality indicators by year of origination as of December 31, 2023:

					m I		ear	of Origin	atic							
(In Thousands)		2023		2022		2021		2020		2019		Prior	F	Revolving		Total
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied																
Pass	\$	96,615	\$	167,484	\$	89,582	\$	55,390	\$	80,020	\$:	207,017		0		696,108
Special Mention		0		20,072		2,446		0		116		6,188		0		28,822
Substandard		0		0		0		18		566		11,828		0		12,412
Doubtful		0		0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total commercial real estate - non-owner													_			
occupied	\$	96,615	\$	187,556	\$	92,028	\$	55,408	\$	80,702	\$:	225,033	\$	0	\$	737,342
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0		0		0			\$	0		0	-	0	\$	0
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	-		Ψ		-		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		Ψ		-	
Pass	2	33 761	\$	37,429	\$	52 090	\$	12 858	\$	17,505	\$	71,775	\$	0	2	225,418
Special Mention	ψ	104	ψ	746	ψ	0	ψ	12,050	ψ	0	ψ	166	ψ	0	ψ	1,016
Substandard		5,200		0		2,567		0		0		3,045		0		10,812
Doubtful		0,200		0		2,507		0		0		0		0		0
Total commercial real estate - owner		0		0		0		0		0		0		0		0
occupied	\$	30.065	\$	38,175	¢	54 657	¢	12 858	¢	17 505	\$	74 086	¢	0	2	237.246
	_				_					0		0			-	
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	2	0
All other commercial loans	•		•	00	^		^		^		•		•		•	
Pass	\$	58,393	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$		\$	107,234	\$	376,465
Special Mention		0		2,690		5,043		8		0		794		301		8,836
Substandard		0		1,267		1,250		453		679		1,085		9,658		14,392
Doubtful		0	. <u></u>	0		0		0		0	. <u></u>	0	. <u></u>	0		0
Total all other commercial loans	\$	58,393		94,517		58,106	_		-	17,100	_		-	117,193	\$	399,693
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	12	\$	12
Residential mortgage loans																
Pass	\$	57,300	\$	87,519	\$	56,183	\$	39,411	\$	32,401	\$	135,546	\$	0	\$	408,360
Special Mention		0		0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Substandard		0		0		0		285		369		4,700		0		5,354
Doubtful		0		0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total residential mortgage loans	\$	57,300	\$	87,519	\$	56,183	\$	39,696	\$	32,770	\$	140,246	\$	0	\$	413,714
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	33	\$	0	\$	33
Consumer loans	-		<u> </u>				<u> </u>				<u> </u>		-		÷	
Pass	\$	6,020	\$	4,664	S	1,944	\$	1,205	\$	175	\$	913	\$	44,312	\$	59,233
Special Mention	Ψ	0,020	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0	Ψ	0,200
Substandard		0		0		5		11		1		58		836		911
Doubtful		0		0		0		0		0		0		0.50		0
Total consumer loans	\$	6,020	2	4,664	\$	1,949	8	1,216	8	176	\$	971	\$		\$	60,144
	<u> </u>	ć									_		_	,	_	ć
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$	149	\$	0	\$	18	\$	3	ф	3	Ф	138	Ф	311
Total Loans		0.50 0.00	Ċ	207 675	Ć	0.51 (15	¢	100 - 202	¢	146	¢	120	¢	1	ф	
Pass	\$		\$		\$		\$		\$		\$.		\$		\$ 1	1,765,584
Special Mention		104		23,508		7,489		8		116		7,148		301		38,674
Substandard		5,200		1,267		3,822		767		1,615		20,716		10,494		43,881
Doubtful	_	0		0		0		0		0		0		0		0
Total	\$				_							467,441	\$		_	1,848,139
Year-to-date gross charge-offs	\$	0	\$	149	\$	0	\$	18	\$	3	\$	36		150	\$	356

The following table is a summary of the Corporation's nonaccrual loans by major categories for the periods indicated.

	December 31, 2024											
(In Thousands)		ual Loans with Allowance		crual Loans Allowance	Tota	l Nonaccrual Loans						
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	7,370	\$	0	\$	7,370						
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		1,467		258		1,725						
All other commercial loans		10,006		0		10,006						
Residential mortgage loans		4,310		0		4,310						
Consumer loans		431		0		431						
Total	\$	23,584	\$	258	\$	23,842						

	December 31, 2023											
	Nonaccr	ual Loans with	Nonac	crual Loans	Tota	l Nonaccrual						
(In Thousands)	No	Allowance	with a	n Allowance		Loans						
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	1,111	\$	7,301	\$	8,412						
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		1,281		294		1,575						
All other commercial loans		1,132		191		1,323						
Residential mortgage loans		3,627		0		3,627						
Consumer loans		240		0		240						
Total	\$	7,391	\$	7,786	\$	15,177						

The Corporation recognized \$1,042,000 and \$932,000 of interest income on nonaccrual loans during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

The following table presents the accrued interest receivable written off by reversing interest income during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In Thousands)	 r Ended er 31, 2024	-	ear Ended mber 31, 2023
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$ 22	\$	48
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	10		0
All other commercial loans	198		0
Residential mortgage loans	29		28
Consumer loans	 10		3
Total	\$ 269	\$	79

The Corporation has certain loans for which repayment is dependent upon the operation or sale of collateral, as the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The underlying collateral can vary based upon the type of loan. The following provides more detail about the types of collateral that secure collateral dependent loans:

- Commercial real estate loans can be secured by either owner occupied commercial real estate or non-owner occupied investment commercial real estate. Typically, owner occupied commercial real estate loans are secured by office buildings, warehouses, manufacturing facilities and other commercial and industrial properties occupied by operating companies. Nonowner occupied commercial real estate loans are generally secured by office buildings and complexes, retail facilities, multifamily complexes, land under development, industrial properties, as well as other commercial or industrial real estate.
- All other commercial loans include loans typically secured by business assets including inventory, equipment and receivables. Also within this category, commercial construction and land loans and some commercial lines of credit are secured by real estate.
- Residential mortgage loans are typically secured by first mortgages, and in some cases could be secured by a second mortgage.
- Consumer loans are generally secured by automobiles, motorcycles, recreational vehicles and other personal property. Some consumer loans are unsecured and have no underlying collateral.

The following table details the amortized cost of collateral dependent loans, which are individually evaluated to determine expected credit losses, and the related allowance for credit losses on these loans:

			Decembe	er 31, 20	23			
	Amortized					mortized		
(In Thousands)		Allo	wance		Cost	Alle	owance	
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	7,370	\$	0	\$	8,412	\$	648
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		6,749		122		1,575		5
All other commercial loans		16,006	_	0		1,277		90
Total	\$	30,125	\$	122	\$	11,264	\$	743

The following tables summarize the activity related to the ACL on loans for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

	Commercial real estate - nonowner		rea	mmercial al estate - owner	All other commercial		Residential I mortgage		Consumer			
(In Thousands)	(occupied	0	ccupied		loans		loans		loans		Total
Balance, December 31, 2023	\$	12,010	\$	2,116	\$	2,918	\$	1,764	\$	400	\$	19,208
Charge-offs		(757)		0		(630)		0		(329)		(1,716)
Recoveries		0		0		40		6		67		113
Provision (credit) for credit losses on loans		711		728		1,033		(414)		372		2,430
Balance, December 31, 2024	\$	11,964	\$	2,844	\$	3,361	\$	1,356	\$	510	\$	20,035

(In Thousands)	Commercial real estate - nonowner occupied	Commercial real estate - owner occupied	All other commercial loans	Residential mortgage loans	Consumer loans	Unallocated	Total
Balance, December 31, 2022	\$ 6,305	\$ 1,942	\$ 4,142	\$ 2,751	\$ 475	\$ 1,000	\$ 16,615
Adoption of ASU 2016-13 (CECL)	3,763	7	(88)	(344)	(234)	(1,000)	2,104
Charge-offs	0	0	(12)	(33)	(311)	0	(356)
Recoveries	0	0	44	11	37	0	92
Provision (credit) for credit losses on loans	1,942	167	(1,168)	(621)	433	0	753
Balance, December 31, 2023	\$ 12,010	\$ 2,116	\$ 2,918	\$ 1,764	\$ 400	\$ 0	\$ 19,208

The ACL on loans individually evaluated decreased to \$122,000 at December 31, 2024 from \$743,000 at December 31, 2023, primarily from partial charge-offs including two loans with individual ACLs at December 31, 2023.

The ACL on loans collectively evaluated was \$19,913,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$18,465,000 at December 31, 2023. The increase in the ACL at December 31, 2024 as compared to December 31, 2023 included a net increase related to changes in qualitative adjustments and the net impact of an increase in loans receivable, partially offset by a decrease in the WARM method estimate and a decrease related to the economic forecast.

The ACL on loans individually evaluated was \$743,000 at December 31, 2023 compared to \$751,000 at January 1, 2023, upon the initial adoption of CECL. The decrease in the ACL at December 31, 2023 from January 1, 2023 included a net increase related to changes in qualitative adjustments, an increase related to the economic forecast and the net impact of an increase in loans receivable, partially offset by a decrease in the WARM method estimate.

Prior to the adoption of ASC 326 on January 1, 2023, the Corporation calculated the allowance for loan losses under the incurred loss methodology. The following tables are disclosed related to the allowance for loan losses in prior period of 2022.

Transactions within the allowance for loan losses, summarized by segment and class were as follows:

Year Ended December 31, 2022 (In Thousands)	December 31, 2021 Balance		Ch	Charge-offs		Recoveries	_	Provision (Credit)	De	cember 31, 2022 Balance
Allowance for Loan Losses:										
Commercial:										
Commercial loans secured by real estate	\$	4,405	\$	(3,942)	\$	0	\$	6,611	\$	7,074
Commercial and industrial		2,723		(150)		0		336		2,909
Commercial construction and land		637		0		0		10		647
Loans secured by farmland		115		0		0		(3)		112
Multi-family (5 or more) residential		215		0		0		196		411
Agricultural loans		25		0		0		(4)		21
Other commercial loans		173		0		0		(49)		124
Total commercial		8,293		(4,092)		0		7,097		11,298
Residential mortgage:									_	
Residential mortgage loans - first liens		3,650		0		4		(241)		3,413
Residential mortgage loans - junior liens		184		0		0		(17)		167
Home equity lines of credit		302		0		15		(35)		282
1-4 Family residential construction		202		0		0		9		211
Total residential mortgage		4,338		0		19	_	(284)		4,073
Consumer		235		(153)		49		113		244
Unallocated		671		0		0		329		1,000
Total Allowance for Loan Losses	\$	13,537	\$	(4,245)	\$	68	\$	7,255	\$	16,615

The average balance of impaired loans and interest income recognized on impaired loans is as follows:

(In Thousands)				
	Average Investment in Impaired Loans Year Ended December 31, 2022			t Income Recognized on ed Loans on a Cash Basis
			Year	Ended December 31, 2022
Commercial:				
Commercial loans secured by real estate	\$	9,757	\$	657
Commercial and industrial		2,078		210
Commercial construction and land		72		3
Loans secured by farmland		80		0
Multi-family (5 or more) residential		197		1,156
Agricultural loans		60		4
Total commercial		12,244		2,030
Residential mortgage:				
Residential mortgage loans - first lien		575		24
Residential mortgage loans - junior lien		33		7
Home equity lines of credit		43		4
Total residential mortgage		651		35
Total	\$	12,895	\$	2,065

The increase in interest income recognized on a cash basis on impaired loans in 2022 resulted mainly from repayments received on loans that had been classified as purchased credit impaired at December 31, 2021.

Modifications Made to Borrowers Experiencing Financial Difficulty

The Corporation may occasionally make modifications to loans where the borrower is experiencing financial difficulty. The following tables summarize the amortized cost basis of loans modified during the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(Dollars in Thousands)			d December 31, 2024
(Donars in Thousands)	Amortized Cost Basis	% of Total Loan Type	Financial Effect
			Extended the maturity of one loan for 6 months and one loan for 5
Commercial Real Estate - Non-owner Occupied	\$ 2,625	0.35 9	% years
			Extended the maturity of one loan
Commercial Real Estate - Owner Occupied	218	0.08	% for 12 months
Total	\$ 2,843		
		Year Ende	d December 31, 2023
(Dollars in Thousands)		Ter	m Extension
	Amortized Cost	% of Total	
	Basis	Loan Type	Financial Effect
			Extended the maturity of one loan
			for 6 months and another loan for
Commercial Real Estate - Non-owner Occupied	\$ 3,907	0.53	% 12 months

The Corporation closely monitors the performance of the loans that are modified to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty to understand the effectiveness of its modification efforts. Because the effect of most modifications made to borrowers experiencing financial difficulty is already included in the allowance for credit losses because of the measurement methodologies used to estimate the allowance, a change to the allowance for credit losses is generally not recorded upon modification.

The following tables present the performance of such loans that have been modified in the twelve-month period preceding December 31, 2024 and the twelve-month period preceding December 31, 2023 (in thousands):

(In Thousands)	Payment Status (Amortized Cost Basis)					1
	Current or Past Due					
December 31, 2024	Less than 30 Days		90+ Days Past Due			Total
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	2,625	\$	0	\$	2,625
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		218		0		218
Total	\$	2,843	\$	0	\$	2,843

(In Thousands)		Payment Status (Amortized Cost Basis)					
	(Current or Past					
	D	ue Less than 30					
December 31, 2023		Days	90+ Days Past Due			Total	
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	2,526	\$	1,381	\$	3,907	

In the table immediately above, at December 31, 2024 the loan secured by owner occupied commercial real estate of \$218,000 and one of the loans secured by non-owner occupied commercial real estate with an amortized cost basis of \$1,814,000 were in nonaccrual status. Both of the loans included in the table at December 31, 2023 were in nonaccrual status.

For the loan secured by non-owner occupied real estate with an amortized cost basis of \$1,814,000 at December 31, 2024, the Corporation had extended the maturity for 12 months in the fourth quarter 2023. In 2024, the borrower continued to experience financial difficulty, and the Corporation provided another six-month extension of the maturity. The Corporation recorded a partial charge-off of \$640,000 on this loan in 2024. There was no specific allowance on this loan at December 31, 2024, while the specific allowance was \$486,000 at December 31, 2023.

The loan that was past due more than 90 days at December 31, 2023 in the table above was in default with its modified terms in 2024. The Corporation received payments totaling \$48,000 in 2024, all of which were applied to principal. The amortized cost basis of the loan was \$1,333,000 at December 31, 2024.

Except as described above, the Corporation had no commitments to lend any additional funds on modified loans during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023, the Corporation had no loans that defaulted during the year ended December 31, 2024 and 2023 and had been modified preceding the payment default when the borrower was experiencing financial difficulty at the time of modification

The carrying amount of foreclosed residential real estate properties held as a result of obtaining physical possession (included in Foreclosed assets held for sale in the consolidated balance sheets) is as follows:

(In Thousands)	December 2024			ecember 31, 2023	
Foreclosed residential real estate	\$	25	\$	47	

The amortized cost of consumer mortgage loans secured by residential real properties for which formal foreclosure proceedings were in process is as follows:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024		Dec	cember 31, 2023
Residential real estate in process of foreclosure	\$	717	\$	1,227

The Corporation maintains an allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures such as unfunded balances for existing lines of credit, commitments to extend future credit, commercial letters of credit and credit enhancement obligations related to residential mortgage loans sold with recourse, when there is a contractual obligation to extend credit and when this extension of credit is not unconditionally cancellable (i.e. commitment cannot be canceled at any time). Additional information related to commitments to extend credit and standby letter of credits is provided in Note 15. The allowance for off-balance sheet credit exposures is adjusted as a provision for credit loss expense. The estimate includes consideration of the likelihood that funding will occur and an estimate of expected credit losses on commitments expected to be funded over their estimated lives. The allowance for credit losses for off-balance sheet exposures of \$455,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$690,000 at December 31, 2023, is included in accrued interest and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets.

The following table presents the balance and activity in the allowance for credit losses for off-balance sheet exposures for the years ended December 31, 2024 and 2023.

	Year Ended		Ye	ar Ended
(In Thousands)	Decemb	oer 31, 2024	Decem	ber 31, 2023
Balance, Beginning of Period	\$	690	\$	425
Adjustment to allowance for off-balance sheet exposures for adoption of ASU 2016-13		0		793
Recoveries		0		39
Credit for unfunded commitments		(235)		(567)
Balance, End of Period	\$	455	\$	690

8. BANK PREMISES AND EQUIPMENT

(In Thousands)

(
	2024	2023						
Land	\$ 3,573	\$ 3,573						
Buildings and improvements	33,623	32,582						
Furniture and equipment	14,266	14,618						
Construction in progress	186	614						
Total	51,648	51,387						
Less: accumulated depreciation	(30,310)) (29,755)						
Net	\$ 21,338	\$ 21,632						

December 31.

Depreciation and amortization expense is included in the following line items of the consolidated statements of income:

(In Thousands)	2024		2023		2022
Net occupancy and equipment expense	\$	2,122	\$	1,915	\$ 2,049
Data processing and telecommunications expense		61		236	340
Total	\$	2,183	\$	2,151	\$ 2,389

9. GOODWILL AND CORE DEPOSIT INTANGIBLES, NET

Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of acquisitions over the fair value of the net assets acquired. There were no changes in the carrying amount of goodwill in 2024 and 2023. The balance in goodwill was \$52,505,000 at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The Corporation did not complete any acquisitions in 2024 or 2023.

In testing goodwill for impairment at December 31, 2024, the Corporation performed a qualitative assessment based on comparison of the Corporation's market capitalization to its stockholders' equity, resulting in the determination that the fair value of its reporting unit, its community banking operation, exceeded its carrying amount. Accordingly, there was no goodwill impairment at December 31, 2024.

There were no goodwill impairment charges recorded in the years ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022.

Information related to the core deposit intangibles is as follows:

(In Thousands)	 December 31,			
	2024	4 202		
Gross amount	\$ 6,639	\$	6,639	
Accumulated amortization	(4,559)		(4,170)	
Net	\$ 2,080	\$	2,469	

Amortization expense related to core deposit intangibles is included in other noninterest expense in the consolidated statements of income, as follows:

(In Thousands)	Year Ended December 31,				Ι,	
	2024 2023			2022		
Amortization expense	\$	389	\$	408	\$	439

The amount of amortization expense to be recognized in each of the ensuing five years is as follows:

(In Thousands)	
2025	\$ 424
2026	396
2027	361
2028	304
2026 2027 2028 2029	250

10. DEPOSITS

At December 31, 2024 the scheduled maturities of time deposits are as follows:

(In Thousands)	
2025	\$ 347,705
2026 2027	110,938
2027	14,523
2028	7,190
2029	4,001
Total	\$ 484,357

Time deposits of more than \$250,000 totaled \$175,447,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$134,085,000 at December 31, 2023. As of December 31, 2024, the remaining maturities or time to next re-pricing of time deposits more than \$250,000 was as follows:

(In Thousands)	
Three months or less	\$ 38,392
Over 3 months through 12 months	83,209
Over 1 year through 3 years	53,446
Over 3 years	400
Total	\$ 175,447

11. BORROWED FUNDS

SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS

Short-term borrowings (initial maturity within one year) include the following:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023		
FHLB-Pittsburgh borrowings	\$ 6 0	\$	31,500	
Customer repurchase agreements	2,488		2,374	
Total short-term borrowings	\$ 5 2,488	\$	33,874	

The weighted average interest rate on total short-term borrowings outstanding was 0.10% at December 31, 2024 and 5.23% at December 31, 2023. The maximum amount of total short-term borrowings outstanding at any month-end was \$61,936,000 in 2024, \$120,290,000 in 2023 and \$90,042,000 in 2022.

The Corporation had available credit with other correspondent banks totaling \$75,000,000 at December 31, 2024 and at December 31, 2023. These lines of credit are primarily unsecured. No amounts were outstanding at December 31, 2024 or 2023.

The Corporation has a line of credit with the Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia's Discount Window. At December 31, 2024, the Corporation had available credit in the amount of \$18,093,000 on this line with no outstanding advances. At December 31, 2023, the Corporation had available credit in the amount of \$19,982,000 on this line with no outstanding advances. As collateral for this line, the Corporation has pledged available-for-sale securities with a carrying value of \$18,881,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$20,829,000 at December 31, 2023.

The Corporation engages in repurchase agreements with certain commercial customers. These agreements provide that the Corporation sells specified investment securities to the customers on an overnight basis and repurchases them on the following business day. The weighted average rate paid by the Corporation on customer repurchase agreements was 0.10% at December 31, 2024 and 2023. The carrying value of the underlying securities was \$2,500,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$2,400,000 at December 31, 2023.

The FHLB-Pittsburgh loan facility is collateralized by qualifying loans secured by real estate with a book value totaling \$1,351,770,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$1,323,008,000 at December 31, 2023. Also, the FHLB-Pittsburgh loan facility requires the Corporation to invest in established amounts of FHLB-Pittsburgh stock. The carrying values of the Corporation's holdings of FHLB-Pittsburgh stock (included in other assets) were \$15,018,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$15,214,000 at December 31, 2023. The Corporation's total credit facility with FHLB-Pittsburgh was \$938,691,000 at December 31, 2024, including an unused (available) amount of \$749,999,000. At December 31, 2023, the Corporation's total credit facility with FHLB-Pittsburgh was \$926,845,000, including an unused (available) amount of \$737,824,000.

At December 31, 2024, there were no outstanding short-term borrowings from FHLB-Pittsburgh. At December 31, 2023, the overnight borrowing from FHLB-Pittsburgh was \$6,500,000 at an interest rate of 5.68% with short-term advances that matured in the first quarter 2024 totaling \$25,000,000 with a weighted average interest rate of 5.60%.

LONG-TERM BORROWINGS – FHLB ADVANCES

Long-term borrowings from FHLB-Pittsburgh are as follows:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024	December 31, 2023
Loans matured in 2024 with a weighted-average rate of 3.09%	0	32,161
Loans maturing in 2025 with a weighted-average rate of 4.30%	44,516	44,627
Loans maturing in 2026 with a weighted-average rate of 4.61%	48,018	35,518
Loans maturing in 2027 with a weighted-average rate of 4.24%	34,571	24,031
Loans maturing in 2028 with a weighted-average rate of 4.30%	26,027	2,000
Loans maturing in 2029 with a weighted-average rate of 4.42%	12,319	0
Total long-term FHLB-Pittsburgh borrowings	\$ 165,451	\$ 138,337

Note: For loans maturing after 2024, weighted-average rates are presented as of December 31, 2024.

SENIOR NOTES

In 2021, the Corporation issued and sold \$15.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 2.75% Fixed Rate Senior Unsecured Notes due 2026 (the "Senior Notes"). The Senior Notes mature on June 1, 2026 and bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 2.75%. The Corporation is not entitled to redeem the Senior Notes, in whole or in part, at any time prior to maturity and the Senior Notes are not subject to redemption by the holders. The Senior Notes are unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Corporation only and are not obligations of, and are not guaranteed by, any subsidiary of the Corporation.

The Senior Notes were recorded, net of debt issuance costs of \$337,000, at an initial carrying amount of \$14,663,000. Debt issuance costs are amortized over the term of the Senior Notes as an adjustment of the effective interest rate. Amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the Senior Notes totaling \$68,000 in 2024, \$66,000 in 2023 and \$64,000 in 2022 was included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

At December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, outstanding Senior Notes are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Dec	cember 31, 2024	December 31, 2023			
Senior Notes with an aggregate par value of \$15,000,000; bearing interest at 2.75% with an						
effective interest rate of 3.23%; maturing in June 2026	\$	14,899	\$	14,831		
Total carrying value	\$	14,899	\$	14,831		

SUBORDINATED DEBT

In 2021, the Corporation issued and sold \$25.0 million in aggregate principal amount of 3.25% Fixed-to-Floating Rate Subordinated Notes due 2031 (the "Subordinated Notes"). The Subordinated Notes mature on June 1, 2031 and bear interest at a fixed annual rate of 3.25%, to June 1, 2026. From June 1, 2026 to maturity or early redemption, the interest rate will reset quarterly to an interest rate per annum equal to the three-month Secured Overnight Financing Rate provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York plus 259 basis points. The Corporation is entitled to redeem the Subordinated Notes, in whole or in part, at any time on or after June 1, 2026, and to

redeem the Subordinated Notes at any time in whole upon certain other events. Any redemption of the Subordinated Notes will be subject to prior regulatory approval to the extent required.

The Subordinated Notes are not subject to redemption at the option of the holders. The Subordinated Notes are unsecured, subordinated obligations of the Corporation only and are not obligations of, and are not guaranteed by, any subsidiary of the Corporation. The Subordinated Notes rank junior in right to payment to the Corporation's current and future senior indebtedness, including the Senior Notes (described above). The Subordinated Notes are intended to qualify as Tier 2 capital for regulatory capital purposes.

The Subordinated Notes were recorded, net of debt issuance costs of \$563,000, at an initial carrying amount of \$24,437,000. Debt issuance costs are amortized through June 1, 2026 as an adjustment of the effective interest rate. Amortization of debt issuance costs associated with the Subordinated Notes totaling \$114,000 in 2024, \$110,000 in 2023, and \$106,000 in 2022 was included in interest expense in the consolidated statements of income.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, outstanding subordinated debt agreements are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Dec	cember 31, 2024	December 31, 2023		
Agreements with a par value of \$25,000,000; bearing interest at 3.25% with an effective					
interest rate of 3.74%; maturing in June 2031 and redeemable at par in June 2026	\$	24,831	\$	24,717	
Total carrying value	\$	24,831	\$	24,717	

12. EMPLOYEE AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

DEFINED BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation sponsors a defined benefit health care plan that provides postretirement medical benefits and life insurance to employees who meet certain age and length of service requirements. Full-time employees no longer accrue service time toward the Corporation-subsidized portion of the medical benefits. The plan contains a cost-sharing feature which causes participants to pay for all future increases in costs related to benefit coverage. Accordingly, actuarial assumptions related to health care cost trend rates do not significantly affect the liability balance at December 31, 2024 and 2023 and are not expected to significantly affect the Corporation's future expenses. The Corporation uses a December 31 measurement date for the postretirement plan.

In an acquisition in 2007, the Corporation assumed the Citizens Trust Company Retirement Plan, a defined benefit pension plan. This plan covers certain employees who were employed by Citizens Trust Company on December 31, 2002, when the plan was amended to discontinue admittance of any future participant and to freeze benefit accruals. Information related to the Citizens Trust Company Retirement Plan has been included in the tables that follow. The Corporation uses a December 31 measurement date for this plan.

The following table shows the funded status of the defined benefit plans:

	Pension				Postretirement			
(In Thousands)		2024		2023		2024		2023
CHANGE IN BENEFIT OBLIGATION:								
Benefit obligation at beginning of year	\$	896	\$	946	\$	1,013	\$	935
Service cost		0		0		6		54
Interest cost		29		31		31		48
Plan participants' contributions		0		0		118		129
Actuarial loss		18		63		10		37
Gain from plan amendments		0		0		(413)		0
Benefits paid		(5)		(5)		(179)		(190)
Settlement of plan obligation		0		(139)		0		0
Benefit obligation at end of year	\$	938	\$	896	\$	586	\$	1,013
					-			
CHANGE IN PLAN ASSETS:								
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year	\$	946	\$	1,001	\$	0	\$	0
Actual return on plan assets		36		89		0		0
Employer contribution		0		0		61		61
Plan participants' contributions		0		0		118		129
Benefits paid		(5)		(5)		(179)		(190)
Settlement of plan obligation		0		(139)		0		0
Fair value of plan assets at end of year	\$	977	\$	946	\$	0	\$	0
	_				-		-	
Funded status at end of year	\$	39	\$	50	\$	(586)	\$	(1,013)

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following pension plan and postretirement plan liability amounts were recognized in the consolidated balance sheets:

	Pen			Postreti	rement			
(In Thousands)	2024 2023			2024 2023 2024				2023
Accrued interest and other liabilities	39	\$	50	\$	586	1,013		

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, the following items included in accumulated other comprehensive loss had not been recognized as components of expense:

	Pension					Postret	tirement				
(In Thousands)	2024 2023		2024		2024		2023	2024			2023
Prior service cost	\$	0	\$	0	\$	(56)	\$	(124)			
Net actuarial loss (gain)		131		139		(486)		(573)			
Total	\$	131	\$	139	\$	(542)	\$	(697)			

For the defined benefit pension plan, amortization of the net actuarial loss is expected to be \$5,000 in 2025. For the postretirement plan, effective in 2024, amendments to the plan resulted in a decrease of \$413,000 in unrecognized prior service cost and a related reduction in net periodic benefit costs from curtailment of \$469,000. In 2025, the net actuarial gain to be amortized as a reduction in expense is \$83,000 and the estimated reduction in expense related to prior service cost is \$8,000.

The accumulated benefit obligation for the defined benefit pension plan was \$938,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$896,000 at December 31, 2023.

The components of net periodic benefit costs from defined benefit plans are as follows:

	Pension				Postretirement							
(In Thousands)	2	2024	2	2023	2	022		2024	1	2023	2	022
Service cost	\$	0	\$	0	\$	0	\$	6	\$	54	\$	63
Interest cost		29		31		22		31		48		34
Expected return on plan assets		(16)		(18)		(35)		0		0		0
Amortization of prior service cost		0		0		0		(12)		(31)		(31)
Recognized net actuarial loss (gain)		6		11		8		(77)		(36)		(19)
Effect of curtailment		0		0		0		(469)		0		0
Settlement of plan obligation		0		21		0		0		0		0
Total net periodic benefit cost	\$	19	\$	45	\$	(5)	\$	(521)	\$	35	\$	47

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost are as follows:

		Pension			Postretirement			
	2024	2023	2022	2024	2023	2022		
Discount rate	4.80 %	5.05 %	2.60 %	5.00 %	5.25 %	3.00 %		
Expected return on plan assets	5.00 %	4.22 %	5.00 %	N/A	N/A	N/A		
Rate of compensation increase	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A		

The weighted-average assumptions used to determine benefit obligations as of December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	Pensio	n	Postretire	ment
	2024	2023	2024	2023
Discount rate	5.35 %	4.80 %	5.29 %	5.00 %
Rate of compensation increase	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A

Estimated future benefit payments, including only estimated employer contributions for the postretirement plan, which reflect expected future service, are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Pension		Postret	tirement
2025	\$	620	\$	68
2026		14		67
2027		9		59
2028		250		59
2029		8		54
2030-2034		38		233

No estimated minimum contribution to the defined benefit pension plan is required in 2025, though the Corporation may make discretionary contributions.

The expected return on pension plan assets is a significant assumption used in the calculation of net periodic benefit cost. This assumption reflects the average long-term rate of earnings expected on the funds invested or to be invested to provide for the benefits included in the projected benefit obligation.

The fair values of pension plan assets at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

	2024	2023
Mutual funds invested principally in:		
Cash and cash equivalents	100 %	54 %
Debt securities	0 %	18 %
Equity securities	0 %	24 %
Alternative funds	0%	4 %
Total	100 %	100 %

C&N Bank's Wealth Management Department manages the investment of the pension plan assets. The Plan's securities include mutual funds invested principally in cash and cash equivalents. The fair values of plan assets are determined based on Level 1 inputs (as described in Note 20). The Plan's assets do not include any shares of the Corporation's common stock.

PROFIT SHARING AND DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLANS

The Corporation has a profit sharing plan that incorporates the deferred salary savings provisions of Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. The Corporation's matching contributions to the Plan depend upon the tax deferred contributions of employees. The Corporation's total basic and matching contributions were \$1,468,000 in 2024, \$1,419,000 in 2023 and \$1,415,000 in 2022.

The Corporation has an Employee Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP). Contributions to the ESOP are discretionary, and the ESOP uses funds contributed to purchase Corporation stock for the accounts of ESOP participants. These purchases are made in the market (not directly from the Corporation), and employees are not permitted to purchase Corporation stock under the ESOP. The ESOP includes a diversification feature, which allows participants, upon reaching age 55 and 10 years of service (as defined), to sell up to 50% of their Corporation shares over a period of 6 years. As of December 31, 2024 and 2023, there were no shares allocated for repurchase by the ESOP.

Dividends paid on shares held by the ESOP are charged to retained earnings. All Corporation shares owned through the ESOP are included in the calculation of weighted-average shares outstanding for purposes of calculating earnings per share – basic and diluted. The ESOP held 618,148 shares of Corporation stock at December 31, 2024, 579,567 shares at December 31, 2023 and 564,353 shares at December 31, 2022, all of which had been allocated to Plan participants. The Corporation's contributions to the ESOP totaled \$665,000 in 2024, \$1,244,000 in 2023 and \$1,170,000 in 2022.

The Corporation has a nonqualified supplemental deferred compensation arrangement with its key officers. Charges to operating expense for officers' supplemental deferred compensation were \$223,000 in 2024, \$489,000 in 2023 and \$391,000 in 2022. The balance of the liability, which is included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, is \$3,164,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$3,025,000 at December 31, 2023.

In connection with an acquisition, the Corporation assumed an obligation to provide a supplemental retirement benefit to a former executive. Under the terms of the agreement, the executive or his heirs will receive monthly payments totaling \$1 million over a 10-year period starting in October 2025. The Corporation recorded expense of \$14,000 in 2024, \$13,000 in 2023 and \$14,000 in 2022, which is included in salaries and employee benefits in the consolidated statements of income, representing the effective interest cost on the obligation. The discount rate used to measure the liability is 1.5%. The balance of the liability, which is included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets, is \$919,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$905,000 at December 31, 2023.

The Corporation also has a nonqualified deferred compensation plan that allows selected officers the option to defer receipt of cash compensation, including base salary and any cash bonuses or other cash incentives. This nonqualified deferred compensation plan does not provide for Corporation contributions.

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

At the Annual Meeting of Shareholders on April 20, 2023, the Citizens & Northern Corporation 2023 Equity Incentive Plan ("2023 Equity Incentive Plan") was approved. A total of 500,000 shares of common stock may be issued under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan. Awards may be made to participating employees and independent directors under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan in the form of qualified options ("Incentive Stock Options," as defined in the Internal Revenue Code), nonqualified options, restricted stock units or restricted stock, any or all of which can be granted with performance-based vesting conditions. As of December 31, 2024, 92,860 awards had been granted under this plan.

Outstanding restricted stock awards granted prior to adoption of the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan, including awards made in 2023, are governed under the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and the Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan. The restricted stock awards in 2023 under the 1995 Stock Incentive Plan and the Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan were the final awards under these plans.

Total stock-based compensation expense is as follows:

(In Thousands)	2024	2023			2022
Restricted stock	\$ 1,494	\$	1,472	\$	1,260
Stock options	0		0		0
Total	\$ 1,494	\$	1,472	\$	1,260

The following summarizes non-vested restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2024:

	Number of Shares	A Gr	eighted verage ant Date ir Value
Outstanding, December 31, 2023	110,009	\$	23.44
Granted	92,860	\$	20.69
Vested	(62,969)	\$	22.97
Forfeited	(2,076)	\$	23.37
Outstanding, December 31, 2024	137,824	\$	21.80

Compensation cost related to restricted stock is recognized based on the market price of the stock at the grant date over the vesting period, adjusted for estimated and actual forfeitures. As of December 31, 2024, there was \$1,639,000 total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 1.5 years.

In 2024 and 2023, the Corporation awarded shares of restricted stock under the Stock Incentive Plan, as follows:

	2024	2023
Time-based awards to independent directors	10,000	11,000
Time-based awards to employees	63,514	31,684
Performance-based awards to employees	19,346	11,104
Total	92,860	53,788

Time-based restricted stock awards granted to independent (non-employee) directors in 2024 and 2023 vest over one-year terms. Timebased restricted stock awards granted to employees in 2024 and 2023 vest ratably over three-year terms, subject to continued employment and satisfactory job performance. Performance-based restricted stock awards granted in 2024 and 2023 vest ratably over three-year terms, with vesting contingent upon meeting conditions based on the Corporation's earnings as specified in the agreements.

There were no stock options granted in 2024, 2023, or 2022. A summary of stock option activity is presented below.

	2024				2023				
	Shares		Veighted Average Exercise Price	Shares	Weighted Average Exercise			A	Veighted Average Exercise Price
Outstanding, beginning of year	646	\$	20.45	10,564	\$	20.45	24,218	\$	20.01
Granted	0		0	0		0	0		0
Exercised	0		0	(8,288)	\$	20.45	(13,654)	\$	19.67
Forfeited	0		0	(1,630)	\$	20.45	0		0
Expired	(646)	\$	20.45	0		0	0		0
Outstanding, end of year	0	\$	0	646	\$	20.45	10,564	\$	20.45
Options exercisable at year-end	0	\$	0	646	\$	20.45	10,564	\$	20.45
Weighted-average fair value of options forfeited		\$	N/A		\$	5.50			N/A

There were no shares of outstanding stock options at December 31, 2024. The total intrinsic value of options exercised was \$14,000 in 2023 and \$76,000 in 2022.

In January 2025, the Corporation granted 31,113 shares of time-based restricted stock awards and 11,848 shares of performance-based restricted stock awards under the 2023 Equity Incentive Plan. The time-based shares vest ratably over three years while the performance-based restricted stock awards vest ratably over three years, with vesting contingent upon meeting earnings-related conditions specified in agreements. The restricted stock awards made in January 2025 are not included in the tables above.

13. INCOME TAXES

The net deferred tax asset at December 31, 2024 and 2023 represents the following temporary difference components:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024		Dec	ember 31, 2023
Deferred tax assets:				
Unrealized holding losses on securities	\$	10,459	\$	10,335
Allowance for credit losses on loans		4,400		4,230
Purchase accounting adjustments on loans		333		470
Deferred compensation		1,465		1,352
Deferred loan origination fees		697		731
Operating leases liability		692		787
Accrued incentive compensation		678		463
Net operating loss carryforward		423		541
Other deferred tax assets		1,520		1,316
Total deferred tax assets		20,667		20,225
Deferred tax liabilities:				
Right-of-use assets from operating leases		692		787
Core deposit intangibles		456		544
Bank premises and equipment		290		291
Defined benefit plans - ASC 835		90		119
BOLI surrender		0		950
Other deferred tax liabilities		41		93
Total deferred tax liabilities		1,569		2,784
Deferred tax asset, net	\$	19,098	\$	17,441

The provision for income taxes includes the following:

(In Thousands)	2024		4 2023			2022
Currently payable	\$	7,417	\$	5,499	\$	5,998
Tax expense resulting from allocations of certain tax benefits						
to equity or as a reduction in other assets		0		0		134
Deferred		(1,504)		836		(400)
Total provision	\$	5,913	\$	6,335	\$	5,732

A reconciliation of income tax at the statutory rate to the Corporation's effective rate is as follows:

	2024		2023		2022		
(Dollars In Thousands)	Amount	%	Amount	%	Amount	%	
Expected provision	\$ 6,693	21.0	\$ 6,401	21.0	\$ 6,794	21.0	
Tax-exempt interest income	(964)	(3.0)	(964)	(3.2)	(1,029)	(3.2)	
Increase in cash surrender value and other income from life							
insurance, net	(369)	(1.2)	(586)	(1.9)	(103)	(0.3)	
ESOP dividends	(144)	(0.5)	(143)	(0.5)	(130)	(0.4)	
Surrender of bank-owned life insurance	0	0.0	950	3.1	0	0.0	
State income tax, net of federal benefit	297	0.9	329	1.1	296	0.9	
Nondeductible interest expense	368	1.3	283	0.9	87	0.3	
Other, net	32	0.1	65	0.3	(183)	(0.6)	
Effective income tax provision	\$ 5,913	18.6	\$ 6,335	20.8	\$ 5,732	17.7	

The Corporation has a net operating loss ("NOL") available to be carried forward against future federal taxable income. Availability of the NOL does not expire; however, the amount that may be offset against taxable income is limited to approximately \$563,000 per year and further limited annually to no more than 80% of taxable income without regard to the NOL. At December 31, 2024, the unused amount of the NOL is \$2.0 million.

The Corporation has no unrecognized tax benefits, nor pending examination issues related to tax positions taken in preparation of its income tax returns. The Corporation is generally no longer subject to examination for returns prior to 2021.

14. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Loans to executive officers, directors of the Corporation and its subsidiaries and any associates of the foregoing persons are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Beginning Balance	 New Loans	Re	payments	Othe Chan		Ending Balance
11 directors, 11 executive officers 2024	\$ 13,975	\$ 1,579		(2,212)		106	\$ 13,448
11 directors, 11 executive officers 2023	\$ 14,504	\$ 549	\$	(823)	\$ (255)	\$ 13,975
13 directors, 10 executive officers 2022	\$ 13,911	\$ 1,949	\$	(1,886)	\$	530	\$ 14,504

In the table above, other changes represent net changes in the balance of existing lines of credit and transfers in and out of the related party category.

Deposits from related parties held by the Corporation amounted to \$12,259,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$9,014,000 at December 31, 2023.

15. OFF-BALANCE SHEET RISK

The Corporation is a party to financial instruments with off-balance sheet risk in the normal course of business to meet the financial needs of its customers. These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit. These instruments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit, interest rate or liquidity risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets. The contract amounts of these instruments express the extent of involvement the Corporation has in particular classes of financial instruments.

The Corporation's exposure to credit loss from nonperformance by the other party to the financial instruments for commitments to extend credit and standby letters of credit is represented by the contractual amount of these instruments. The Corporation uses the same credit policies in making commitments and conditional obligations as it does for on-balance sheet instruments.

Financial instruments whose contract amounts represent credit risk at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are as follows:

(In Thousands)	December 31, 2024		De	ecember 31, 2023
Commitments to extend credit	\$	380,003	\$	395,997
Standby letters of credit		64,586		19,158

Commitments to extend credit are legally binding agreements to lend to customers. Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may require payment of fees. Since many of the commitments are expected to expire without being drawn upon, the total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future liquidity requirements. The Corporation evaluates each customer's creditworthiness on a case-by-case basis. The amount of collateral obtained, if deemed necessary by the Corporation, for extensions of credit is based on management's credit assessment of the counterparty.

Standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Corporation guaranteeing performance by a customer to a third party. Those guarantees are issued primarily to support public and private borrowing arrangements, including commercial paper, bond financing and similar transactions. The credit risk involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers. Some of the standby letters of credit are collateralized by real estate or other assets, and others are unsecured. The extent to which proceeds from liquidation of collateral would be expected to cover the maximum potential amount of future payments related to standby letters of credit is not estimable.

Standby letters of credit as of December 31, 2024 expire as follows:

Y	Year of Expiration	
2025	\$	64,485
2026 2027		25
2027		48
2028		28
2029		0
Total	<u>\$</u>	64,586

Information related to the allowance for credit losses on off-balance sheet exposures is provided in Note 7.

16. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Operating Lease Commitments

Operating leases in which the Corporation is the lessee are recorded as operating lease Right of Use ("ROU") assets and operating lease liabilities, included in other assets and other liabilities, respectively, on the consolidated balance sheets. The Corporation does not currently have any finance leases. Operating lease ROU assets represent the right to use an underlying asset during the lease term and operating lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.

The Corporation leases certain branch locations, office space and equipment. All leases are classified as operating leases. Operating lease expense, which is comprised of amortization of the ROU assets and the implicit interest accreted on the operating lease liability, is recognized on a straight line basis over the remaining lease term of the operating lease. Leases with an initial term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheet and the related lease expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Certain leases include options to renew, with renewal terms that can extend the lease term from one to eight years that are reasonably certain of being exercised. The discount rate used in determining the lease liability for each individual lease was the FHLB fixed advance rate which corresponded with the remaining lease term as of January 1, 2019 for leases that existed at adoption of ASU 2017-02 and as of the lease commencement date for leases subsequently entered into after January 1, 2019. At December 31, 2024, discount rates ranged from 1.27% to 4.16% with a weighted-average discount rate of 1.96%. At December 31, 2024, the weighted-average remaining lease term was 4.1 years. At December 31, 2023, the weighted-average discount rate was 1.96% and the weighted-average remaining lease term was 4.6 years.

At December 31, 2024, right-of-use assets of \$3,151,000 were included in other assets, and the related lease liabilities totaling the same amount were included in accrued interest and other liabilities, in the consolidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2023, right of use assets and the related liabilities totaled \$3,570,000.

In 2024, 2023 and 2022, operating lease expenses are included in the following line item of the consolidated statements of income:

(In Thousands)	2	2024		2023		2022	
Net occupancy and equipment expense	\$	666	\$	644	\$	599	
Total	\$	666	\$	644	\$	599	

A maturity analysis of the Corporation's lease liabilities at December 31, 2024 is as follows:

(In Thousands)

Lease Payments Due

2025	\$	671
2026		595
2027		518
2028		419
2029		373
Thereafter		774
Total lease payments		3,350
Discount on cash		
flows		(199)
Total lease liabilities		3,151
Discount on cash flows	\$	(199)

Litigation Matters

Class Action Litigation

On March 27, 2024, a putative class action lawsuit was filed in the US District Court for the Western District of Texas by investors in a purported Ponzi scheme operated by two individuals, one of whom maintained accounts at C&N Bank. The plaintiffs have sued C&N Bank, along with another bank, and additional law firm and accounting firm defendants. The case is styled Goldovsky, et al. v. Rauld, et al. Plaintiffs have asserted claims against C&N Bank and the other bank for aiding and abetting alleged violations of the Texas Securities Act, and additional claims against the legal and accounting professionals for statutory fraud, common law fraud, negligent misrepresentation, and knowing participation in breach of fiduciary duty. C&N Bank has filed motions to dismiss the case for wont of personal jurisdiction and failure to state a claim. The Plaintiffs have responded to those motions. Plaintiffs have filed an application for certification of the suit as a class action. The court has stayed the motions to dismiss pending consideration of the class action certification application. Following depositions of the four plaintiffs on issues germane to class action certification, C&N Bank and each of the other defendants have filed briefs in opposition to the plaintiff's class certification motion. A hearing on the motion for class certification took place on February 18, 2025. A ruling on class certification is pending. Based on the information available to the Corporation, the Corporation does not believe at this time that a loss is probable in this matter, nor can a range of possible losses be determined. Accordingly, no liability has been recorded for this litigation matter in the accompanying consolidated financial statements. The Corporation's estimate may change from time to time, and actual losses could vary.

In the normal course of business, the Corporation is subject to pending and threatened litigation in which claims for monetary damages are asserted. In management's opinion, the Corporation's financial position and results of operations would not be materially affected by the outcome of these legal proceeding.
17. REGULATORY MATTERS

In August 2018, the Federal Reserve Board issued an interim final rule that expanded applicability of the Board's small bank holding company policy statement. The interim final rule raised the policy statement's asset threshold from \$1 billion to \$3 billion in total consolidated assets for a bank holding company or savings and loan holding company that: (1) is not engaged in significant nonbanking activities; (2) does not conduct significant off-balance sheet activities; and (3) does not have a material amount of debt or equity securities, other than trust-preferred securities, outstanding. The interim final rule provides that, if warranted for supervisory purposes, the Federal Reserve may exclude a company from the threshold increase. Management believes the Corporation meets the conditions of the Federal Reserve's small bank holding company policy statement and is therefore excluded from consolidated capital requirements at December 31, 2024; however, C&N Bank remains subject to regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies.

Details concerning capital ratios at December 31, 2024 and 2023 are presented below. Management believes, as of December 31, 2024, that C&N Bank meets all capital adequacy requirements to which it is subject and maintains a capital conservation buffer (described in more detail below) that allows the Bank to avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain discretionary bonus payments to executive officers. The net unrealized loss on available-for-sale debt securities is not included in computing regulatory capital. For comparison purposes, the Corporation's capital ratios are presented along with those of C&N Bank in the table below. Further, as reflected in the table below, the Corporation's and C&N Bank's capital ratios at December 31, 2024 and 2023 exceed the Corporation's Board policy threshold levels.

- -- -

							Minimum To Be Well				
			Minim			linimum To Maintain		ed Under	Minimum		
			Capi			onservation		Corrective	the Corpo		
	Actual		Require			eporting Date		rovisions	Policy Th		
(Dollars In Thousands)	Amount	Ratio	Amount	<u>Ratio</u>	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	Amount	Ratio	
December 31, 2024:											
Total capital to risk-weighted assets:											
Consolidated	\$ 302,783	15.95 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	\$ 208,779	≥11 %	
C&N Bank	287,721	15.19 %	151,567	≥8 %	198,832	≥10.5 %	189,459	≥10 %	208,405	≥11 %	
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets:											
Consolidated	257,462	13.56 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	170,819	≥9 %	
C&N Bank	267,231	14.10 %	113,675	≥6 %	161,040	≥8.5 %	151,567	≥8 %	170,513	≥9 %	
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk- weighted assets:											
Consolidated	257,462	13.56 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	142,349	≥7.5 %	
C&N Bank	267,231	14.10 %	85,256	≥4.5 %	132,621	≥7.0 %	123,148	≥6.5 %	142,094	≥7.5 %	
Tier 1 capital to average assets:											
Consolidated	257,462	9.80 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	210,160	≥8 %	
C&N Bank	267,231	10.23 %	104,514	≥4 %	N/A	N/A	130,642	≥5 %	209,027	≥8 %	
December 31, 2023:											
Total capital to risk-weighted assets:											
Consolidated	\$ 290,425	15.67 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	\$ 203,809	≥11 %	
C&N Bank	275,307	14.89 %	147,925	≥8 %	194,151	≥10.5 %	184,906	≥10 %	203,396	≥11 %	
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets:											
Consolidated	245,810	13.27 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	166,753	≥9 %	
C&N Bank	255,409	13.81 %	110,943	≥6 %	157,170	≥8.5 %	147,925	≥8 %	166,415	≥9 %	
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-											
weighted assets:											
Consolidated	245,810	13.27 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	138,961	≥7.5 %	
C&N Bank	255,409	13.81 %	83,208	≥4.5 %	129,434	≥7.0 %	120,189	≥6.5 %	138,679	≥7.5 %	
Tier 1 capital to average assets:											
Consolidated	245,810	9.87 %	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	199,151	≥8 %	
C&N Bank	255,409	10.32 %	99,010	≥4 %	N/A	N/A	123,762	≥5 %	198,020	≥8 %	

Federal regulatory authorities impose a capital rule providing that, to avoid limitations on capital distributions, including dividend payments and certain discretionary bonus payments to executive officers, a banking organization subject to the rule must hold a capital conservation buffer composed of common equity tier 1 capital above its minimum risk-based capital requirements. The buffer is

measured relative to risk-weighted assets. At December 31, 2024, the minimum risk-based capital ratios, and the capital ratios including the capital conservation buffer, are as follows:

Minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio	4.5 %
Minimum common equity tier 1 capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	7.0 %
Minimum tier 1 capital ratio	6.0 %
Minimum tier 1 capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	8.5 %
Minimum total capital ratio	8.0 %
Minimum total capital ratio plus capital conservation buffer	10.5 %

A banking organization with a buffer greater than 2.5% over the minimum risk-based capital ratios would not be subject to additional limits on dividend payments or discretionary bonus payments; however, a banking organization with a buffer less than 2.5% would be subject to increasingly stringent limitations as the buffer approaches zero. Also, a banking organization is prohibited from making dividend payments or discretionary bonus payments if its eligible retained income is negative in that quarter and its capital conservation buffer ratio was less than 2.5% as of the beginning of that quarter. Eligible net income is defined as net income for the four calendar quarters preceding the current calendar quarter, net of any distributions and associated tax effects not already reflected in net income. A summary of payout restrictions based on the capital conservation buffer is as follows:

	Capital Conservation Buffer (as a % of risk-weighted assets)	Maximum Payout (as a % of eligible retained income)
Greater than 2.5%		No payout limitation applies
$\leq 2.5\%$ and $> 1.875\%$		60 %
$\leq 1.875\%$ and $> 1.25\%$		40 %
$\leq 1.25\%$ and $> 0.625\%$		20 %
≤0.625%		0 %

At December 31, 2024, C&N Bank's Capital Conservation Buffer, determined based on the minimum total capital ratio, was 7.19%.

Banking regulators limit the amount of dividends that may be paid by C&N Bank to the Corporation. Retained earnings against which dividends may be paid without prior approval of the banking regulators amounted to approximately \$111,443,000 at December 31, 2024, subject to the minimum capital ratio requirements noted above.

Restrictions imposed by federal law prohibit the Corporation from borrowing from C&N Bank unless the loans are secured in specific amounts. Such secured loans to the Corporation are generally limited to 10% of C&N Bank's tangible stockholder's equity (excluding accumulated other comprehensive loss) or \$26,443,000 at December 31, 2024.

18. PARENT COMPANY ONLY

The following is condensed financial information for Citizens & Northern Corporation:

ASSETS Cash	•		Dec. 31, 2023		
Cash					
	\$	16,013	\$	14,822	
Investment in subsidiaries:					
Citizens & Northern Bank		285,465		272,286	
Citizens & Northern Investment Corporation		9,768		11,087	
Bucktail Life Insurance Company		3,804		3,733	
Other assets		136		200	
TOTAL ASSETS	\$	315,186	\$	302,128	
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY					
Senior notes, net	\$	14,899	\$	14,831	
Subordinated debt, net		24,831		24,717	
Other liabilities		172		199	
Stockholders' equity		275,284		262,381	
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY	\$	315,186	\$	302,128	
	-		_		

CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

CONDENSED INCOME STATEMENT AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)						
(In Thousands)	 2024 2023			2022		
Dividends from Citizens & Northern Bank	\$ 17,341	\$	19,405	\$	19,483	
Dividends from Citizens & Northern Investment Corporation	1,500		1,800		0	
Expenses	 (1,644)		(2,003)		(1,695)	
Income before equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries	17,197		19,202		17,788	
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries	 8,761		4,946		8,830	
NET INCOME	\$ 25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618	
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)	\$ 27,634	\$	35,589	\$	(28,286)	

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:S25,958\$24,148\$26,618Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:00(14)Accretion of purchase accounting adjustment00(14)Amortization of debt issuance costs182176170Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries(8,761)(4,946)(8,830)Decrease (increase) in other assets64(167)0(Decrease) increase in other liabilities(93)97(41)Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities17,35019,30817,903CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:Repayment of subordinated debt00(8,500)Proceeds from sale of treasury stock00160Purchase of treasury stock(629)(6,784)(9,349)Dividends paid(15,530)(15,569)(15,865)Net Cash Used in Financing Activities(16,159)(22,353)(33,554)INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS1,191(3,045)(15,651)CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR14,82217,86733,518SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION,\$14,822\$17,867	CONDENSED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (In Thousands)	2024		2023		2022
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:000(14)Amortization of purchase accounting adjustment000(14)Amortization of debt issuance costs182176170Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries(8,761)(4,946)(8,830)Decrease (increase) in other assets64(167)0(Decrease) increase in other liabilities(93)97(41)Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities17,35019,30817,903CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Repayment of subordinated debt00(8,500)Proceeds from sale of treasury stock00160Purchase of treasury stock(629)(6,784)(9,349)Dividends paid(15,530)(15,569)(15,865)(15,865)Net Cash Used in Financing Activities1,191(3,045)(15,651)CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR14,82217,86733,518CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR\$ 16,013\$ 14,822\$ 17,867	CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:					
Accretion of purchase accounting adjustment 0 0 (14) Amortization of debt issuance costs 182 176 170 Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries (8,761) (4,946) (8,830) Decrease (increase) in other assets 64 (167) 0 (Decrease) increase in other liabilities (93) 97 (41) Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822	Net income	\$ 25,958	\$	24,148	\$	26,618
Amortization of debt issuance costs 182 176 170 Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries (8,761) (4,946) (8,830) Decrease (increase) in other assets 64 (167) 0 (Decrease) increase in other liabilities (93) 97 (41) Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 17,350 19,308 17,903 Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock 0 15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 14,822 17,867						
Equity in undistributed income of subsidiaries (8,761) (4,946) (8,830) Decrease (increase) in other assets 64 (167) 0 (Decrease) increase in other liabilities (93) 97 (41) Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 17,350 19,308 17,903 Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock 0 0 15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) 11,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 14,822 \$ 17,867		0		0		(14)
Decrease (increase) in other assets 64 (167) 0 (Decrease) increase in other liabilities (93) 97 (41) Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 17,350 19,308 17,903 Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867	Amortization of debt issuance costs	182		176		170
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (93) 97 (41) Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867		(8,761)		(4,946)		(8,830)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities 17,350 19,308 17,903 CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867		64		(167)		0
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES: Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867	(Decrease) increase in other liabilities	 (93)		97		(41)
Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 14,822 17,867	Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities	 17,350		19,308		17,903
Repayment of subordinated debt 0 0 (8,500) Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 14,822 17,867						
Proceeds from sale of treasury stock 0 0 160 Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 14,822 \$ 17,867	CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:					
Purchase of treasury stock (629) (6,784) (9,349) Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867		0		0		(8,500)
Dividends paid (15,530) (15,569) (15,865) Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867	Proceeds from sale of treasury stock	0		Ŭ		160
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities (16,159) (22,353) (33,554) INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867				(6,784)		
INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,191 (3,045) (15,651) CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867	1	 (15,530)		(15,569)		
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867	Net Cash Used in Financing Activities	 (16,159)		(22,353)		(33,554)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 14,822 17,867 33,518 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867						
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR \$ 16,013 \$ 14,822 \$ 17,867		1,191		(3,045)		(15,651)
		 14,822		17,867		33,518
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION,	CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR	\$ 16,013	\$	14,822	\$	17,867
SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION,					_	
	SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION,					
Interest paid \$ 1,305 \$ 1,234 \$ 1,433	Interest paid	\$ 1,305	\$	1,234	\$	1,433

19. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Corporation is a party to derivative financial instruments. These financial instruments consist of interest rate swap agreements and risk participation agreements (RPAs) which contain master netting and collateral provisions designed to protect the party at risk.

Interest rate swaps with commercial loan banking customers were executed to facilitate their respective risk management strategies. Under the terms of these arrangements, the commercial banking customers effectively exchanged their floating interest rate exposures on loans into fixed interest rate exposures. Those interest rate swaps have been simultaneously economically hedged by offsetting interest rate swaps with a third party, such that the Corporation has effectively exchanged its fixed interest rate exposures for floating rate exposures. These derivatives are not designated as hedges and are not speculative. Rather, these derivatives result from a service provided to certain customers. As the interest rate swaps associated with this program do not meet the hedge accounting requirements, changes in the fair value of both the customer swaps and the offsetting swaps are recognized directly in earnings.

The aggregate notional amount of interest rate swaps was \$141,940,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$150,028,000 at December 31, 2023. There were no interest rate swaps originated in 2024 and 2023. There were no gross amounts of interest rate swap-related assets and liabilities not offset in the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023. In 2022, there was fee income on the interest swap originated of \$290,000 included in other noninterest income in the consolidated statements of income.

The Corporation has entered into an RPA with another institution as a means to assume a portion of the credit risk associated with a loan structure which includes a derivative instrument, in exchange for fee income commensurate with the risk assumed. This type of derivative is referred to as an "RPA In." In addition, in an effort to reduce the credit risk associated with an interest rate swap agreement with a borrower for whom the Corporation has provided a loan structured with a derivative, the Corporation purchased an RPA from an institution participating in the facility in exchange for a fee commensurate with the risk shared. This type of derivative is referred to as an "RPA Out." The net impact on the consolidated statements of income from RPAs was an increase in other noninterest income of \$18,000 in 2023 and a decrease in other noninterest income of \$14,000 in 2022. The Corporation did not enter into any RPAs prior to 2022.

The table below presents the fair value of the Corporation's derivative financial instruments as well as their classification on the consolidated balance sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023:

(In Thousands)		At Decemb	er 31, 2024		At Decemb	per 31, 2023				
	Asset Derivatives		Liability D	Derivatives	Asset De	rivatives	Liability E	Derivatives		
	Notional Fair		Notional	Fair	Notional	Fair	Notional	Fair		
	Amount	Value (1)	Amount	Value (2)	Amount	Value (1)	Amount	Value (2)		
Interest rate swap agreements	\$ 70,970	\$ 2,385	\$ 70,970	\$ 2,385	\$ 75,014	\$ 2,783	\$ 75,014	\$ 2,783		
RPA Out	6,957	2	0	0	7,082	11	0	0		
RPA In	0	0	9,916	2	0	0	10,000	13		

(1) Included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

(2) Included in accrued interest and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Corporation's agreements with its derivative counterparties provide that if the Corporation defaults on any of its indebtedness, including default where repayment of the indebtedness has not been accelerated by the lender, then the Corporation could also be declared in default on its derivative obligations. Further, if the Corporation were to fail to maintain its status as a well or adequately capitalized institution, then the counterparties could terminate the derivative positions and the Corporation would be required to settle its obligations under the agreements. There was interest-bearing cash pledged as collateral against the Corporation's liability related to the interest rate swaps of \$1,090,000 at December 31, 2024 and \$1,360,000 at December 31, 2023.

20. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS AND FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Corporation measures certain assets at fair value. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. FASB ASC Topic 820, "Fair Value Measurements and

Disclosures" establishes a framework for measuring fair value that includes a hierarchy used to classify the inputs used in measuring fair value. The hierarchy prioritizes the inputs used in determining valuations into three levels. The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement falls is determined based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are as follows:

Level 1 – Fair value is based on unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible to the Corporation for identical assets. These generally provide the most reliable evidence and are used to measure fair value whenever available.

Level 2 - Fair value is based on significant inputs, other than Level 1 inputs, that are observable either directly or indirectly for substantially the full term of the asset through corroboration with observable market data. Level 2 inputs include quoted market prices in active markets for similar assets, quoted market prices in markets that are not active for identical or similar assets and other observable inputs.

Level 3 – Fair value is based on significant unobservable inputs. Examples of valuation methodologies that would result in Level 3 classification include option pricing models, discounted cash flows and other similar techniques.

The Corporation monitors and evaluates available data relating to fair value measurements on an ongoing basis and recognizes transfers among the levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the date of an event or change in circumstances that affects the valuation method chosen. Examples of such changes may include the market for a particular asset becoming active or inactive, changes in the availability of quoted prices, or changes in the availability of other market data.

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, assets measured at fair value and the valuation methods used are as follows:

	December 31, 2024								
(In Thousands)	Quoted Prices in Active Markets (Level 1)		Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)		Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)		1	Total Fair Value	
Recurring fair value measurements, assets:					_				
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT SECURITIES:									
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$	7,118	\$	0	\$	0	\$	7,118	
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies		0		9,025		0		9,025	
Bank holding company debt securities		0		25,246		0		25,246	
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:									
Tax-exempt		0		101,302		0		101,302	
Taxable		0		42,506		0		42,506	
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies or sponsored agencies:									
Residential pass-through securities		0		94,414		0		94,414	
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations		0		49,894		0		49,894	
Commercial mortgage-backed securities		0		64,501		0		64,501	
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities		0		8,374		0		8,374	
Total available-for-sale debt securities		7,118		395,262		0		402,380	
Marketable equity security		863		0		0		863	
Servicing rights		0		0		2,782		2,782	
RPA Out		0		2		0		2	
Interest rate swap agreements, assets		0		2,385		0		2,385	
Total recurring fair value measurements, assets	\$	7,981	\$	397,649	\$	2,782	\$	408,412	
Recurring fair value measurements, liabilities:									
RPA In	\$	0	\$	2	\$	0	\$	2	
Interest rate swap agreements, liabilities		0		2,385		0		2,385	
Total recurring fair value measurements, liabilities	\$	0	\$	2,387	\$	0	\$	2,387	
Nonrecurring fair value measurements, assets:									
Loans individually evaluated for credit loss, net	\$	0	\$	0	\$	136	\$	136	
Foreclosed assets held for sale		0		0		181		181	
Total nonrecurring fair value measurements, assets	\$	0	\$	0	\$	317	\$	317	

	December 31, 2023								
(In Thousands)	in Act	ted Prices ive Markets Level 1)	Other Observable Inputs (Level 2)		Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)		Total Fair Value		
Recurring fair value measurements, assets:	(1			(Level 2)		Level 3)		all value	
AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE DEBT SECURITIES:									
Obligations of the U.S. Treasury	\$	11.290	\$	0	\$	0	\$	11,290	
Obligations of U.S. Government agencies	Ψ	0	Ψ	9,946	Ψ	0	Ψ	9,946	
Bank holding company debt securities		0		23.500		0		23,500	
Obligations of states and political subdivisions:		0		20,000		Ū		20,000	
Tax-exempt		0		104,199		0		104,199	
Taxable		0		50,111		0		50,111	
Mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by U.S. Government agencies or sponsored agencies:									
Residential pass-through securities		0		95,405		0		95,405	
Residential collateralized mortgage obligations		0		46,462		0		46,462	
Commercial mortgage-backed securities		0		66,682		0		66,682	
Private label commercial mortgage-backed securities		0		8,160		0		8,160	
Total available-for-sale debt securities		11,290		404,465		0		415,755	
Marketable equity security		871		0		0		871	
Servicing rights		0		0		2,659		2,659	
RPA Out		0		11		0		11	
Interest rate swap agreements, assets		0		2,783		0		2,783	
Total recurring fair value measurements, assets	\$	12,161	\$	407,259	\$	2,659	\$	422,079	
Recurring fair value measurements, liabilities,									
RPA In	\$	0	\$	13	\$	0	\$	13	
Interest rate swap agreements, liabilities		0		2,783		0		2,783	
Total recurring fair value measurements, liabilities	\$	0	\$	2,796	<u>\$</u>	0	\$	2,796	
Nonrecurring fair value measurements, assets:									
Loans individually evaluated for credit loss, net	\$	0	\$	0	\$	7,043	\$	7,043	
Foreclosed assets held for sale		0		0		478		478	
Total nonrecurring fair value measurements, assets	\$	0	\$	0	\$	7,521	\$	7,521	

Level 2 valuation techniques used to measure fair value for the financial instruments in the preceding tables are as follows:

<u>Available-for-sale debt securities</u> - Level 2 debt securities are valued by a third-party pricing service. The pricing service uses pricing models that vary based on asset class and incorporate available market information, including quoted prices of investment securities with similar characteristics. Because many fixed income securities do not trade on a daily basis, pricing models use available information, as applicable, through processes such as benchmark yield curves, benchmarking of like securities, sector groupings and matrix pricing.

<u>Derivative instruments - Interest rate SWAP agreements, RPA Out and RPA In</u>- The fair value of derivatives are based on valuation models using observable market data as of the measurement date, valued by a third-party pricing service using quantitative models that utilize multiple market inputs. The inputs include prices and indices to generate continuous yield or pricing curves, estimates of current and potential future credit exposure and calculated discounted cash flow factors to value the position. The majority of market inputs are actively quoted and can be validated through external sources, including brokers, market transactions and third-party pricing services.

Management's evaluation and selection of valuation techniques and the unobservable inputs used in determining the fair values of assets valued using Level 3 methodologies include sensitive assumptions. Other market participants might use substantially different assumptions, which could result in calculations of fair values that would be substantially different than the amount calculated by management.

The following table shows quantitative information regarding significant techniques and inputs used at December 31, 2024 and 2023 for servicing rights assets measured using unobservable inputs (Level 3 methodologies) on a recurring basis:

Asset	Fair Value 12/31/202 (In Thousa	24 Valuation	Unobservable Input(s)	Method or Value As of 12/31/2024
Servicing rights	\$ 2,	782 Discounted cash flow	Discount rate	13.00 % Rate used through modeling period
			Loan prepayment speeds	116.00 % Weighted-average PSA
	Fair Value 12/31/202		Unobservable	Method or Value As of
Asset	(In Thousa	nds) Technique	Input(s)	12/31/2023
Servicing rights	\$ 2,	659 Discounted cash flow	Discount rate	13.00 % Rate used through modeling period
			Loan prepayment speeds	131.00 % Weighted-average PSA

The fair value of servicing rights is affected by expected future interest rates. Increases (decreases) in future expected interest rates tend to increase (decrease) the fair value of the Corporation's servicing rights because of changes in expected prepayment behavior by the borrowers on the underlying loans.

Following is a reconciliation of activity for Level 3 assets (servicing rights) measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

(In Thousands)	Years Ended December 31,								
	 2024		2023		2022				
Servicing rights balance, beginning of period	\$ 2,659	\$	2,653	\$	2,329				
Originations of servicing rights	287		206		198				
Unrealized (loss) gain included in earnings	 (164)		(200)		126				
Servicing rights balance, end of period	\$ 2,782	\$	2,659	\$	2,653				

Loans are individually evaluated for credit loss when they do not share similar risk characteristics as similar loans within its loan pool. Foreclosed assets held for sale consist of real estate acquired by foreclosure. For individually evaluated loans secured by real estate and foreclosed assets held for sale, estimated fair values are determined primarily using values from third-party appraisals. Appraised values are discounted to arrive at the estimated selling price of the collateral, which is considered to be the estimated fair value. The discounts also include estimated costs to sell the property. The estimated fair value determined for individually evaluated loans secured by real estate and foreclosed assets held for sale used unobservable inputs (Level 3 methodologies).

At December 31, 2024 and 2023, quantitative information regarding significant techniques and inputs used for nonrecurring fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3 methodologies) are as follows:

(Dollars In Thousands) Asset	 ance at 3 <u>1/2024</u>	All	aluation lowance at 2/31/2024	 r Value at /31/2024	Valuation Technique	Unobservable Inputs	Range (Weighted Average) Discount at 12/31/2024
Loans individually evaluated for credit loss:							
					Sales comparison		
Commercial real estate - owner occupied	\$ 258	\$	122	\$ 136	& SBA guaranty	Discount to appraised value	95% (95)%
Total loans individually evaluated for credit loss	\$ 258	\$	122	\$ 136			
Foreclosed assets held for sale - real estate:							
Residential (1-4 family)	\$ 25	\$	0	\$ 25	Sales comparison	Discount to appraised value	62% (62)%
Commercial real estate	156		0	156	Sales comparison	Discount to appraised value	18%-77% (34)%
Total foreclosed assets held for sale	\$ 181	\$	0	\$ 181			

(Dollars In Thousands)			Va	luation				Range (Weighted Average)
Asset	~~~	lance at 31/2023	0	wance at 31/2023	 ir Value at 2/31/2023	Valuation Technique	Unobservable Inputs	Discount at 12/31/2023
Loans individually evaluated for credit loss:								
Commercial real estate - non-owner occupied	\$	7,301	\$	648	\$ 6,653	Sales comparison	Discount to appraised value	22%-30% (25)%
						Sales comparison		
Commercial real estate - owner occupied		294		5	289	& SBA guaranty	Discount to appraised value	93% (93) %
						Liquidation &		
All other commercial loans		191		90	 101	SBA guaranty	Discount to appraised value	0%-76% (17) %
Total loans individually evaluated for credit loss	\$	7,786	\$	743	\$ 7,043			
Foreclosed assets held for sale - real estate:								
Residential (1-4 family)	\$	47	\$	0	\$ 47	Sales comparison	Discount to appraised value	20%-62% (50)%
Commercial real estate		431		0	431	Sales comparison	Discount to appraised value	18%-50% (45)%
Total foreclosed assets held for sale	\$	478	\$	0	\$ 478			

Certain of the Corporation's financial instruments are not measured at fair value in the consolidated financial statements. In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates using present value or other valuation techniques. Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used, including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows. Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in an immediate settlement of the instrument. Certain financial instruments and all nonfinancial instruments are excluded from disclosure requirements. Therefore, the aggregate fair value amounts presented may not represent the underlying fair value of the Corporation.

The estimated fair values, and related carrying amounts, of the Corporation's financial instruments that are not recorded at fair value are as follows:

(In Thousands)	Fair Value	Decembe	r 31, 2024	December 31, 2023		
	Hierarchy Level	Carrying Amount	Fair Value	Carrying Amount	Fair Value	
Financial assets:						
Cash and cash equivalents	Level 1	\$ 123,574	\$ 123,574	\$ 52,778	\$ 52,778	
Certificates of deposit	Level 2	2,600	2,513	4,100	3,859	
Restricted equity securities (included in other assets)	Level 2	21,567	N/A	21,716	N/A	
Loans, net	Level 3	1,875,813	1,789,044	1,828,931	1,750,336	
Accrued interest receivable	Level 2	8,735	8,735	9,140	9,140	
Financial liabilities:						
Deposits with no stated maturity	Level 2	1,609,552	1,609,552	1,590,357	1,590,357	
Time deposits	Level 2	484,357	484,900	424,449	423,643	
Short-term borrowings	Level 2	2,488	2,488	33,874	33,874	
Long-term borrowings - FHLB advances	Level 2	165,451	165,616	138,337	137,775	
Senior notes, net	Level 2	14,899	13,579	14,831	12,706	
Subordinated debt, net	Level 2	24,831	21,051	24,717	22,750	
Accrued interest payable	Level 2	1,771	1,771	1,525	1,525	

21. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Corporation's one reportable segment is determined by the President and Chief Executive Officer, who is the designated chief operating decision maker, based upon information provided about the Corporation's products and services offered, primarily community banking operations. The chief operating decision maker uses consolidated net income to assess performance by comparing to and monitoring against budget and prior year results. In addition, the chief operating decision maker uses the consolidated net income to benchmark the Corporation against its competitors. This information is used to manage resources to drive business and net earnings growth, including investment in key strategic priorities, as well as determine the Corporation's ability to return capital to shareholders. Loans, investments, deposits and assets held in a fiduciary or custodial capacity provide the revenues in the banking operation. Interest expense, provisions for credit losses, and payroll provide the significant expenses in the banking operation. All operations are domestic.

Accounting policies for segments are the same as those described in Note 1. Segment performance is evaluated using consolidated net income.

	Years Ended December 31,				
(In Thousands)		2024		2023	2022
Interest income	\$	128,078	\$	113,504	\$ 92,647
Interest expense		48,963		33,104	9,519
Net interest income		79,115		80,400	 83,128
Provision for credit losses		2,195		186	7,255
Net interest income after provision for credit losses		76,920		80,214	75,873
Other income:					
Other income		29,209		27,453	24,412
Realized (losses) gains on available-for-sale debt securities, net		0		(3,036)	20
Total other income		29,209		24,417	24,432
Other Expense:					
Salaries and employee benefits		44,930		44,195	41,833
Other segment expenses (1)		29,328		29,953	26,122
Total noninterest expense		74,258	_	74,148	 67,955
Income before income tax provision		31,871		30,483	32,350
Income tax provision		5,913		6,335	 5,732
NET INCOME	\$	25,958	\$	24,148	\$ 26,618

(1) Other segment expenses included expenses for professional fees, data processing and telecommunicates, occupancy and Pennsylvania shares tax.

The Corporation's segment assets represent the total assets as presented on the Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2024 and 2023.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Shareholders and Board of Directors of Citizens & Northern Corporation Wellsboro, Pennsylvania

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Citizens & Northern Corporation (the "Corporation") as of December 31, 2024, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), stockholders' equity, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "financial statements"). We also have audited the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework: (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as of December 31, 2024, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also in our opinion, the Corporation maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework: (2013) issued by COSO.

Basis for Opinions

The Corporation's management is responsible for these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Corporation's financial statements and an opinion on the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Corporation in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company's internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.

Allowance for Credit Losses on Loans - Qualitative Factors

The allowance for credit losses (the "ACL") as described in Notes 1 and 7 is an accounting estimate of expected credit losses over the estimated life of loans. The Corporation's loan portfolio, measured at amortized cost, is presented at the net amount expected to be collected. Estimates of expected credit losses for loans are based on historical experience, current conditions and reasonable and supportable forecasts over the life of the loans.

The Corporation measures expected credit losses on pooled loans when similar risk characteristics exist using the weighted-average remaining maturity model, which includes an additional expected credit loss based on reasonable and supportable forecast. The Corporation adjusts its quantitative model for certain qualitative factors that are deemed likely to cause estimated credit losses to differ from the conditions that existed for the period over which historical information was evaluated.

Auditing the qualitative factors included in the allowance for credit losses on loans was identified by us as a critical audit matter because of the extent of auditor judgment and significant audit effort to evaluate the significant subjective and complex judgments made by management related to the determination of the qualitative factors used in the calculation.

The primary procedures performed to address the critical audit matter included:

- Testing the effectiveness of management's controls addressing the evaluation and reasonableness of the qualitative framework and its inclusion in the appropriateness of the overall calculation.
- Testing of the effectiveness of management's controls addressing the evaluation of the appropriateness of significant assumptions and judgements used in the determination of qualitative factors and the relevance and reliability of data used in the qualitative factors.
- Substantive testing of the appropriateness of the qualitative framework, including evaluation of the reasonableness of the significant assumptions and judgments applied in developing the qualitative factors as well as the relevance and reliability of data used in the qualitative factors.
- Substantive testing of the appropriateness of the calculation of qualitative factors.

/s/Crowe, LLP

We have served as the Corporation's auditor since 2024.

Columbus, Ohio March 6, 2025

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To Stockholders and Board of Directors of Citizens & Northern Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Citizens & Northern Corporation and subsidiaries (the "Corporation") as of December 31, 2023, and the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income (loss), changes in stockholders' equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements"). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Corporation as of December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Corporation's consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) ("PCAOB") and are required to be independent with respect to the Corporation in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits of the financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Baker Tilly US, LLP

We have served as the Corporation's auditor from 1979 to 2024.

Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania March 11, 2024,

Except for Note 21, as to which the date is March 6, 2025

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

EVALUATION OF DISCLOSURE CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

The Corporation's management, under the supervision of and with the participation of the Corporation's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has carried out an evaluation of the design and effectiveness of the Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and Rule 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Corporation's disclosure controls and procedures are effective to ensure that all material information required to be disclosed in reports the Corporation files or submits under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the time periods specified in the Securities and Exchange Commission's rules and forms.

MANAGEMENT'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Corporation's management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, as that term is defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f). The Corporation's system of internal control over financial reporting has been designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. The Corporation's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that: (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the Corporation's assets; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and that receipts and expenditures of the Corporation are being made only in accordance with authorizations of the Corporation's management and directors; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely detection and correction of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of the Corporation's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect and correct misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies and procedures may deteriorate.

There were no changes in the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15(d)-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2024, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting.

The Corporation's management assessed the effectiveness of the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024, based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework* (2013). Based on that assessment, we concluded that, as of December 31, 2024, the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on the criteria established in *Internal Control – Integrated Framework* (2013).

Crowe LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the Corporation's consolidated financial statements, has issued an audit report on the Corporation's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2024.

March 6, 2025	By: /s/ J. Bradley Scovill
Date	President and Chief Executive Officer
March 6, 2025	By: /s/ Mark A. Hughes
Date	Treasurer and Chief Financial Officer

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended December 31, 2024, no director or officer of the Corporation adopted or terminated a "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement", as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of Regulation S-K.

There was no information the Corporation was required to disclose in a report on Form 8-K during the fourth quarter 2024 that was not disclosed.

PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Information concerning Directors and Executive Officers is incorporated herein by reference to disclosure under the captions "Proposal 1 – Election of Directors," "Executive Officers," "Information Concerning Security Ownership" and "Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors" of the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 14, 2025 for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on April 24, 2025.

The Corporation's Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics, available on the Corporation's web site at www.cnbankpa.com for the Corporation's employees, officers and directors. (The provisions of the Code of Ethics are also included in the Corporation's employee handbook.)

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Information concerning executive compensation is incorporated herein by reference to disclosure under the captions "Compensation Discussion and Analysis" and "Executive Compensation Tables" of the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 14, 2025 for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on April 24, 2025.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

Information concerning security ownership of certain beneficial owners and management is incorporated herein by reference to disclosure under the caption "Beneficial Ownership of Executive Officers and Directors" of the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 14, 2025 for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on April 24, 2025.

"Equity Compensation Plan Information" as required by Item 201(d) of Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference herein from Item 5 (Market for Registrant's Common Equity and Related Stockholder Matters) of this Form 10-K.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

Information concerning loans and deposit balances with Directors and Executive Officers is provided in Note 14 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Additional information, including information concerning director independence, is incorporated herein by reference to disclosure appearing under the captions "Director Independence" and "Related Person Transactions and Policies" of the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 14, 2025 for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on April 24, 2025.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Information concerning services provided by the Corporation's independent auditor Crowe LLP, the audit committee's pre-approval policies and procedures for such services, and fees paid by the Corporation to that firm, is incorporated herein by reference to disclosure under the caption "Fees of Independent Public Accountants" of the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 14, 2025 for the annual meeting of stockholders to be held on April 24, 2025.

PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) (1). The following consolidated financial statements are set forth in Part II, Item 8:

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID Report of Predecessor Auditor (PCAOB ID: 23) Financial Statements: Consolidated Balance Sheets - December 31, 2024 and 2023 Consolidated Statements of Income - Years Ended December 31, 202 Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) - Years Ender Consolidated Statements of Changes in Stockholders' Equity - Years Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows - Years Ended December 31, Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements	4, 2023 and 2022 nded December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022 Ended December 31, 2024, 2023 and 2022	Page 91-92 93 40 41 42 43 44 45-90
(a) (2) Financial statement schedules are not applicable or included in	the financial statements or related notes.	
2. Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession	Not applicable	
3.1 Articles of Incorporation	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Corporation's Form 10-Q filed May 6, 2022	
3.2 By-laws	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the Co Form 8-K filed February 18, 2022	orporation's
4. Instruments defining the rights of securities holders, including Indentures:		
4.1 Indenture, dated May 19, 2021 between Citizens & Northern Corporation and UMB Bank, National Association, as trustee	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Corporation's Form 8-K filed May 19, 2021	
4.2 Form of Subordinated Note	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A-2 to Exhil the Corporation's Form 8-K filed May 19, 2021	bit 4.1 of
4.3 Form of Senior Note	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of the Corporation's Form 8-K filed May 19, 2021	
4.4 Description of registrant's securities	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.(vi) of the Corporation's Form 10-K filed February 20, 2020	
9. Voting trust agreement	Not applicable	
10. Material contracts:		
10.1 Form of Time-Based Restricted Stock agreement dated January 31, 2025 between the Corporation and Executive Officers pursuant to the Citizens & Northern Corporation 2023 Equity Incentive Plan	Filed herewith	

10.2 Form of Performance-Based Restricted Stock Agreement dated January 31, 2025 between the Corporation and Executive Officers pursuant to the Citizens & Northern Corporation 2023 Equity Incentive Plan

10.3 Restricted Stock Agreement dated July 30, 2024 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill

10.4 2025 Annual Performance Incentive Award Plan

10.5 2025 Annual Performance Incentive Award Plan - Mortgage Lenders

10.6 First Amendment to Deferred Compensation Agreement dated June 17, 2021

10.7 Deferred Compensation Agreement dated December 17, 2015

10.8 Amended and Restated Employment Agreement dated May 22, 2024 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill

10.9 Second Amendment to Employment Agreement dated August 24, 2018 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill

10.10 First Amendment to Employment Agreement dated June 26, 2017 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill

10.11 Employment agreement dated March 2, 2015 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill

10.12 Employment agreement dated September 19, 2013 between the Corporation and Mark A. Hughes

10.13 Employment agreement dated September 19, 2013 between the Corporation and Harold F. Hoose, III

10.14 Employment agreement dated December 18, 2019 between the Corporation and Blair T. Rush

10.15 Employment agreement dated April 6, 2021 between the Corporation and Alexander Balagour

10.16 Employment agreement dated February 1, 2023 between the Corporation and Kelley A. Cwiklinski

10.17 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated September 20, 2018 between the Corporation and J. Bradley Scovill Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Corporation's Form 8-K on July 31, 2024

Filed herewith

Filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 22, 2022

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 15, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on May 28, 2024

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on August 24, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on June 27, 2017

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on February 9, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on September 19, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on September 19, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on March 5, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 10-Q on August 6, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 10-Q on May 5, 2023

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 10-Q on November 1, 2018 10.18 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated January 9, 2018 between the Corporation and Tracy E. Watkins

10.19 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated February 11, 2015 between the Corporation and Stan R. Dunsmore

10.20 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated January 19, 2011 between the Corporation and John M. Reber

10.21 Form of Indemnification Agreements dated May 2004 between the Corporation and the Directors and certain officers

10.22 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated February 16, 2021 between the Corporation and Blair T. Rush

10.23 Change in Control Agreement dated January 9, 2018 between the Corporation and Tracy E. Watkins

10.24 Change in Control Agreement dated March 17, 2015 between the Corporation and Stan R. Dunsmore

10.25 Change in Control Agreement dated January 20, 2005 between the Corporation and John M. Reber

10.26 Change in Control Agreement dated December 31, 2003 between the Corporation and Thomas L. Rudy, Jr.

10.27 Fifth Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan

10.28 Fourth Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan and Annual Incentive Plan

10.29 Third Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan

10.30 Second Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan

10.31 First Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan

10.32 Citizens & Northern Corporation Stock Incentive Plan

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 15, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 26, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on March 1, 2011

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on March 14, 2005

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on March 5, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 15, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Corporation's Form 10-Q on May 8, 2015

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18 filed with Corporation's Form 10-K on February 18, 2016

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-K on March 14, 2005

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with Form 8-K on December 21, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on September 19, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 18, 2008 for the annual meeting of stockholders held on April 15, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-K on March 10, 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-K on March 10, 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-K on March 10, 2004

10.33 Second Amendment to Citizens & Northern Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan

10.34 First Amendment to Citizens & Northern Corporation Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan

10.35 Citizens & Northern Corporation Independent Directors Stock Incentive Plan

10.36 Citizens & Northern Corporation 2023 Equity Incentive Plan

10.37 Citizens & Northern Corporation Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (as amended and restated)

10.38 Form of Indemnification Agreements dated May 24, 2018 between the Corporation and Directors Bobbi J. Kilmer, Terry L. Lehman, Frank G. Pellegrino and Aaron K. Singer

10.39 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated July 16, 2020 between the Corporation and Stephen M. Dorwart

10.40 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated July 16, 2020 between the Corporation and Robert G. Loughery

10.41 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated April 27, 2021 between the Corporation and Helen S. Santiago

10.42 Form of Indemnification Agreement dated July 12, 2021 between the Corporation and Kate Shattuck

11. Statement re: computation of per share earnings

12. Statements re: computation of ratios

13. Annual report to security holders, Form 10-Q or quarterly report to security holders

14. Code of ethics

16. Letter re: change in certifying accountant

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with Form 8-K on December 21, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B to the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 18, 2008 for the annual meeting of stockholders held on April 15, 2008

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 19, 2001 for the annual meeting of stockholders held on April 17, 2001.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit A to the Corporation's proxy statement dated March 10, 2023 for the annual meeting of stockholders held on April 20, 2023

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-K on March 6, 2009

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-Q filed August 6, 2018

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-Q on August 6, 2020

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-Q on August 6, 2020

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-Q on August 6, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 filed with the Corporation's Form 10-Q on November 8, 2021

Information concerning the computation of earnings per share is provided in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements, which is included in Part II, Item 8 of Form 10-K

Not applicable

Not applicable

The Code of Ethics is available through the Corporation's website at www.cnbankpa.com. To access the Code of Ethics, click on "About," "Investor Relations," "Corporate Governance Policies," and "Code of Ethics."

Not applicable

18. Letter re: change in accounting principles	Not applicable
19. Citizens & Northern Corporation Insider Trading Policy	Filed herewith
21. Subsidiaries of the registrant	Filed herewith
22. Published report regarding matters submitted to vote of security holders	Not applicable
23.1 Consent of Crowe LLP	Filed herewith
23.2 Consent of Baker Tilly US, LLP	Filed herewith
24. Power of attorney	Not applicable
31. Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) certifications:31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer	Filed herewith
31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer	Filed herewith
32. Section 1350 certifications	Filed herewith
33. Report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities	Not applicable
34. Attestation report on assessment of compliance with servicing criteria for asset-backed securities	Not applicable
35. Service compliance statement	Not applicable
97 Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy	Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 filed with Corporation's Form 8-K on September 19, 2013
99. Additional exhibits	Not applicable
101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document.	Filed herewith
101.SCH Inline XBRL Schema Document.	Filed herewith
101.CAL Inline XBRL Calculation Linkbase Document.	Filed herewith
101.DEF Inline XBRL Definition Linkbase Document.	Filed herewith
101.LAB Inline XBRL Label Linkbase Document.	Filed herewith
101.PRE Inline XBRL Presentation Linkbase Document.	Filed herewith
104. Cover Page Interactive Data File (Formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)	Filed herewith

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities indicated.

By: /s/ J. Bradley Scovill President and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 6, 2025

By: /s/ Mark A. Hughes Treasurer and Principal Accounting Officer

Date: March 6, 2025

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

/s/ Stephen M. Dorwart	/s/ Frank G. Pellegrino
Stephen M. Dorwart	Frank G. Pellegrino
Date: March 6, 2025	Date: March 6, 2025
/s/ <u>Robert G. Loughery</u>	/s/ Helen S. Santiago
Robert G. Loughery	Helen S. Santiago
Date: March 6, 2025	Date: March 6, 2025
/s/ Susan E. Hartley	/s/ J. Bradley Scovill
Susan E. Hartley	J. Bradley Scovill
Date: March 6, 2025	Date: March 6, 2025
/s/ Bobbi J. Kilmer	/s/ Kate Shattuck
Bobbi J. Kilmer	Kate Shattuck
Date: March 6, 2025	Date: March 6, 2025
/s/ Leo F. Lambert	/s/ <u>Aaron K. Singer</u>
Leo F. Lambert	Aaron K. Singer
Date: March 6, 2025	Date: March 6, 2025

/s/ <u>Terry L. Lehman</u> Terry L. Lehman

Date: March 6, 2025

[This Page Intentionally Left Blank]